

Basic HPLC Training Program

Waters Innovative Approact: of earning through Interactive Television

"Introduction to HPLC" is an interactive self-study training program defining high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) technology. Comprised of six videocassettes, an experiment kit and an extensive workbook, this program is designed to educate viewers first-hand in the practices and principles involved in HPLC. The integration of hands-on experience with subject matter forms an "interactive", costeffective program providing quality education and convenience surpassing all other programs presently available

Here's why:

- Interactive Participation
- · Quality Instruction on Demand
- · Convenient for any HPLC User



Learning Through Interactive Television: the most cost-effective, time-efficient presentation of basic HPLC practices and principles ever produced.

"Introduction to HPLC" explains HPLC technology clearly and concisely in a per sonal one-on-one approach. The basics of HPLC are presented via a logical easy to-understand sequence of videotape sessions, and the experiments kit and workbook are used interactively with the program to reinforce subject matter and build upon knowledge previously learned. "Introduction to HPLC" Interactive Video Program affords key training personnel minimum involvement, a flexible training schedule, and the ability to tailor the program to an individual's or group's learning rate. Recommended by industrial training managers and university chemistry professors, this program may be viewed at any time by any numbe of people repeatedly, with the same high instructional quality.

This building-block approach coupled with interactive participation and inherent flexibility creates the highest quality, most cost-effective, time-efficient orientation to HPLC ever produced.

Call or write Waters today for a free brochure on the "Introduction to HPLC" Interactive Video Program; or circle reader service card no. 112.



Waters, The Liquid Chromatography People® 34 Maple Street • Milford, MA 01757 • (617) 478-2000 • Telex: 94-8413

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

Editor: DR. JACK CAZES

Editorial Secretary: ELEANOR CAZES

P. O. Box 1440-SMS Fairfield, Connecticut 06430

Editorial Board

E. W. ALBAUGH, Gulf Research and Development Company, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania K. ALTGELT, Chevron Research Company, Richmond, California A. ASZALOS, U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Washington, D. C. H. BENOIT, Centre des Recherches sur les Macromolecules, Strasbourg, France W. BERTSCH, University of Alabama, University, Alabama B. BIDLINGMEYER, Waters Associates, Inc., Milford, Massachusetts P. R. BROWN, University of Rhode Island, Kingston, Rhode Island J. A. CAMERON, University of Connecticut, Storrs, Connecticut J. V. DAWKINS, Loughborough University of Technology, Loughborough, England J. E. FIGUERUELO, University of Valencia, Burjasot, Spain D. H. FREEMAN, University of Maryland, College Park, Maryland R. W. FREI, The Free University, Amsterdam, The Netherlands J. C. GIDDINGS, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah R. L. GROB, Villanova University, Villanova, Pennsylvania E. GRUSHKA, The Hebrew University, Jerusalem, Israel G. GUIOCHON, Ecole Polytechnique, Palaiseau, France M. GURKIN, E-M Science, Inc., Gibbstown, New Jersey A. E. HAMIELEC, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada S. HARA, Tokyo College of Pharmacy, Tokyo, Japan D. J. HARMON, B. F. Goodrich Research Center, Brecksville, Ohio G. L. HAWK, Zymark Corporation, Hopkinton, Massachusetts M. T. W. HEARN, St. Vincent's School of Medical Research, Victoria, Australia E. HEFTMANN, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Berkeley, California A. HEYRAUD, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France P. Y. HOWARD, Micromeritics Instrument Corp., Norcross, Georgia H. J. ISSAQ, Frederick Cancer Research Facility, Frederick, Maryland J. JANCA, Institute of Analytical Chemistry, Brno, Czechoslovakia J. F. JOHNSON, Institute of Materials Science - U. Conn., Storrs, Connecticut B. L. KARGER, Northeastern University, Boston, Massachusetts P. T. KISSINGER, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana J. KNOX, The University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, Scotland J. C. KRAAK, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands J. LESEC, Ecole Superieure de Physique et de Chemie, Paris, France B. MONRABAL, Dow Chemical Iberica, S. A., Tarragona, Spain S. MORI, Mie University, Tsu, Mie. Japan J. A. NELSON, M. D. Anderson Hospital and Tumor Institute, Houston, Texas L. PAPAZIAN, American Cyanamid Corporation, Stamford, Connecticut V. PRETORIUS, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa

QIAN RENYUAN, Institute of Chemistry, Beijing, People's Republic of China

(continued)

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

Editorial Board continued

C. QUIVORON, Ecole Superieure de Physique et de Chemie, Paris, France

F. M. RABEL, Whatman, Inc., Clifton, New Jersey

J. RIVIER, The Salk Institute, San Diego, California

C. G. SCOTT, Hoffman-LaRoche, Inc., Nutley, New Jersey

R. P. W. SCOTT, Perkin-Elmer Corporation, Norwalk, Connecticut

H. SMALL, Dow Chemical Company, Midland, Michigan

E. SOCZIEWINSKI, Medical Academy, Lubin, Poland

B. STENLUND, Abo Akademi, Abo, Finland

J. C. TOUCHSTONE, Hospital of University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

Aims and Scope. The journal publishes papers involving the application of liquid chromatography to the solution of problems in all areas of science and technology, both analytical and preparative, as well as papers that deal specifically with liquid chromatography as a science within itself. Included will be a thin-layer chromatography and all modes of liquid chromatography.

Indexing and Abstracting Services. Articles published in *Journal of Liquid Chromatography* are selectively indexed or abstracted in:

- Analytical Abstracts
- BioSciences Information Service of Biological Abstracts (BIOSIS)
- Chemical Abstracts
- Current Contents/Life Sciences
- Current Contents/Physical and Chemical Sciences
- Engineering Index
- Excerpta Medica
- Journal of Abstracts of the All-Union Institute of Scientific and Technical Information of the USSR
- Physikalische Berichte
- Science Citation Index

Manuscript Preparation and Submission. See the last page of this issue.

Subscription Information. Journal of Liquid Chromatography is published in twelve numbers and two supplements per volume by Marcel Dekker, Inc., 270 Madison Avenue, New York, New York 10016. The subscription rate for Volume 5 (1982), containing twelve numbers and two supplements, is \$236.00 per volume (prepaid). The special discounted rate for individual professionals and students is \$118.00* per volume. To secure this special rate, your order must be prepaid by personal check or may be charged to MasterCard or VISA. Add \$29.40 for surface postage outside the United States. For airmail, add \$49.70.

Mailing address. Please mail payment with order to: Marcel Dekker Journals, P. O. Box 11305, Church Street Station, New York, New York 10249.

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc. All rights reserved. Neither this work nor any part may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, microfilming, and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system without permission in writing from the publisher. Printed in the United States of America.

Contributions to this journal are published free of charge.

*THIS REFLECTS A 50% DISCOUNT GIVEN TO INDIVIDUAL SUBSCRIBERS.



Analytichem introduces off-line Chromatographic Mode Sequencing

Now there is a simple new bench technique that provides more efficient chemical isolation than any technology available today. In a fraction of the time. And at a fraction of the cost. It's called Chromatographic Mode Sequencing. The technique has been developed by Analytichem International for use with Bond Elut solid phase extraction columns.

Chromatographic Mode Sequencing (CMS) is a simple offline procedure that yields remarkably selective results. CMS allows the chemist to manipulate the interaction of various mobile and stationary phases to produce an almost limitless number of interactive modes. The result is that CMS, using Bond Elut, can solve virtually any chemical isolation problem. Yet it is disarmingly simple to perform.

The selectivity of this new technique is unsurpassed even by the most sophisticated column

switching procedures. And the simplicity of CMS means you can process a far greater volume of samples than with any other method available. CMS makes a totally new dimension in chemical isolation possible. And Bond Elut makes CMS possible. To learn how CMS can simplify your chemical isolation problems, call Analytichem today.



Analytichem International 24201 Frampton Ave Harbor City CA 90710, USA (800) 421 2825. In California (213) 539-6490 Telex 664832 ANACHEM HRBO

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

Volume 5, Number 12, 1982

CONTENTS

Measurement of the Dead Volume between Concurrent Detectors in Gel Permeation Chromatography
Molecular Weight Distributions and Monodisperse Intrinsic Viscosity- Molecular Weight Equation of Silicone Elastomer
Characterization of Copolymers and Polymer Mixtures by Gel Permeation Chromatography
HPSEC of Cationic Polymers on a Polyamine Support
Utilization of Weak Acid-Base Interactions to Improve Separations inNormal Phase Liquid Preparative Chromatography.M. Zief, L. J. Crane, and J. Horvath
The Effect of Silanol Masking on the Recovery of Picloram and Other Solutes from a Hydrocarbonaceous Pre-analysis Extraction Column 2293 <i>M. J. M. Wells</i>
Preparation and Purification of Tritiated Dextromethorphan
Evaluation of the Use of Lithium Nitrate as a Test Substance for the Determination of the Hold-Up Time of a Reversed-Phase Packing 2321 O. A. G. J. van der Houwen, J. A. A. van der Linden, and A. W. M. Indemans
High Resolution Separation of Urinary Organic Acids by High Perfor- mance Liquid Chromatography
Separation of Bacterial Menaquinones by HPLC Using Reverse Phase (RP18) and a Silver Loaded Ion Exchanger as Stationary Phases
Quantitative HPLC Analysis of Plasma Amino Acids as Ortho- phthaldialdehyde/Ethanethiol Derivatives2369D. Hill, L. Burnworth, W. Skea, and R. Pfeifer

A Comparison of Radially-Compressed and Stainless Steel Columns for the Reversed-Phase Ion-Pair Separation of Phencyclidine Synthetic
Mixtures
R. W. Beaver, L. A. Jones, and C. J. Long II
Analysis of Cimetidine in Biological Fluids by High Performance Liquid Chromatography 2413 J. A. Apffel, U. A. Th. Brinkman, and R. W. Frei
Liquid Chromatographic Analysis of Tryptophan and Serotonin Metabolites. Comparison of UV, Electrochemical and Spectrofluori- metric Detection
Simultaneous Determination of Dopamine, Norepinephrine, Tyramine and Octopamine by Reverse-Phase High Performance Liquid Chroma- tography with Electrochemical Detection
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar
Author Index to Volume 5
Subject Index to Volume 5
Collective Contents to Volume 5



LCEC is turning over a new leaf

Since 1974 when BAS developed the first commercial electrochemical detector we have been successful in introducing the LCEC technique to laboratories worldwide. Our first efforts took root and blossomed into a family of detectors. BAS is proud to announce the latest additions to our family tree: the LC3A/17 and the Dual LC4B/17.

With the dual electrode detector it is possible to enhance selectivity, detection limits, speed, and gradient compatibility in ways never before possible. BAS is the only company to offer both series and parallel amperometry at two potentials. Call or write today for details. We'll be pleased to show you how BAS can assist with your trace analysis problem.

bas bioanalytical systems

1205 Kent Avenue, West Lafayette, IN 47906 (317) 463-2505 TLX 276141



Gilson: the new name in quality HPLC



HPLC on SynChropak[®] large pore supports

AX300 CM300 RPP anion exchange cation exchange reversed phase

Steric Exclusion on SynChropak[®] columns

GPC series neutral & anionic polymers

CATSEC series catonic polymers

rom, Inc. P.O. Box 110 Linden, Indiana 47955 Phone (317) 339-4668

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2227-2239 (1982)

MEASUREMENT OF THE DEAD VOLUME BETWEEN CONCURRENT DETECTORS IN GEL PERMEATION CHROMATOGRAPHY

D. Lecacheux and J. Lesec

Laboratoire de Physico-Chimie des Polymères (C.N.R.S.-L.A. 278) Université Pierre et Marie Curie (Paris VI) E.S.P.C.I. - 10, rue Vauquelin - 75231 Paris Cedex 05 - France

ABSTRACT

Multiple detection of gel permeation chromatography effluent is going to become a routine way of polymer characterization in most laboratories. It is then necessary to give attention to the dead volume connecting the cells of concurrent detectors. If neglected, considerable errors may occur in data handling.

We report, in this paper, a method of dead volume measurement. It firstly concerns the coupling of a high pressure gel permeation chromatograph and the "Ouano"-type continuous viscometer, but its general utility is demonstrated. The main conclusion is that the geometric estimate of the dead volume is not suitable, even when an accurate calculation is possible. The method we describe here leads to an experimental dead volume. It is greater than the geometric one (as theoretically proved recently) but it gives the best results.

INTRODUCTION

With the increasing use of Gel Permeation Chromatography (GPC) as a characterization tool for complex polymeric samples, a fast development in dual detection techniques for the effluent is observed. Indeed, it has been known for a long time, except for linear homopolymers, that the size exclusion mechanism does not lead to the separation of macromolecules according to their

2227

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

molecular weights. As a result, the response of a single concentration detector is often inadequate to give reliable average molecular weights. For the analysis of copolymers with variable composition, the differential refractometer (DRI)-UV detector coupling is particularly used (see the review of Janca (1)). On another hand, the Benoit's universal parameter [n].M as a calibration concept (2) requires the fitting of GPC with a molecular size detection, i.e. viscometry (3-4) or light scattering (5-6). But till now, the two detections have never been performed in a single cell. Consequently, accurate data treatment requires the knowledge of the connecting dead volume, ΔV , between detectors so that any pair of experimental points really corresponds to the same species.

From the study of Bruessau (7), the geometric determination of the ΔV value leads to unsatisfactory results, because changes occur in the peak shape during transfer form one cell to the other. That is why this author recommends a method which is suitable to the particular case of two concentration detectors (DRI and UV for instance). According to Cantow (8), the analysis of homopolymers under such conditions gives two similar chromatograms, one of them has to be shifted till their ratio is a straight line parallel to the abscissa. The resulting ΔV value is valid for further calculations. Nevertheless, this method is presented as invalid in a concentration detector-molecular size detector coupling since there is no specific case where the two responses are proportional.

In the laboratory, we have been dealing for a few years (9) with the coupling of a high pressure GPC and an "Ouano"-type continuous viscometer (10). Such a system enables one to rapidly characterize various macromolecular samples (11), even at high temperatures, as recently proved (12). But, the accuracy of the results (especially the viscosity laws) is dependent on the ΔV value. For this reason, we have improved the above described method of ΔV measurement for the concentration detector-molecular size detector coupling.

2228

EXPERIMENTAL

The continuous viscometric detector is an application of the Poiseuille's law. Its principle has been previously described (10-11). Assuming laminar flow through a capillary tube, we can employ the following relationship :

$$P = \frac{8}{\pi} \cdot \frac{1}{r^4} \cdot Q \cdot \eta$$

with - P : pressure drop of the fluid - Q : flow rate -1,r : length and radius of the capillary tube - n : absolute viscosity.

Accordingly, the continuous pressure drop measurement (besides the concentration, C, detection) enables the determination of the intrinsic viscosity $[\eta]$ along with the elution volume (for very low C values) :

$$[\eta] = \frac{1}{C} \ln \frac{P}{P_{O}}$$

where subscrip, o, refers to pure solvent.

A scheme of the apparatus is given in Figure 1. A stainless steel capillary tube is inserted between the column set and the refractometer (Waters R 401). Two pressure transducers CMAC 5 (Sedeme, 11, rue Simonet - F-75013 PARIS), performing the differential measurement of the pressure drop, are connected by "T" fittings into the system. If it is necessary to select the viscometer length over a wide range, it is important to recognize that the inner diameter of the commercially available 9/1,000-inch capillary fluctuates greatly. By measuring the pressure drops through several capillaries with equal lengths, we observed



Figure 1 : Scheme of the apparatus.

large discrepancies, the ratio between the extremes being about
3. Poiseuille's law leads to the following range :

0.10 < r < 0.14 mm

Thus, the continuous viscosmeter is required for a precise measurement of the capillary radius. If not, errors in the geometric determination of dead volumes may be as large as 100%.

For our purpose, we have chosen a capillary with r = 0.135 mm and l = 3m. The difference between the coupling of two detectors with cells of negligible volume (I) and the particular case of DRI-continuous viscometer (II) is shown in Figure 2. For the latter, the ΔV value is the sum of two terms : the dead volume of connecting capillaries and half the volume of the viscometer itself. From the Poiseuille's law, we deduced the geometric estimate :

 $\Delta V_{\rm G} \simeq 0.15 \, {\rm ml}$



Figure 2 : Difference between the coupling of two detectors with cells of negligible volume (1) and the DRI-continuous viscometer coupling (2).

Routinely, experiments were run under the following conditions :

Solvent : THF ; Flow rate : lm1/mn ; Temperature : 30°C. Column set : 4 μ styragel 10³, 10⁴, 10⁵ and 10⁶ Å

The apparatus was equipped with a system of automatic recording, data treatment and graphic output (12) whose performances are demonstrated in Figure 3, 4 and 5 with a polyurethane sample. After smoothing of the chromatograms (Figure 3), the viscosity law was deduced from universal calibration (Figure 4) as well as the molecular weight distribution shown in Figure 5. In this case, we obtained :

 $\overline{M}n = 37,000$ $\overline{M}w = 58,000$ [n] = 109 ml/g $\alpha = 0.68 (Mark-Houwink exponent)$



Figure 3 : Polyurethane sample : refractometric and viscometric responses.



Figure 4 : The experimental Mark-Houwink relationship.



Figure 5 : The molecular weight distribution.

The above mentioned values are linked to a certain ΔV . But before describing the method which provides this ΔV value, we will demonstrate, using a simple model, that a good accuracy is required.

DISCUSSION

From a theoretical viewpoint, we will assume, a column set with a linear calibration curve of molecular weight, M, versus the elution volume, V :

 $\ln M = a - bV$

Let us consider a macromolecular sample with a molecular weight distribution of the Wesslau type :

w (ln M) =
$$\frac{1}{\beta \sqrt{\pi}} \exp \left(-\frac{1}{\beta^2} \ln^2 \frac{M}{M_p}\right)$$

 $M_{\rm p}$ is the peak molecular weight with peak elution volume V $_{\rm p}$ and β is a function of polydispersity I :

$$\beta^2 = 2 \ln I$$

The viscosity law for this sample is : [\eta] = KM^{Cl}

Using the following notations :

C(V) concentration chromatogram

S(V) pressure drop chromatogram (S = P - P_o)

we obtain, after a few steps :

$$C(V) = Cm \cdot exp \left(-\frac{b^2}{\beta^2} (V - V_p)^2\right)$$

$$S(V) = Sm \cdot exp \left(-\frac{b^2}{\beta^2} (V - (V_p - \frac{\alpha \ln I}{b}))^2\right)$$

where Cm and Sm are the respective apexes of the two chromatograms. It appears, when the concentration chromatogram has a gaussian shape, that the pressure chromatogram has also a gaussian equation. The standard deviation is the same but the peak apex of the pressure drop curve is shifted towards lower elution volumes :

$$V'_{p} = V_{p} - \frac{\alpha \ln I}{b}$$

(even if the two detections are performed in a single cell). Under routine conditions ($\alpha = 0.7$ and $b \approx 0.4$), we obtain :

$$V_p - V'_p \simeq 1.75 \ln I$$

and, for instance $V_p - V'_p \approx 1.2$ ml for I = 2.

The above mentioned example for polyurethane is not very far from the Wesslau distribution and we can observe in Figure 3 that the experimental shift is in satisfactory agreement with the theoretical one.

It is, therefore, easy to predict the consequences of a bad estimate of ΔV : it leads to a wrong value of the expression $\frac{\alpha \ln I}{b}$. If ΔV is underestimated (as when neglected), α will be too high, and vice versa. In addition, the smaller the polydispersity index, the more important the errors become.

Such results can be experimentally confirmed with the assistance of a computer. By varying the ΔV value in the calculations, we obtained, for the polyurethane sample :

 $-\Delta V = 0 \qquad : \alpha \simeq 0.8$ - $\Delta V \qquad correct : \alpha \simeq 0.7$ - $\Delta V \propto 2 \qquad : \alpha \simeq 0.6$

with the subsequent errors in the average molecular weights. Consequently, it is very important to use a reliable method of ΔV measurement.

DESCRIPTION OF THE METHOD

The method we describe is based on Cantow's method (7), but modified because of the nature of specific responses of molecular size detectors. Their responses, indeed, are not proportional to the concentration but are proportional either to C.[n] (viscometer) or C.M. (LALLS). The only way to consider them as concentration detectors is to avoid the size exclusion mechanism so as to obtain two similar signals. In our particular case (DRI-viscometer coupling), the first trials were performed by injecting a polymeric sample after removing the columns. But this method is not suitable, since polymer elution is too fast and the chromatograms are very distorted. It is therefore necessary to keep a column set in the system, but one has to select low porosity



Figure 6 : Underestimated shift volume. After linear regression, [ŋ](V) exhibits a negative slope.

packings so that a high molecular weight polymer is totally excluded and axial dispersion is the only factor responsible for spreading area. Measurements were performed under the following experimental conditions :

- Column set : 2 μ styragel (100 Å and 500 Å)
- Solvent : THF ; Flow rate : Jml/mn ; Temperature : 30°C
- Sample : polystyrene standard $\overline{M}w \simeq 10^6$ (I < 1.1)
- Injected volume : 100µl ; Concentration 0.5%

In order to precisely measure the dead volume in our system, about twenty injections were made. All parameters were kept constant, except the shift volume (converted in terms of delay



Figure 7 : The experimental shift volume is the abscissa of the intercept.

time in the automatic dual data acquisition system) which was gradually increased in the range of the geometric estimate. In each case, we plotted the apparent intrinsic viscosity $[n_1](V) = \frac{1}{C} ln_{P_0}^P$ (with the already mentioned notations) versus the elution volume (see Figure 6 as an example). The slope is calculated in arbitrary units using a linear regression method. The experimental ΔV value (ΔV_E) is defined by the zero slope : [n](V) is constant and equal to the true intrinsic viscosity [n]. The slope measurement is relatively imprecise but a linear regression on slopes versus shift volume (shown in Figure 7) enabled us to reduce the uncertainty to a few percent. It leads to :

 $\Delta V_{\rm E} = 0.18 \, {\rm ml}$

This value, greater than the geometric one $(\Delta V_G = 0.15 \text{ ml})$, confirms the recent result of Bruessau (7). In addition, we compared these two values as delay time for the dual data acquisition in the case of routine experiments. The use of ΔV_E leads to correct viscometric results, when ΔV_G gives Mark-Houwink exponents α systematically overestimated. Both these reasons bring us to recommend the use of this method in preference to the geometric estimate.

CONCLUSION

The results presented in this paper clearly indicate that the shift volume between the detectors in DRI-viscometer coupling has to be carefully taken into account in the treatment of GPC data. Model simulation as well as experimental evidence confirm the need for good accuracy. Therefore, we developed an easy method of dead volume measurement, which can be used for any kind of GPC dual detection, but is especially adapted to a molecular size detector (viscometer, LALLS) coupling. The resulting value appears to lead to satisfactory results in our system. Moreover, it is in good agreement with a recent theoretical model which shows that the geometrical estimate is systematically smaller than the value to be used in the data acquisition, probably due to change in the peak shape during transfer between the two detectors.

REFERENCES

- 1. Janca, J., J. Liq. Chromatogr., 4 (suppl. 1), 1 (1981).
- Grubisic, Z., Rempp, P. and Benoit, H., J. Polym. Sci., Part B, 5, 753 (1967).
- 3. Goedhart, D. and Opschoor, A., J. Polym. Sci., Part A-2, 8, 1227 (1970).
- 4. Constantin, D., Eur. Polym. J., 13, 907 (1977).
- 5. Millaud, B. and Strazielle, C., Makromol. Chem., 180, 441 (1979).
- Jenkins, R. and Porter, R.S., J. Polym. Sci., Polym. Lett. Ed., 18, 743 (1980).

- 7. Bruessau, R., in Liquid Chromatography of Polymers and Related Materials - II, J. Cazes, ed., Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 1980, pp. 73-93.
- 8. Cantow, H.J., cited in 7.
- 9. Lesec, J. and Quivoron, C., Analusis, 4, 456 (1976).
- 10. Ouano, A.C., J. Polym. Sci., Part A-1, 10, 2169 (1972) 11. Letot, L., Lesec, J. and Quivoron, C., J. Liq. Chromatogr., 3, 427 (1980).
- 12. Lecacheux, D., Lesec, J. and Quivoron, C., to be published.

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2241-2251 (1982)

MOLECULAR WEIGHT DISTRIBUTIONS AND MONODISPERSE INTRINSIC VISCOSITY-MOLECULAR WEIGHT EQUATION OF SILICONE ELASTOMER*

Lu-Zai-Min Research Institute Jilin Chemical Industry Corporation Jilin City, Jilin, People's Republic of China

ABSTRACT

The experimental curves of Gel Permeation Chromatography of methyl vinylsiLicone elastomer polymerized by a basic catalyst and containing a small amount vinyl groups are given.

They are in consistent with the theoretical curves calculted from logarithmic-normal distribution function. Thereby, the molecular weight distribution of the samples determined belong to the logarithmic-mormal distribution. With GPC, $[\eta]$ and $\langle M \rangle_n$ of the

polydispersed sample the momodispersed $[\eta]$ - M relationship of the methyl vinyl silicome elastomer was

established. This relation agrees with the momodispersed $[\gamma]$ - M relation established by Qian **R**em-yuan, et al. (1)

Presented at the GPC Symposium, Chinese Chemical Soc., Guilin, People's Republic of China, June 2-6,1981. 2241

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

INTRODUCTION

The Mark-Houwink equation of the intrinsic viscosity-molecular weight relationship of high polymer solution shows,

$$[7] = K M^{\alpha}$$
(1)

The molecular weight obtaimed only from the parameter K and α in the momodispersed equation for the $[\eta]$ value of a polydispersed sample is im accordance with the viscosity average molecular weight of which the definition is well-known.

$$\langle \mathbb{M} \rangle_{\eta} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{W}_{i} \mathbb{M}_{i}^{a} \right)^{1/a}$$
(2)

In determining the parameter in the equation, monodispersed samples are necessary. But they are difficult to obtain, even with careful fractionation of a polydispersed sample. Therefore, a correction of dispersed effect must be made on the equation obtained experimentally. (2,3,4)

The relation between intrinsic viscosity $[\eta]$ and average molecular weight, $\langle \mathbb{M} \rangle_{\mathbb{N}}$ or $\langle \mathbb{M} \rangle_{\mathbb{N}}$, for a

polydispersed sample is:

$\langle [\eta] \rangle$	=	K _w	<м>"	=	q _w	K	$\langle M \rangle_w^{\alpha}$	(3)
<[7]>	=	ĸ	$\langle M \rangle_n^{\alpha}$	=	q m	K	$\langle M \rangle_m^{\alpha}$	(4)

or

Where q and q are the correction factors polydispersed. They are related with types of distribution of the sample and the distribution breadth.(2,3,4) Therefore, to obtain monodispersed Mark-Houwink equation, a definite knowledge of the molecular weight distribution of the sample must be known. Qian men-yuan et al.⁽¹⁾ established monodispersed

Qian nen-yuan et al. (7) established monodispersed [7] - M relationship of polydimethylsiloxane after determining the distribution of sedimentation coefficients, $\langle M \rangle_{w}$, $[7]_{o}$ and $[7]_{toluene}$.

However, the molecules of the commercial silicone elastomer contain a small amount of vinyl groups. In order to study their influence on the $[\gamma]$ - M relationship, we determined the molecular weight

MOLECULAR WEIGHT OF SILICONE ELASTOMER

distribution of some polydispersed samples of polymethyl vinyl siloxane by Gel Permeation Chromatograph, as well as the number-average molecular weights and imtrinsic viscosities in toluene solution for each sample. The monodispersed equation of polymethyl vinyl siloxane is so obtained. It agrees with the monodispersed equation of polydimethylsiloxane proposed. by Wian Ken-yuen et al. Thus, the existence of a small amount of vinyl groups has no povious influence on the solution properties of polysiloxane.

EXPERIMENTAL

SAMPLES

The silicone elastomer samples used are non-fractionated polydispersed samples from our laboratory. They were obtained by polymerizing the dimethylcyclosiloxane containing a small amount of cyclic vinyl siloxane at the presence basic catalyst.

VISCOMETRY

The intrinsic viscosity of the polydimethyl vinyl siloxane was determimed in toluene at 25 $^{\rm O}C$ by uppelonde dilution viscometer.

OSMOTIC PRESSURE

The number-average molecular weight of the polymethyl vinyl siloxame was determined in toluene at 27 $^{\rm O}{\rm C}$ with ANAUER membrane osmometer.

GEL PERMEATION CHROMATOGRAPH

The determination of Gel Permeation Chromatograph was accomplished in an equipment with the column length 2.5m, interal diameter 9 mm, syphon volume 3.0 ml and porous silica beads of 120 - 140 mesh as the packing (treated with hexamethyldilazane). Whole elution volume of the column was 130 ml. Eluted solvent was toluene. Operated at room temperature with a flow rate of 0.7 ml / min. The concentration of the injected samples of polystyrene and polymethyl vinyl siloxane were 1 mg / ml and 4 mg / ml respectively. Injected volume was 1 ml. The concentra2244

tions of the eluted solution were determined by the turbidity mothed.

The column was caliorated with a series of narrowly distributed polystyrene samples. The viscosity equation of the polystyrene is

 $[\mathcal{7}] = 1.1 \times 10^{-4} M^{0.73}$ (5) The universal calibration relation of the column is obtained:

 $\log J = \log [7] \text{ M}$ $\log J = 13.08 - 0.079 \text{ V}$ (6)

The universal calibration curves is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Universal calibration curve

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The GPC curves of all the samples are snown in Figure 2. According to the following equation,

$$\overline{\mathbf{V}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{Y}_{i} \quad \mathbf{V}_{i}$$
$$\mathbf{O}^{\mathbf{2}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{Y}_{i} \quad (\mathbf{V} - \overline{\mathbf{V}})^{\mathbf{2}}$$



Figure 2.

Table 1.

sample	₹ (ml)	σ^{2}	[7] (dl/g)	(M) _B X 10 ⁻² (CF)	(M) _w /(M) _m
1	99.51	91.53	0.84	1:4.7	2.80
2	97.17	90.83	1.03	20.0	2.72
3	94.85	112.20	1.17	22.5	3.43
4	94.95	102.65	1.24	25.4	3.10
5	93.60	107.32	1.39	30.0	3.18
6	91.83	82.70	1.60	39.2	2.48
				average	2.95
7	107.86	50.74	0.42	8.7	1.89
8	105.71	54.13	0.45	9.2	1.84
9	102.60	59.56	0.58	13.2	1.95
10**	90.93	99.43	1.17	34.8	1.81
11**	89.52	82.04	1.24	42.2	1.03
				average	1.82

 $\overline{\mathbb{V}}$, \mathcal{O}^2 , $[\mathcal{T}]$, $\langle \mathbb{M}
angle_{\mathfrak{m}}$, $\langle \mathbb{M}
angle_{\mathfrak{w}}$ / $\langle \mathbb{M}
angle_{\mathfrak{m}}$ of the samples

: The data for 10 and 11** were determined by another column with the universal calibration equation as $\log J = 11.06 - 0.058$ V

and from our experimental curves, calculted the mean elution volume \overline{V} and standard deviation σ^2 as shown in Table 1. In the equation, W_i and V_i are the weight fraction and elution volume of each individual frection.[7] and $\langle M \rangle_n$ of each sample obtained from the viscosity and osmotic pressure measurements are also listed in Table 1.

Log[7] values were plotted against $log \langle M \rangle_n$ for each sample in Figure 3.

Line a in Figure 3 is for the samples 1 to 6, and line **b** for the samples 7 to 11. $\alpha = 0.70$ and $K_m = 2.0 \times 10^{-4}$ are taken from the slope and the intercept of the line a, $\alpha = 0.70$ and $K_m = 1.51 \times 10^{-4}$ from the slope and intercept of the line **b**.



In determining the average molecular weight of polymers by GPC, the principle of the universal calibration may be used, i.e.

$$\left\langle \mathbf{M} \right\rangle_{\mathbf{W}} = \mathbf{K}^{-\frac{1}{1+\alpha}} \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{W}_{i} J_{i}^{-\frac{1}{1+\alpha}}$$
(7)
$$\left\langle \mathbf{M} \right\rangle_{\mathbf{m}} = \mathbf{K}^{-\frac{1}{1+\alpha}} / \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{W}_{i} J_{i}^{-\frac{1}{1+\alpha}}$$
(8)
$$\left\langle \mathbf{M} \right\rangle_{\mathbf{W}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{W}_{i} J_{i}^{-\frac{1}{1+\alpha}} \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{W}_{i} J_{i}^{-\frac{1}{1+\alpha}}$$
(9)

$$\frac{(M)_{W}}{(M)_{n}} = \sum_{i=1}^{M} W_{i} J_{i} \overline{1+\alpha} \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{M} W_{i} J_{i} \overline{1+\alpha}$$
(9)

Therefore, distribution breadth index, $\langle M \rangle_{w} / \langle M \rangle_{w}$, obtained are independent of the parameter K. From the experimental curve of each sample take q = 0.70(the slope of a, b lines in Figure 3). The distribution breadtn index ${\rm \langle M \rangle}_{\rm w}$ / ${\rm \langle M \rangle}_{\rm n}$ of the eleven samples are obtained by the equation (9). See the results in Table 1. Take the samples 1 to 6 as one group and the average value of the distribution breadth index is 2.95, while another group, the samples 7 to 11, gives the average value of the distribution breadth index as 1.82 also shown in Table 1.

The experimental curve of each sample snows good symmetry, so Gauss normal distribution function

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{V}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi} \sigma} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2\sigma^*} (\mathbf{V} - \mathbf{V})^2\right]$$
(10)

can be used.

The normalized distribution curves calculated from the average value and the standard deviation of each sample (in Table 1) and with equation (10) agrees well with the experimental results, as shown in Figure 2. As the calibration curve of our GPC column is linear, the molecular weight distribution of the samples studied may be described by log-normal distribution function. For the polydispersed sample with log normal distribution. (2,3,4)

$$q_{W} = \left(\frac{\langle M \rangle}{\langle \hat{m} \rangle_{m}} \right)^{2} \alpha (\alpha - 1)$$
(11)

$$q_{m} = \left(\frac{\langle M \rangle_{W}}{\langle M \rangle_{m}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \alpha \left(\alpha + 1\right)$$
(12)

Substitute into the equation (12) the average values of the distribution index of two groups and ${\mathcal A}$ values. The q_n values of two groups so obtained are 1.903 and 1.428 respectively. From the K, and q of two groups, we obtain:

 $K = 1.05 \times 10^{-4}$ and $K = 1.06 \times 10^{-4}$ Therefore, [7] - M relation fine the momodispered solution may be expressed as

 $[7] = 1.06 \times 10^{-4} M^{0.70}$ (13) Since

$$[7] = K \langle M \rangle_{7}^{\alpha} = K \left(\frac{\langle M \rangle_{W}}{\langle M \rangle_{n}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \alpha (\alpha + 1) \cdot \langle M \rangle_{n}^{\alpha}$$

$$= K \left[\left(\frac{\langle M \rangle_{w}}{\langle M \rangle_{n}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\alpha + 1 \right) \cdot \langle M \rangle_{n} \right]^{\alpha}$$

then

 $\langle M \rangle_{\eta} = \left(\frac{\langle M \rangle_{W}}{\langle M \rangle_{n}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\alpha + 1\right) \cdot \langle M \rangle_{n}$ (14)

The viscosity average molecular weight $\langle M \rangle_{\gamma}$ of each sample may be obtained by substituting $\langle M \rangle_{n}$, α and $\langle M \rangle_{w}$ of eleven samples into the equation (14) $\langle M \rangle_{\downarrow}$

Plot $\log[\gamma]$ against $\log \langle M \rangle_{\gamma}$ as shown in Figure 4. It can be seen that the experimental points of two sample groups fall on the line for the monodispersed $[\gamma]$ - M relation (13). It is independent of the size of the distribution breadth.

Qian Ren-yuan, Ying Qi-zong et al, obtained the monodispersed [7] - M relationship for polydimetnyl-siloxane as

 $[7] = 9.53 \times 10^{-5} M^{0.71}$ (15) shown by dotted line in Figure 4. The solid line and dotted line overlap each other.

It can be seen that the presence of a small amount of the vinyl groups in the molecular chain of polydimethylsiloxane has shown no evident change in the property of solution and the flexibility of the molecular chain.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authoress wishes to express appreciation to Mr. Cheng Rong-shi for his valuable information and suggestions.

REFERENCES

Qian Ren-yuan, Ying Qi-zong, Polymer Communications
 6, 459 (1964).
- M. Kurata, Y. Tsunashima, M.Iwama, K. Kamada, J. Brandrup, E. H. Immergut, Editors), Polymer Handbook (Second Edition) IV-2, 1975.
- 3.H.P.Frank, J.Polymer Sci. ,7, 507 (1951).
- 4. R.Koningsveld, C,A.F. Tuijuman, Makromol. Chem., 38, 39 (1960).

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2253-2257 (1982)

Characterization of Copolymers

and Polymer Mixtures by Gel

Permeation Chromatography

J. M. Goldwasser, Alfred Rudin and W. L. Elsdon Guelph-Waterloo Centre for Graduate Work in Chemistry University of Waterloo Waterloo, Ontario, Canada N2L 3Gl

ABSTRACT

Estimation of molecular weights from GPC data is complicated when the polymer sample consists of a mixture of homopolymers or of statistical copolymers with nonuniform compositions. This is because sizes of solvated polymer coils depend on solvent interaction with both the homoand hetero-units of the copolymers and because the extent of solvation of different homopolymers can differ. The overall degree of solvation may change effectively with composition and use of a single "average" set of Mark-Houwink constants in calibration procedures will then produce false molecular weight data from the GPC data. A new molecular weight average, \tilde{M}_{χ} , is defined to overcome this problem. This average can be determined from the GPC chromatogram and intrinsic viscosity of the sample in the GPC solvent. Mark-Houwink coefficients are not needed. \tilde{M}_{μ} lies between \tilde{M}_{μ} and \tilde{M}_{μ} .

Hydrodynamic volumes of solvated polymers are fundamental in determining the gel permeation chromatographic (GPC) elution volumes of the species in a mixture (1-3). All species with the same hydrodynamic volume

2253

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

appear with the same elution volume. For homopolymers in a given GPC solvent, hydrodynamic volumes can be related directly to molecular weights, with allowance where necessary for concentration effects (4-6). When the sample consists of a mixture of homopolymers or statistical copolymers with nonuniform compositions the estimation of molecular weight information from GPC data is much more complicated.

The major difficulty in analyzing the GPC chromatogram of a compositionally heterogeneous polymer sample involves conversion of hydrodynamic volume (Vh_i) of species i to molecular weight (M_i). This is because the size of the solvated polymer coil (and hence the Mark-Houwink constants (7)) depends on the solvent interaction with both the homo- and hetero-units in the case of copolymers (8-10). In some cases, as when the copolymer structure tends toward alternation, the influence of hetero segments may predominate. As a consequence, the values of the Mark-Houwink constants would be relatively insensitive to composition within certain limits. However, in instances where the copolymer composition tends to be more random, or when the sample is a blend of copolymers or homopolymers, the overall degree of solvation will change effectively with blend composition at a given molecular weight, and the use of a single "average" set of Mark-Houwink constants will produce false molecular weight parameters from GPC data. The alternative is to assign a set of effective Mark-Houwink constants at each elution volume, but this is an intractable experimental problem.

We, therefore, propose the use of a new molecular weight average, \vec{M}_{x} , to characterize polymer samples of heterogeneous composition by GPC in cases where a single set of Mark-Houwink constants is unsatisfactory. \vec{M}_{y} , the hydrodynamic volume average, is defined according to:

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{M}}_{x} = \frac{\Sigma w_{i} [n]_{i} M_{i}}{\Sigma w_{i} [n]_{i}} = \frac{\Sigma w_{i} [n]_{i} M_{i}}{[n]}$$
(1)

where w_i and $[n]_i$ are the weight fraction and intrinsic viscosity, respectively, of all species which exit the GPC columns with elution volume Ve_i . The denominator in equation (1) is equal to the intrinsic viscosity, [n], of the whole sample in the GPC solvent. This parameter is measured separately. The values in the numerator are available from the GPC chromatogram. At infinite dilution of the species in the sample (5,11), the product $[n]_i M_i$ can be read directly from the universal calibration curve and w_i is equated to the ratio of the area of the GPC detector response at elution volume Ve_i to the total area under the chromatogram. This molecular weight average is particularly useful for mixtures of homopolymers or for copolymers in which composition may vary with molecular weight. The latter materials are produced in free radical batch copolymerizations that exhibit a significant composition drift with conversion and an autoacceleration-induced increase in molecular weights at higher conversions.

The value of \overline{M}_X will fall between \overline{M}_W and \overline{M}_Z of the sample. The Mark-Houwink relation for a monodisperse species is:

$$[\eta] = KM^{a}$$
⁽²⁾

where K and a are the M-H constants. Substitution of equation (2) into equation (1) gives:

$$\tilde{\tilde{M}}_{x} = \frac{\Sigma w_{i} K N_{i}^{a+1}}{\Sigma w_{i} K M_{i}^{a}} = \frac{\Sigma w_{i} N_{i}^{a+1}}{\Sigma w_{i} M_{i}^{a}}$$
(3)

When a = 1

$$\vec{M}_{x} = \frac{\sum w_{1}M_{1}^{2}}{\sum w_{1}M_{1}} = \vec{M}_{z} \qquad (a = 1)$$

$$(4)$$

and when a = 0

GOLDWASSER, RUDIN, AND ELSDON

$$\tilde{M}_{X} = -\frac{\Sigma W_{i} M_{i}}{\Sigma W_{i}} = \tilde{M}_{W} \qquad (a = 0)$$
(5)

For most random coil polymers in the relatively nonpolar solvents which are commonly used $0.5 \le a \le 0.8$ (7) and $\vec{M}_w < \vec{M}_x < \vec{M}_z$. Because of its dependence on the Mark-Houwink exponent a, \vec{M}_x of a homopolymer will be somewhat solvent dependent. The more familiar \vec{M}_v also exhibits some solvent dependence, for similar reasons.

When the composition of a polymer sample varies along with the molecular weights of the component species characterization of the molecular weight distribution is as formidable experimental problem. Some of the difficulties can be circumvented by use of the \tilde{M}_x average which can be estimated from the GPC chromatogram and the intrinsic viscosity of the polymer without a calibration for the components of the sample. Although a single average must convey less information than knowledge of the whole distribution, \tilde{M}_x may be expected to correlate with some mechanical and rheological properties of mixtures since its magnitude lies between \tilde{M}_w and \tilde{M}_z . It is recommended that when \tilde{M}_x is used to characterize a copolymer or polymer blend, both the parameters \tilde{J}_w , which is proportional to the weight average hydrodynamic volume of the sample, and the standard deviation σ_x should also be reported:

$$\vec{J}_{w} = \Sigma w_{i} [\eta]_{i} M_{i}$$
(6)

$$\sigma_{\rm J} = (\Sigma w_{\rm i} (J_{\rm i} - \bar{J}_{\rm w})^2)^{1/2}$$
(7)

where $J_i = [n]_i M_i$. This procedure provides a molecular weight average to characterize the sample and a measure of the mean and breadth of the distribution of hydrodynamic volumes in the sample.

Acknowledgment

This research was supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada.

2256

References

- (1) W. B. Smith and A. Kollmansberger, J. Phys. Chem., 69, 4157 (1965).
- (2) J. G. Hendrickson and J. C. Moore, J. Polym. Sci. A-1, <u>4</u>, 167 (1966).
- (3) J. Cazes and D. R. Gaskell, Separation Sci., 2, 421 (1967).
- (4) A. Rudin, J. Polym. Sci., Part A-1, 9, 2587 (1971).
- (5) A. Rudin and R. A. Wagner, J. Appl. Polym. Sci., 20, 1483 (1976).
- (6) H. K. Mahabadi and A. Rudin, Polymer J., 11, 123 (1979).
- (7) P. J. Flory and T. G. Fox, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 1904 (1951).
- (8) T. Kotaka, Y. Murakami and H. Inogaki, J. Phys. Chem., 72, 829 (1968).
- (9) A. Dondos and H. Benoit, Makromol. Chem., 118, 165 (1968).
- (10) A. Dondos, P. Rempp and H. Benoit, Makromol. Chem., 175, 1659 (1974).
- (11) Z. Grubisic, P. Rempp and H. Benoit, J. Polym. Sci. B, 5, 753 (1967).

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2259-2270 (1982)

HPSEC OF CATIONIC POLYMERS ON A POLYAMINE SUPPORT

D. L. Gooding, M. N. Schmuck and K. M. Gooding Synchrom, Inc., P.O. Box 110, Linden, IN 47955

ABSTR ACT

High performance steric exclusion chromatography of polyvinylpyridines (PVP) on silica particles coated with polymerized amine (SynChropak CATSEC) is described. PVP standards were analyzed first on a conventional neutral support (SynChropak GPC), and the results were compared with the amine coated silica. Conditions for analysis were then examined for optimization. Linear recovery was observed for a PVP standard of M.W. 3,000.

INTRODUCTION

Over the past few years, high performance steric exclusion chromatography (HPSEC) on silica based supports has become an accepted technique for polymer characterization. Methodologies for analyzing neutral and anionic polymers have been established by numerous research groups; however, the analysis of cationic polymers has been a problem. Positively charged molecules ionically bind to negative silanols on silica surfaces. When silica has a chemically-bound neutral layer covering the surface, the negative character of the silica is reduced but not eliminated (1-4). When Pfannkoch et al. examined this phenomena for a glywerylpropylsilyl support (SynChropak GPC), they found that

2259

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

adjusting the pH or the ionic strength of the mobile phase would allow certain cationic proteins such as lysozyme and cytochrome c to elute by size (1). Alternatively, organic solvents have been used by Rand et al. to aid elution (2). Barth found that he could analyze cationic polymers on SynChropak GPC columns by preconditioning them with a cationic homopolymer (3). Highly charged polymers such as polyvinylpyridines (PVP) exhibited adsorption or, at best, tailing, under most conditions on neutrally bonded columns (4).

One way to eliminate the negative silanol groups and the adsorptive effects of cationic polymers is to bond an amine to the silica surface to neutralize the silanols. The resulting support would have a net positive charge and would exhibit anion exchange characteristics for appropriate molecules. Talley and Bowman used such an approach when they reacted controlled porosity glass with 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane which was subsequently quaternized (5). PVP standards eluted from this support without tailing when an acid eluent was used.

This paper describes the use of SynChropak CATSEC columns which are composed of high performance silica coated with polymerized amine. PVP standards elute from these columns according to size, and they exhibit Gaussian peak shapes when appropriate operating conditions are used.

EXPERIMENT AL

<u>Apparatus</u>: SynChropak CATSEC 100 and CATSEC 1000 (250 x 4.6mm ID) and SynChropak GPC 100 (250 x 10mm ID) were obtained from SynChrom, Inc. (Linden, IN). A GonstaMetric IIG liquid chromatograph (Laboratory Data Control, Riviera Beach, FL) with a Model 7125 injection valve (Rheodyne, Berkeley, CA) and a Chem Research Model 2020 multiple wavelength detector (Instrumentation Specialties Company, Lincoln, NE) were used for the analyses. <u>Reagents:</u> Trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) was purchased from Pierce Chemical Company (Rockford, IL). Sodium chloride and sodium phosphate monobasic were from Mallinkrodt (Paris, KY). The glycyl-1-tyrosine and cytidine were from Sigma Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO). The poly (2-vinylpyridine) (PVP) standards were obtained from Larry Rosen at Pressure Chemical Company (Pittsburgh, PA).

<u>Procedure</u>: The 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid/0.2M sodium chloride solution, the 1.0% trifluoroacetic acid/0.2M sodium chloride solution, and 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid solution used for buffers were prepared in water. The 0.02M sodium phosphate/0.2M sodium chloride solution was adjusted to pH 2.0 with hydrochloric acid. The glycyltyrosine and cytidine standards and poly (2-vinylpyridine) standards were prepared in buffer and sonicated where necessary to effect solution. Duplicate samples of 2.5-10µl were injected into the liquid chromatograph with the isocratic buffer at a flow rate of 0.5ml/min. Full scale absorbance of the detector was set at 0.16 and at a wavelength of 254 nm.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

<u>Analysis of PVP standards on a neutral support</u>: In order to evaluate the chromatography of the cationic polymers on the polyamine support, it was first necessary to run them on silica with a neutral bonded layer. A SynChropak GPC 100 column which has a glycerylpropylsilyl bonded layer was chosen for the study. A mobile phase of 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid was used to suppress ionic effects. The PVP standards did elute under these conditions; however, some adsorption was occurring. Initial injections of the samples seemed to coat the reactive sites but these adsorbed polymers appeared to leach off over time. Subsequent samples



FIGURE 1

Analysis of a PVP standard (MW 20,000) on a SynChropak GPC 100 column (25 cm x 1 cm I.D.). Mobile phase: 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid; flowrate: 3.0 ml/min.

did elute according to size; however, some tailing of the peaks was present as seen in Fig. 1. Although these neutral supports could be used for the analysis of cationic polymers, the adsorption, sample leaching, and tailing made them less than ideal for this application.

<u>Analysis on a polyamine support</u>: A new column packing material, SynChropak CATSEC, was developed for the SEC of cationic polymers. This is a porous silica which has a thin layer of polyamine polymerized with a neutral hydrophilic crosslinker to increase stability. When PVP standards were run on these columns, linear recovery of the PVP was observed as seen in Fig. 2. With lower



FIGURE 2

Recovery of a PVP standard (MW 3,000) from a SynChropak CATSEC 1000 column (250 mm x 4.6 mm I.D.). Mobile phase: 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid, 0.2M sodium chloride; flowrate: 0.5 ml/min.

concentrations, slight adsorption was observed. Once the feasibility of using these columns was determined, conditions for analysis were examined for optimization.

<u>Mobile phase selection</u>: When a mobile phase of 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid was used for analysis, the standards appeared to have



FIGURE 3

Ion-exclusion effect shown by the calibration curves for PVP standards on SynChropak CATSEC 100 and 1000 columns.

lower retention times than would be expected on columns of these pore diameters (100 Å and 1000Å, respectively). This phenomenon would be symptomatic of ion-exclusion, which would be expected with pores containing a charged surface and an eluent with inadequate ionic strength. The density of positive charges within the pore repel the positively charged polymers and prevent them from penetrating properly. The effect was more severe for the 100 Å than the 1000 Å column due to the much higher surface area of the 100 Å support. Figure 3 illustrates the ion-exclusion effect on the calibration curves of each support. A mobile phase of 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid containing 0.2M sodium chloride was used for comparison.

Eluents containing 0.2M salt appeared to obviate ion exclusion on columns of all pore diameters. Mobile phases of several different pH values were used and all gave similar results when 0.2M sodium chloride was added: 1) 1.0% trifluoroacetic acid, 0.2M sodium chloride (pH 1.4), 2) 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid, 0.2M sodium chloride (pH 1.6), and 3) 0.02M sodium phosphate, 0.2M sodium chloride (pH 2.0). Figure 4 shows the analysis of three PVP standards on a 100Å SynChropak CATSEC 100 column using 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid and 0.2M sodium chloride. Figure 5 exhibits the analysis of four PVP standards using the 0.02M sodium phosphate (pH 2.0) buffer with 0.2M sodium chloride. No differences are seen between the eluents as regards peak shape. When 0.5M sodium chloride was used, some added retention was seen. This was probably due to a hydrophobic interaction or a salting-out



FIGURE 4

Analysis of PVP standards on a SynChropak CATSEC 100 column (250 mm x 4.6 mm I.D.). Mobile phase: 0.02M sodium phosphate, 0.2M sodium chloride, pH 2.0; flowrate: 0.3 ml/min; PVP standards: 1. MW 600,000; 2. MW 11,000; 3. MW 3,000.





Analysis of PVP standards on a SynChropak CATSEC 1000 column (250 mm x 4.6 mm I.D.). Mobile phase: 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid, 0.2M sodium chloride; flowrate: 0.3 ml/min; PVP standards: 1. MW 600,000; 2. MW 100,000; 3. MW 20,000; 4. MW 3,000.

phenomenon and has been observed elsewhere (3). Some folding and extending of charged polymers occurs with changes in salt concentrations so it is important to maintain the same operating conditions for all analyses in order to get valid molecular weight comparisons and calibration curves.

<u>Choice of totally included solute</u>: One problem which occurred during these studies concerned the choice of a probe used to deter-

2267



FIGURE 6

Calibration curves for SynChropak CATSEC 100 and 1000 columns using cytidine as the total volume indicator. Mobile phase: 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid, 0.2M sodium chloride; flowrate: 0.5 ml/min. mine the total column volume. Pfannkoch et al. stressed the importance of finding a molecule which exhibits no interaction whatsoever with the column (1). Glycyltyrosine, which had been successfully used with glycerylpropyl columns, was initially used for these columns. The amphoteric character of this dipeptide caused it to be retained slightly on this polyamine column in all cases except when the mobile phase with the lowest pH (pH 1.4) was used. This phenomenon was not immediately obvious since the calibration curves were linear. Changes in the structure of the PVP polymers or the polyamine coating were blamed for the observed changes in K_{D} or internal volume of the support. When a more suitable small molecule, cytidine, was chosen, parameters such as internal volume and $K_{\overline{D}}$ were reproducible for mobile phases with different pH. Figure 6 shows the calibration curve for the PVP standards using cytidine instead of glycyltyrosine, which was used in Fig. 1.

CONCLUSIONS

Cationic polymers such as polyvinylpyridines can be analyzed by steric exclusion chromatography on SynChropak CATSEC columns. The polyamine coating on these columns neutralizes negative silanol groups and prevents adsorption of the polymers. Acidic eluents containing 0.2M salt eliminate ion-exclusion and interaction between the polymers and the supports. Cytidine was shown to be a good indicator of the total volume of the column.

REFERENCES

 Pfannkoch, E., Iu, K.C., Regnier, F.E., Barth, H.G., J. Chromatogr. Sci., <u>18</u>, 430 (1980).

- 2. Rand, W.G., Mukherji, A.K., J. Chromatogr. Sci., 20, 182 (1982).
- 3. Barth, H.G., J. Chromatogr. Sci., <u>18</u>, 409 (1980).
- 4. Guise, G.B., Smith, G.C., J. Thromatogr., 235, 365 (1982).
- 5. Talley, C.P., Bowman, L.M., Anal. Chem., 51, 2239 (1979).

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2271-2292 (1982)

UTILIZATION OF WEAK ACID-BASE INTERACTIONS TO IMPROVE SEPARATIONS IN NORMAL PHASE LIQUID PREPARATIVE CHROMATOGRAPHY

Morris Zief, Laura J. Crane and Joseph Horvath Research Laboratory, J. T. Baker Chemical Company Phillipsburg, New Jersey 08865

ABSTRACT

Three 40 µm derivatized silicas, two aminoalkyl and one carboxyalkyl, have been compared to 40 µm silica gel for performance in normal phase preparative liquid chromatography. The three derivatives showed higher selectivity for compounds capable of hydrogenbond formation or acid-base interactions. Retention times were related to the basicity of the amine bonded derivatives or the acidity of the carboxylic acid derivative and the pK values of the solutes. The advantages for each of the four sorbents for neutral, acidic and basic compounds have been described.

INTRODUCTION

In aqueous systems hydrogen bonding capabilities and acid-base interactions between organic moieties are minimized because of the polarity of the aqueous medium and the strong hydrogen bonding properties of the water molecules themselves. In organic solvents or organic solvent-water mixtures, however, these properties become important and can be used to chromatographically resolve compounds with interacting functional groups.

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

We have explored the capabilities of three siloxane bonded polar phases in normal phase chromatography, wishing to exploit the enhancement of weak acid-base interactions in solvents most often utilized by the preparative chemist. We have limited ourselves to isocratic elution, relying for resolution enhancement upon solvent composition and the nature of the bonded phase.

The three bonded phases were siloxanes in which R

was 3-aminopropyl,3-(2-aminoethylamino)propyl or 2carboxyethyl. All derivatives were bonded to silica of 40 µm average particle size. These bonded phases have recently become available commercially as bulk packing and seemed to offer good possibilities for selective retention and purification of compounds possessing weakly basic or weakly acidic sites for hydrogen bonding.

The hydrogen bonding capabilities of the aminopropyl bonded phase have been exploited extensively in analytical HPLC (in the so-called "carbohydrate column") to separate mono, di and trisaccharides (1). The resulting complexes formed between the amine groups of the bonded phase and the very weakly acidic hydroxyl groups of the carbohydrates result in different retention times in an acetonitrile-water mobile phase and, therefore, resolve the carbohydrates.

The other end of the scale of acid-base interactions in organic media with this bonded phase is the use by Pirkle of the stable ionic bond between R-N-3,5dinitrobenzoylphenylglycine and the amine group to create an immobilized chiral phase to chromatographically separate optical isomers (2).

We have limited our exploration of the preparative capabilities of the amine bonded phases primarily to the intermediate range of interactions between these two extremes, though a brief examination of carbohydrate separation is also included.

EXPERIMENTAL

MATERIALS

Ethyl acetate, hexane, acetonitrile, and methylene chloride were 'Baker Analyzed'® solvents. The solutes were Baker organic reagents.

The silica and the three bonded phase packings were obtained from Baker as "flash chromatography" grade silica and Baker amino (NH₂), Baker 1°,2°-amino (NH₂-NH) and Baker carboxyl (COOH) bonded phases for preparative liquid chromatography. The 3-aminopropyl bonded phase contained 2.45% N; 1.75 meq N/g; loss on drying at 110°C was 6.3%; loss on ignition at 600°C after drying at 110°C was 10.72%. The diamine bonded phase contained 2.86% N; 2.04 meq N/g; loss on ignition at 600°C after drying at 110°C was 16.06%. The carboxyl bonded phase contained 4.6% C; 1.0 meq acid/g groups by titration.

The weight of the support loading was determined by heating 1 g of the siloxane derivative in a crucible at 600°C in an oven for 3 hours.

% loading = wt of loss at 600° x 100 wt of phase after heating at 110°C In order to show that the weight loss above 110°C is due primarily to the support loading and not to the elimination of water from vicinal hydroxyl groups, silica itself was first ignited at 600°C. From 100-600°C a loss of 3.3% took place. We can conclude, therefore, that the weight loss due to water formation is below 3.3% in the amine bonded derivatives because of the reduced content of unreacted hydroxyls.

Support loadings of 10.72% and 16.06% for the monoamine and diamine derivatives suggest a small amount of polymer formation for both derivatives (1).

APPARATUS

An Altex glass chromatography column, 9 mm x 250 mm, equipped with a stainless steel plunger fitted with Teflon® tubing was used in all experiments. An Altex Tefzel slider injection valve with a 0.5 mL Joop was

WEAK ACID-BASE INTERACTIONS

connected directly to the plunger. A laboratory pump (1/4" piston, flow rate 0-19 mL/min, Fluid Metering Company, Oyster Bay, NY), was the pressure source. A pulse dampener (Fluid Metering Company) was inserted between the pump and the injection valve. The eluate from the column was monitored by a Waters 403 refractive index detector which, in turn, was connected to a Hewlett-Packard strip chart recorder.

PROCEDURE

Column packing: The irregular-shaped particles had an average diameter of 40 µm with a narrow distribution of 30-65 µm. Columns were dry packed by first pouring enough adsorbent into the column to fill a 30 mm height. The column was then carefully "bounced" on the table top to settle the adsorbent. Repetitive additions of similar small aliquots were added and the columns were "bounced" or tapped until a 200 mm height of settled adsorbent was added. The plunger was then inserted and adjusted carefully to contact the surface of the adsorbent.

Chromatographic Evaluation of Phases

Capacity factors (k') were determined by injecting 100 μ L samples of solutions containing 1 g of solute per 100 mL of mobile phase. The flow rate of mobile phase was 7.5 mL/min.

DISCUSSION

Since no analytical TLC plates of the three bonded phases exist, chromatography on a small column is the best method available for optimizing mobile phase composition for later scale-up separations of a variety of solutes. When larger preparative columns are packed with the 40 µm adsorbents used in this study, similar capacity factors are routinely obtained (results reported elsewhere).

Monoamine Bonded Phase

The chromatographic medium most commonly utilized for normal phase chromatographic purification of organic compounds is silica. Therefore, for purposes of providing a baseline for better understanding the chromatographic properties of the relatively new bonded phase packings, it seemed useful to do comparative studies under identical conditions. Table I illustrates that with a mobile phase of low solvent strength (3) silica exhibits relatively non-specific interactions with acidic materials having a wide range of pK values. Specific interactions occasionally credited to silica can probably be ascribed to trace impurities such as sodium, aluminum or sulfate; these impurities impart to silica acidic or basic properties as evidenced by the 2-9 pH range of various silicas in water (4). The silica used in these experiments gave a neutral pH when slurried in water.

With the monoamine phase the range of retention times with the same mobile phase used for silica increases considerably for the series of alcohols, with retention times of 4-5 minutes for very weak aliphatic alcohols having pKa's of 19, increasing to retention times of greater than 20 minutes for the substituted phenols having pKa's of 7 or less. It is reasonable to assume that for this series of alcohols the acid-base interaction between the hydroxyl hydrogen of the solute and the amine nitrogen of the solid phase determines retention time.

Even with alcohols such as chloroethanol and phenethyl alcohol showing high pKa values of 18 or greater, the results are consistent with those expected from electronic effects; for example, the increased retention of chloroethanol over ethanol or benzyl alcohol over phenethyl alcohol can be predicted on <u>relative</u> acidities, even through actual pKa values do not appear in the literature.

It is interesting to note, however, that retention times for both mixtures are reversed on silica. With these alcohols (pKa about 18) the major interactions with silica occur between the silanol hydrogen and the hydroxyl oxygen (5). In the case of benzyl and phenTABLE 1 Separation of Alcohols and Amines on Silica and 3-Aminopropyl-Derivatized Silica $\overline{}$

		-9 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Si-Si-	- Si (CH ₂) 3 NH ₂ Bo	nded F	'hase**			
Adsorbent wt g:		Silica* 5.6	1	002 ^m 5		6.6			
Mobile Phase		Hexane/Ethyl 2/1	Acetate	<u>Hexane</u> Ethvl acetate		Hexane Ethvl Acetate	Acetonitrile Water		<u>Acetonitrile</u> 0.05M Aqueous
		4 /0		(3/1)		(3/7)	(1/3)		Sodium Bicarb.
Flow Rate 7/ E ⁰ ***	5 mL/min	0.23		0.23		0.34	>0.75		(1/3) >0.75
		Retention		Retention		Retention	Retention		Retention
Solute	pKa	Time (min)	×.	Time (min)	, Х	Time (min) k	Time (min)		Time (min)
benzene	37	1.5	-	1.4	ł	1.3	ł		
benzyl alrohol	ر مرا	5.0	2.3	10.4	6.3 0	3.4 1.	.6 1.3	ł	
l-decanol		9°0	1.4	4.4	2.1	2.4 0	- 7		
hexanol	19	4.2	1.8	4.8	2.4	2.5 0	.7		
ethanol	18	ထ ထ	4.9			3.0 1	с.		
chloroethano	1 <18	7.5	4.0			4.2 2	.2		

phenethyl alcohol	18	5.8	3.1	9.0	5.4	2.8	1.2			
eugenol	10	2.4	0.6	13.0	8.3	4.5	2.5			
phenol	9.9	2.2	0.5			7.5	4.8	l.3	1	
p-nitrophenol	7.2	8°.7	2.2	>20		>20		11.0	7.4	2.2
2,4-dinitro- phenol	4.0	>20		>20		>20		>20		1.6
aniline****	4.6	4.8	2.2	3.5	1.5	2.0	0.5			
o-nitroaniline	0.5	3.5	1.3	6.5	3.6	2.5	0.8			
m-nitroaniline	2.5	6.8	3.5	9.8	6.0	2.7	1.1			
p-nitroaniline	1.0	10.8	9°8	6.2		4.7	2.6			
N-methylanilin N-dimethylanil *J. T. Baker C ****For anilin	e 4.84 ine 5.07 atalog No. e and its	7030-0. **. derivatives blter dlas	J. T. Baker (the pKa repr s column (9,	Catalog No. esents the d mm x 25 cm)	7034-0. issociati containin	1.7 1.5 ***Solvent on of the a an adjus	0.3 0.15 cstrengt conjugat	h determir e acid BH- unger; FM	ned on sili + of the li I laborator	ca; see ref. 3. sted base B. y pump; FMI pulse
dampener; Alte	x loop inj	ector; Water	s refractive	index detec	tor R403;	Hewlett-1	Packard s	strip chari	t recorder.	1

ethyl alcohols the greater basicity of the oxygen in phenethyl alcohol is responsible for a stronger hydrogen bond with the silica silanol group. The concomitant decreased acidity of the phenethyl alcohol hydroxyl hydrogen affords a weaker hydrogen bond with the nitrogen of the amino bonded phase.

Even though the relative retention times of both aromatic and aliphatic alcohols on the amine phase are a function of the acidity of the hydroxyl hydrogen, the absolute retention times are not a function of aqueous pKa alone. The electronic effects of the aromatic ring in the organic mobile phase are far stronger than in the primarily aqueous solutions used for pKa determinations. Hence the aromatic alcohols as a group bind more tightly to the amine bonded phase than the aliphatic alcohols.

As the acidity of the solute increases, solvents of ever-increasing solvent strength are required to achieve reasonable elution times from the amine phase. The strongest acid eluted with an aqueous organic mix was 2,4-dinitrophenol with a pKa of 4; in this case elution was achieved only by including sodium bicarbonate in the aqueous component of the mobile phase to form the dinitrophenolate ion. The inclusion of 0.05M sodium bicarbonate (pH 8) has a greater effect on the elution time of 2,4-dinitrophenol than on the less

WEAK ACID-BASE INTERACTIONS

acidic p-nitrophenol because the former ionizes more readily. Such control of elution times by mobile phase composition is highly desirable in preparative chromatography, since purification in preparative liquid chromatography is best achieved when the desired compound is eluted after the removal of impurities. The amine bonded phase can be used to advantage for early separation of materials incapable of hydrogen bonding and subsequent controlled elution of acidic materials.

Diamine Bonded Phase

The dominant interacting amine group of the diamine bonded phase is the terminal primary amine which is less basic than the comparable amine group in the monoamine derivative; a pKb of 7.0 for the diamine phase was determined by acid titration. The lower basicity explains the lower retention times of the alcohols in Table II; for example, retention times of 7.5 and 4.5 minutes for phenol and eugenol on the monoamine phase are reduced to 4.1 and 2.6 minutes, respectively, on the diamine phase. The differences in retention time increase as the pKa of the interacting aromatic or aliphatic alcohol decreases. Eugenol is a somewhat special case since its methoxy group can intramolecularly hydrogen bond with the adjacent hydroxyl group, thereby competing with the bonded

		TABLE II				
Separation of 1	Alcohols and Amines of Alcohols and Alcohols and Amines of Alcohols and Alcoho	n 3-(2-Aminoeth 1 ₂ CH ₂ NHCH ₂ CH ₂ NH ₂	ylamine)propyl-Deri Bonded Phase+	vatized Silica		
		15 15				
Adsorbent wt g: 6.5 g						
Mobile Phase:	Hexane		Hexane		Methylene Chloride	
	Ethyl Acetate (3/1)		Ethyl Acetate (3/7)		Acetonitrile (2/8)	
о _д	0.23		0.34		0.5	
	Retention	-	Retention	r	Retention	,
	Time (min)	к ^т	Time (min)	к [⊥]	Time (min)	- -
Solute						
erev erev erev	7 L	-	с Г		c r	
			. .⊣	8	7.7	1
benzyl alcohol	9*6	5.9	3.0	L.3	1.8	0. J
l-decanol			1.9	0.5		
hexanol	4.0	1.9	2.1	0.6		
ethanol			2.6	1.0		

		7	0 C
	ې ۲	>20	2.7
-	1.6 1.0 2.2	0.5 1.5	0.2.4
1	3.4 2.6 1.	>20 >20 2.6 3.2 5.7	л. Г. Г.
	4 4 4	2.4 4.9 9.4 ^19.0	
	7.8 7.6 >20	>20 4.8 8.3 14.5 >28.0	22-o. :e Table I.
	chloroethanol phenethyl alcohol eugenol phenol P-nitrophenol	<pre>2.4-dinitrophenol aniline 0-nitroaniline m-nitroaniline p-nitroaniline N-methylaniline</pre>	N-dimethylaniline *J. T. Baker Catalog No. 70, Experimental Conditions: Se

phases for hydrogen-bond interactions. Thus, the retention times for eugenol on both phases are significantly less than expected by considerations of pKa alone.

Recently Becker and Unger (6) related the capacity factors of various phenols to their pKa values on a similar diamine bonded silica. Their results clearly showed that an increased binding of the phenols with the polar support paralleled increased acidity of the solute. Our data are in agreement with this conclusion, but the binding capacity of the two diamine derivatives are strikingly different in a manner that correlates directly with the nitrogen contents of the bonded phases of 2.32 and 2.86%, respectively. Our bonded phase gave higher k' values with the same solvent system (dichlormethane/acetonitrile 20/80; E = (0.50); for example, phenol showed a k¹ value of 1.2 rather than 0.2. More importantly, 4-nitrophenol and 2,4-dinitrophenol could only be eluted from our column with a much more polar mobile phase. The higher nitrogen content and increased capacity of our derivative reflects a more highly polymerized coating on silica.

Comparison of the Amine Bonded Phases

It is clear that retention on both derivatives increases as pKa decreases. Hydrogen bonding falls off



Figure 1. Plot of Log k^1 Versus pKa for Weak Metallic Bases Chromatographic Conditions: Column, M = Monoamine Bonded Phase; D = Diamine Bonded Phase; Mobile Phase, Ethyl Acetate-Hexane (7/2); Flow Rate, 7.5 mL/min

so sharply at pKa 18 that no difference between hexanol and decanol can be detected. Although the monoamine is more retentive for alcohols, the diamine binds more tightly to weak aromatic bases (Figure 1) that have two hydrogen atoms available for interaction with the amine nitrogens of the adsorbent. No difference is seen with bases having pKb's less than 2 pK units different from the adsorbents; aniline and methylated anilines behave similarly with both adsorbents, but differences become apparent with the more acidic m- and p-nitroanilines. The intramolecular hydrogen bonding in o-nitroaniline precludes consideration in this plot (Figure 1).

Since 5 and 10 µm aminopropyl silica are extensively used analytically for HPLC analysis of carbohydrates, it seemed useful to test the two 40 µm bonded phases for preparative separation capabilities of these compounds. A closely related series of carbohydrates was resolved on both amine bonded phases (Table III). As the relative basicity of the two bonded phases predicts, the aminopropyl silica binds more strongly to carbohydrates than the diamino derivative. Arabinose, for example, elutes in 1.8 minutes from the diamino column with an acetonitrile-water (4/1) mobile phase. Under the same conditions arabinose was still retained on the aminopropyl column after 18 minutes. When the mobile phase was changed to acetonitrile-water (3/1), however, arabinose eluted in 4.5 minutes; the k^{1} values for all the solutes then approximate the data obtained on the diamine column with the solvent mixture of lower solvent strength. The incorporation of water in the mobile phase substantially increased the pressure in the analytical columns (65-80 psi), but analysis of carbohydrate systems with both 40 µm bonded derivatives continued to
TABLE III Separation of Carbohydrates

	⇒si-o	oc2H5 Si-0 Si-0-SiCH, CH, CH, CH, NHCE	H ₂ CH ₂ NH ₂
Adsorbent	Si-0-SiCH2CH2CH2WA2		i I 1
A. Analytical Column 9 mm x 20 cm		در س	
Adsorbent wt q:	6.6	ו י ס	
Mobile Phase	Acetonitrile/Water 3/1	Acetonitrile/Wate 4/1	л a
rien/lm ····	7.2	7.6	
FLOW RACE: MUL/MALL	65	80	
	Retention Time (min) k ¹	Retention k ¹ Time (min) k	н
Solute		1.2	ı
Solvent front		1.8 0.	. ۲
thymidine	2.6 H.C	3.8	.2
arabinose	 	4.4 2	.6
fructose	0.0 	5.2 3	с .
glucose		8.0	.7
sucrose		9.6	0 * /
maltose		11.0 8	3.2
lactose	~		

be an unusually simple procedure. Acetonitrile-water mobile phases with carbohydrate solutes must be categorized as normal phase chromatography, since in this case water is used to expedite elution.

The acid-base properties of amino bonded derivatives can exhibit wide variations, possibly dependent on the nitrogen content and the amount of cross-linked aminosilane coating on the silica. Whereas our monoamine bonded silica is clearly more basic than the diamine derivative, Jesorek et al (7) described products with quite different behavior. For example, the pH of an aqueous slurry of their mono and diamino derivatives is 8-9 and 9-10, respectively; our comparable pH values are 8.2 and 6.9. Further, they reported the apparent (pKb) of the mono and diamino bonded phases to be 7.0 and 6.4; we found 6.2 and 7.0 after a very slow attainment of equilibrium in a titration with 0.1N HCl. The relative retentivities of our two amine phases correlated with our pK measurements.

2-Carboxyethyl Bonded Phase

The pH of a suspension of the bonded phase in water was 4.1. Table IV shows the behavior of this polar bonded phase under the conditions reported with the amine-bonded derivatives. Again the dominant mechanism appears to be an acid-base interaction, in this case between the carboxylic acid of the solid

		Separation of 2-Carboxyethy	TABLE Amine 1-Deri	IV s on Silica anć vatized Silica	_		
Adsorbent		Silica		$\overset{\text{bi-opsi}}{\overset{\text{cH}_2}{\overset{\text{cH}_2}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}{\overset{\text{old}}{\overset{\text{old}}{\overset{\text{old}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}{\overset{\text{old}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}}{\overset{\text{old}}}{\overset{old}}}{\overset{old}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}$	2соон	()	(5 8
Mobile Phase Flow Rate	qyd	(5.6 g) A 7.5 mL/min Retention Time (min)	кл	A 7.5 mL/min Retention Time (min)	к ¹	B 7. Retention Time (min)	5 mL/min k ^l
Solute						v	
benzene		1.4	ł	1.4	1	1.3	1
aniline	9.42	2.4	0.71	1.5	0.07		
N-N-dimethyl- aniline	8,94	9° 1	0.14	l.4	1		
pyridine	8.77	6.1	3.35	2.4	0.71		
n-butylamine	3.39	>20	ļ	>20	ł	2.5	б°О
diethylamine	2.9	>20	1	>20	1	2.8	1.15
piperidine	2.8	>20	1	>20	}	3.6	1.77
Mobile Phase							
A = Ethyl Acet B = Acetonitri	tate/He>	kane (7/3) nanol/Acetic Aci	√1/6 Þ	0.12			

2289

phase and the basic group of the solute. As would be predicted, retention times increase with a decrease in the pKb of the solute, but the interaction becomes important only with moderately strong bases. A weak base such as aniline is practically unretained; pyridine (pKb = 8.77) binds more tightly and is easily separated from aniline (pKb = 9.42). With the increased basicity of aliphatic amines, however, strong interaction with the carboxyl groups of the sorbent occurs; retention times beyond 20 minutes are observed.

A mobile phase of substantially stronger elution strength (acetonitrile/methanol/acetic acid 9/1/0.12) removes n-butylamine, diethylamine and piperidine at 2.5, 2.8 and 3.6 minutes, respectively. These amines elute in order of their basicities; the α value of 1.97 for piperidine and n-butylamine represents a fairly easy separation.

As Table IV shows, this carboxylic acid bonded phase is less retentive than free silica for weakly basic compounds. For example, under comparable conditions, aniline and pyridine are eluted from silica at 2.4 and 6.1 minutes, but in 1.5 and 2.4 minutes from the acid derivative. Since a suspension of silica in water gave a neutral pH, its bonding properties can be attributed to the polar properties of the free silanol groups rather than the acidic nature of silica.

As one inspects all the retention data for the three bonded phases plus silica, it becomes clear that collectively they offer the preparative chromatographer a new dimension in optimizing practical separations on a preparative scale. By selecting the appropriate solid phase for his compound, he can maintain the convenience of isocratic elution with readily volatile solvents. For example, ethyl acetate/hexane mobile phases resolve moderately acidic compounds on the diamine phase, weakly acidic on the monoamine phase and neutral and weakly basic compounds on silica. Moderately to strongly basic compounds can be resolved on the carboxylic acid bonded phase with a volatile mobile phase of strong solvent strength. Ultimately, the limit to this approach is solubility. Strongly acidic and basic materials usually require aqueous systems and the advantage of a volatile solvent is lost.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank Dr. A. J. Barnard, Jr. for the aqueous titrations of the two amino bonded phases.

REFERENCES

1.	Jones, A. D., Burns, T. W., Sellings, S. G., a Cox, J. A., J. Chromatogr., <u>144</u> (1977) 169.	ind
2.	Pirkle, W. H. and Finn, J. M., J. Org. Chem. 4 (1981) 2935.	16

- 3. Saunders, D. L., Anal. Chem., 46 (1974) 470.
- Unger, K., 11th Northeast Regional Meeting, American Chemical Society, Rochester, NY, October 18-21, 1981.
- 5. Schabron, J. F., Hurtubise, R. J., and Silver, H. F., Anal. Chem., <u>50</u> (13)(1978) 1911.
- 6. Becker, N. and Unger, K., Z. Anal. Chem., <u>304</u> (1980) 374.
- Jezorek, J. R., Fuloher, C., Crowell, M. A., Bayliss, R., Greenwood, B. and Lyon, J., Anal. Chim. Acta, 131 (1981) 223.

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2293-2309 (1982)

THE EFFECT OF SILANOL MASKING ON THE RECOVERY OF PICLORAM AND OTHER SOLUTES FROM A HYDROCARBONACEOUS PRE-ANALYSIS EXTRACTION COLUMN

Martha J. M. Wells Southern Forest Experiment Station George W. Andrews Forestry Sciences Laboratory Devall Street Auburn University, Alabama 36849

ABSTRACT

The recoveries of picloram, picloram-methylester, hexazinone, benzene, and acetophenone from aqueous samples were studied using a commercially available hydrocarbonaceous pre-analysis extraction cartridge, both with and without tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (TBAHS) in the eluent. Extraction efficiency was found to be dependent on sample loading volume. The results suggest a mixed mechanism of retention involving both "silanophilic" and "hydrophobic" interactions in the absence of tetrabutylammonium ion. The ability of TBAHS to mask surface silanol groups and/or ion-pair with counterionic solutes is invoked to explain the observations. Chromatograms of the solutes obtained on a C₁₈ bonded analytical column in both the presence and absence of TBAHS are also presented.

INTRODUCTION

Some organic compounds are efficiently removed from solution by contact with an adsorbent via adsorption trapping (1). Silica gel bonded with hydrocarbonaceous ligands, i.e. reversed-phase material, is a potentially useful adsorbent for extraction and concentration of organic compounds from aqueous samples. The sample adsorption/desorption process from hydrocarbonaceous stationary phase material consists of three steps: (a) an organic solvent followed by aqueous prewash, (b) charging the sample to

2293

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

the column from an aqueous matrix, and (c) sample desorption involving the elimination of low or high polarity contaminants which may or may not precede removal of the compound of interest. Retention for this process is collected by the percent recovery or efficiency.

However, chromatographic effects attributed to unmasked silanol groups in reversed-phase analytical columns (2-6) may also affect the recovery of adsorbate from reversed-phase pre-analysis extraction columns. Several manufacturers now offer C_{18} bonded phases in convenient-to-use disposable cartridges, but these products vary as to the extent of free silanol groups remaining in the bonded phase material.

The presence of solvent-accessible silanol groups in chemically bonded stationary phases for reversed-phase liquid chromatography (RPLC) can lead to a dual retention mechanism (2-4). Horvath et al. (5,6) postulate that both "hydrophobic" and "silanophilic" interactions occur. Depending on the manner in which a hydrocarbonaceous bonded phase is produced (7-9), some silanol groups will remain unreacted due to steric inhibition; furthermore, SiOH groups may be reformed in the work-up procedure if bifunctional or trifunctional modifers are used (10,11). These silanol groups can produce undesirable effects on column stability, retention, and peak symmetry due to the reduced hydrophobic character of the surface (2,3).

The technique of "capping" accessible silanol groups with a small silane such as trimethylchlorosilane has been used to improve retention characteristics (3,4). Nondek and Vyskocil (12) demonstrated that the concentration of hydroxyl groups could be greatly reduced by this procedure. Protonated alkylamines (6,13) and lipophilic quaternary ammonium salts (6) have been added to the mobile phase in RPLC to reduce the silanophilic influence upon retention by preferential adsorption of these charged species on cesidual silanol sites.

The previously reported work has dealt with the problem of situal groups cemaining on reversed phase material used in ana-

2294

lytical columns. The purpose of this paper is to report results observed when TBAHS was used to minimize silanophilic interactions in solute adsorption/desorption from a commercially available C_{18} -bonded pre-analysis extraction column.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Apparatus

The liquid chromatograph consisted of a Waters (Milford, MA) Model 6000A solvent pump, Model 710B intelligent sample processor, Model 440 UV absorbance detector, and a Houston Instrument (Austin, TX) recorder. Hypodermic syringes with Luer Lok tips were purchased from Becton-Dickson (Rutherford, NJ) and a Filtrator from Fisher Scientific (Pittsburgh, PA).

Reagents and Chemicals

Spectrophotometric grade acetonitrile (ACN) and glacial acetic acid (HOAc) were obtained from Burdick and Jackson Laboratories, Inc. (Muskegon, MI) and J.T. Baker Chemical Co. (Phillipsburg, NJ), respectively. Water was processed with a Bion Exchange system purchased from Pierce Chemical Company (Rockford, IL). Tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (TBAHS) and acetophenone were purchased from Aldrich Chemical Company, Inc. (Milwaukee, WI), and benzene from Fisher Scientific. Picloram (99.0%) and picloram-methyl ester (99.7%) were obtained from the Dow Chemical Company (Midland, MI) and hexazinone (analytical standard, 99+%) from E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co. (Wilmington, DE).

Chromatographic Procedures

SEP-PAK C18 cartridges were purchased from Waters Associates, Inc. House vacuum (530 mm Hg) was used to pull the samples through the reversed-phase cartridges. Preparation of the cartridges and charging of the sample was accomplished by using a side arm filtering flask. For component elution, a Fisher Filtrator was used to collect the sample directly into a 10.0 mL volumetric flask. Individual sample solutions of acetophenone, benzene, picloram, picloram-methyl ester and hexazinone were prepared by adding 1.0 uL, 2.5 uL, 4.3 ug, 57.5 ug and 13.0 ug respectively to the appropriate volume of 4% acetic acid with or without 10 mM TBAHS. The following procedures were used for sample concentration of C_{18} SEP-PAK cartridges:

1) Prewash of cartridges with 5 mL ACN followed by 10 mL of 4% HOAc or 4% HOAc/10 mM TBAHS.

- 2) Loading of sample in 1.0 mL of 4% HOAc or 4% HOAc/10 mM TBAHS.
- 3) Desorption by 9.0 mL of 25% HOAc or 25% HOAc/10 mM TBAHS.

4) Samples were then diluted to 10.0 mL and analyzed by RPLC.

Two Ultrasphere ODS (5 μ m, spherical porous particle) columns (1UE732N and 1UE747N) were obtained from Altex Scientific, Inc. (Berkeley, CA) and used in this study. The analytical column was preceded by a guard column, 7 cm by 2.1 mm i.d. dry packed with Whatman CO:PELL ODS (30-38 μ m). After equilibration, mobile phase solvent mixtures were degassed in an ultrasonic bath. The mobile phase consisted of mixtures of water, acetic acid, and acetonitrile with or without the presence of 10 mM TBAHS, at a flow rate of 1.5 mL/min. The ultraviolet detector was operated at 254 nm.

Calculations

Determinations of retention times and integration of peak areas were performed by a Perkin-Elmer Model Sigma 10B data handling system (Norwalk, CT). Direct comparison of peak areas with external standards was used to determine sample concentration.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The recovery of the herbicide picloram from aqueous environmental samples following concentration by hydrocarbonaceous extraction cartridges is of current interest in this laboratory. Bushway (14) demonstrated quantitative recoveries of carbaryl and 1-naphthol following trace enrichment of one liter water samples by passage through C_{18} SEP-PAK cartridges. Beier and Greenblatt (15) recovered up to 80% of some lacinilines and cadalenes by extraction and concentration of one liter aqueous samples with SEP-PAK C_{18} cartridges. However when attempts were made to effect the trace enrichment of large volume water samples containing picloram using SEP-PAK C_{18} cartridges, recoveries were found to be very dependent upon sample loading volume. A profile of the dependence of percent recovery upon sample loading volume for picloram (Fig. 1) shows that less than 50% recovery was obtained for a sample throughput of 25 mL. A similar non-linear dependence of extraction efficiency upon sample loading volume was demonstrated by Saner <u>et al.</u> (16) for some simple aromatic solutes and Nyagah (17) for the recovery of the herbicide pyrazon from SEP-PAK C₁₈ cartridges.

Since silanophilic interactions have been implicated in chromatography on analytical reversed-phase columns, the participation of silanol groups in the recovery of adsorbate from hydrocarbonaceous cartridges is also possible. To establish the nature of this contribution, TBAHS was chosen as a silanol masking agent



FIGURE 1. Percent recovery of picloram as a function of sample loading volume either with (...) or without (---) TBAHS.

(6). The recovery profile for picloram as a function of sample volume was obtained with TBAHS (10 mM) added to each of the three steps of the adsorption/desorption process and is shown in Fig. 1. In the presence of TBAHS, the recovery of picloram was still curvilinear and dependent upon sample loading volume, but the efficiency was much improved for sample volumes greater than 10 mL.

To elucidate the results observed during the determination of picloram, the percentage recovery of other solutes (Fig. 2) representing diversity in polarity was studied as a function of the loading volume of the sample. All experiments were conducted under optimal conditions for picloram recovery for purposes of comparison and may not produce the best recovery for the other solutes. Acetic acid (4%) was used for pH control to enhance the retention of picloram (pKa=1.97) (18) by ion suppression (19). Acetic acid (25%) was optimal for the desorption of picloram. Experiments were performed both with and without 10 mM TBAHS in the prewash, sample loading, and desorption eluents. When samples containing TBAHS in the desorption solvent were analyzed on a C18 analytical column, the HPLC eluent was also modified with 10 mM TBAHS. The presence of TBAHS produced a slower drip rate from the cartridges, as well as a slightly higher back pressure in the chromatograph, presumably due to an increase in viscosity.

For the non-polar solute benzene, the alteration of the recovery plot upon addition of a silanol masking agent should be minimal. Indeed, the offset of the plots in Fig. 3B is likely due to the slight increase in the carbon coverage of the surface from adsorbed TBAHS resulting in a small increase in extraction efficiency. The maxima observed toward low loading volumes in Fig. 3 are curious, and may be dependent upon the manner in which the data were collected. The aqueous wash of the cartridge prior to charging of the sample may have been insufficient to remove all of the adsorbed acetonitrile.

Acetophenone represents a moderately polar, non-ionizable solute. The recovery of acetophenone versus loading volume is



FIGURE 2. Compounds included in this study: (1) beuzene,
(2) acetophenone, (3) picloram (4-amino-3,5,6-trichloropicolinic acid), (4) picloram-methyl ester, and (5) herazinone (3-cyclohexyl 6- (dimethylamino)-domethyl-1,3,5-triazinc-2,4 (10, 30) dioue)

illustrated in Fig. 3A. At sample loading volumes greater than 22 mL, the recovery of acetophenone was greater without the silancl masking agent. In the absence of TBAHS, hydrogen bonding between surface silanol groups and the polar carbonyl function in acetophenone enhances the overall adsorption to the stationary phase and thereby increases the vesultant recovery. Therefore, a dual retention mechanism, the silanophilic as well as hydrophobic, is not always detrimental to an analysis.



FIGURE 3. Percent recovery as a function of sample loading volume for (A) acetophenone and (B) benzene, either with (···) or without (---) TBAHS.

The chromatographic consequences of masking silanol groups with TBAHS are two-fold. The number of electrical charges on the bonded phase surface (20) is reduced by the adsorption of the tetrabutylammonium moiety on unreacted silanol groups. The interaction also slightly increases the total hydrocarbonaceous content of the stationary phase.

Tanaka <u>et al</u>. (2) have shown on C_{18} bonded analytical columns that relative to benzene, retention of toluene decreased and retention of acetophenone increased with increased exposure to silanol groups. Cooke and Olsen (3) illustrated the capacity factor changes (d=decreased, i=increased) for acetophenone (d), nitrobenzene (d) benzene (i), and toluene (i) after the end-capping of a C_{18} analytical column. These changes in capacity factor are

analogous to the changes in efficiency observed for benzene and acetophenone in these recovery experiments.

Results obtained on analytical columns (2) suggest that silanols interact most with functional groups made up of electron rich atoms, such as hydroxyl, carbonyl, nitrile, and nitro moieties, and therefore are expected to exert the greatest effect upon compounds containing such groups. Even the most commonly used organic modifiers for the mobile phase, methanol and acetonitrile, are also competing for adsorption on silanol sites (2) with methanol apparently being bound in preference to acetonitrile (6).

For ionizable compounds even greater effects would be expected upon masking the electrically charged surface with TBAHS. Picloram, <u>3A</u>, can exist as: (a) the neutral molecule, (b) the conjugate acid (formed by protonation of the base functionality), (c) the conjugate base (due to ionization of the carbonyl group), and (d) the zwitterion, 3B, (18,21). Zwitterion formation is also



observed in other pyridine carboxylic acids (22). Intramolecular hydrogen bonding helps to reinforce structure <u>3B</u>. This complicates measurement of the acid dissociation constant for picloram. Reported pKa values range from 2.8 to 4.1. The most reliable value seems to be that of Osteryoung and Whittaker (18) who report a pKa' value of 1.97 for picloram, representing a combined equilibrium constant for the dissociation of both the neutral and zwitterionic forms. The pKa for the amine group of picloram is estimated at -2.0 to -1.3 (18), so the concentration of the conjugate acid is negligible under the experimental conditions used here. In 4% acetic acid (pH=2.5), some equilibrium exists between the central molecule, the zwitterion, and the conjugate base. The presence of negative sites on the bouded phase surface greatly reduces retention (and therefore recovery) by inhibiting interaction with the bouded phase ligand $(C_{1B})_{\circ}$.

The possible contribution of ion-pair formation to the improvement of the recovery observed for picloram cannot be ignored. Strong acids can be retained throughout the usable pH range for bonded phase materials (pH2-8) by ion-pairing with lipophilic quaternary ammonium salts. Complexation with the tetrabutylammonium counterion (in the mobile phase or at the bonded phase surface) would increase the hydrophobicity of the picloram anion and increase retention on a reversed-phase adsorbent.

In order to pursue this problem, the dependence of recovery upon loading volume was plotted for the methyl ester of picloram, <u>4</u>, in Fig. 4. Zwitterion formation is blocked in the ester and ion-pairs with TBAHS would not occur. Fig. 4 demonstrates the improvement in recovery of picloram-methyl ester due to silanol masking. The comparison of Figs. 1 and 4 cannot be expected to be additive, because the methyl group not only blocks ionization, but also contributes its own hydrophobicity. The conclusion then, is that the improvement in the recovery of picloram (Fig. 1) is probably due to a combination of silanol masking and ion-pairing, while the improvement for the methyl ester (Fig. 4) is attributed to silanol masking alone.

The recent results of Nyagah (17) in developing a recovery analysis for the herbicide pyrazon (5--amino-4--chloro-2--phyenyl--3-pyridizone) lend further support to these observations. The recovery of pyrazon from C_{18} cartridges was shown to be dependent upon the concentration of NaCl in the sample. Nyagah found that NaCl added to water samples containing pyrazon greatly improved the recovery of this solute from SEP-PAK C_{18} cartridges, and proposed that the added salt decreased the water solubility of pyrazon thereby increasing adsorption onto the C_{18} bonded Ligand. Palusova et al. (23) have shown that the addition of sodium chloride to water containing pyrazon increased the yield of this



FIGURE 4. Percent recovery of picloram-methyl ester as a function of sample loading volume either with (...) or without (...) TBAHS.

herbicide in the organic solvent because this decreased the solubility of the extracting solvent in water. The quantitative recovery of pyrazon from 500 mL water samples containing 25% NaCl demonstrated by Nyagah (17) may actually be another example of silanol masking. Saturation of the silanol groups on ODS (Octyldecasily1) silica columns by inorganic salts added to the eluent was first established by Knox and Jurand (24). The ability of a potassium phosphate buffer to attenuate the untoward effects of the Donnan equilibrium and ion exclusion due to electrical charges on the bonded phase surface of analytical columns has been shown (25). In this lab, the mean values for the extraction of 800 mL water samples containing picloram demonstrated no difference by Student's t (P>0.20) whether the sample was acidified

WELLS

to pH2 with H₂SO₄ or acidified with H₃PO₄ and NaCl (4%) added prior to extraction with diethyl ether. Andrews and Good (26) tested the recovery of pesticides from various types of water samples with C_{18} Bond Elut columns and found that recovery improved for 6 of the 7 compounds examined when distilled water samples (100 mL) were compared to water samples containing salt or up to 10% methanol. These results are compatible with the argument presented here as both methanol (6) and inorganic salts (24) adsorb on silanol sites.

The ionic species of picloram is negatively charged in 4% acetic acid, while the dimethylamino group of hexazinone, <u>5</u>, is protonated resulting in a positive charge. This positive charge should effect a reduction in hexazinone recovery. However, the increase in recovery found for hexazinone upon addition to TBAHS (Fig. 5) suggests that the effects of silanol masking outweigh the expected reduction in recovery due to like charge competition.

A chromatogram of the five solutes further emphasizes the positive effects of silanol masking in this instance. The analytical column used in this experiment was end-capped by the manufacturer, therefore solvent-accessible silanol groups are minimal. Alteration in the chromatogram of the solutes compared in this study upon the addition of TBAHS is shown in Fig. 6. Table 1 lists the solute capacity factors for the chromatograms in Fig. 6. Each k' value represents the average of four injections. The chromatograms were recorded using the same solvent batch, half of which had been made 10 mM in tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate. The capacity factors for benzene, acetophenone, and picloram-methyl ester were each decreased approximately 3% by the addition of TBAHS. The retention of acetophenone and piclorammethyl ester relative to benzene, as given by the α_x value, did not change however. Since these three diverse solutes behaved similarly, there appear to be no observable SiOH interactions in this analytical column.

The capacity factor of picloram nearly doubled when TBAHS was added to the eluent while $k^{\,\prime}$ for hexazinone decreased by about

2304



FIGURE 5. Percent recovery of hexazinone as a function of sample loading volume either with (...) or without (---) TBAHS.

TABLE 1

Experimentally Determined Capacity Factors, $k^{*},$ on Ultrasphere ODS (luE747N)

$\alpha_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{k'_x}/\mathbf{k'_{benzene}}$

	43	% Acetic	Acid/Acetonitrile	(70:30)
	No Add	ed TBAHS	TBAHS	(10 mM)
Solute (x)	<u>k'</u>	ax	k*	_0 <u>x</u> _
picloram	1.13	0.10	2.03	0.19
hexazinone	3.51	0.32	2.77	0.26
acetophenone	4.42	0.40	4.25	0.40
picloram- methyl ester	6.88	0.63	6.67	0.63
benzene	10.93	1.00	10.60	1.00



FIGURE 6. RPLC elution on Ultrasphere ODS (1UE747N) in 4% acetic acid/acetonitrile (70:30): (A) without TBA, (B) containing 10 mM TBA. Peaks: (1) picloram, (2) hexazinone, (3) acetophenone, (4) picloram-methyl ester, and (5) benzene.

TABLE 2

Summary of Chromatographic Results Produced by Addition of TBADS (10 mM).

	Sep-Pak	Analytical
Solute	Recovery	Column Retention
benzene	increased	slíght decrease
acetophenone	decreased	slight decrease
picloram	increased	increased
picloram methyl ester	increased	slight decrease
hexazinone	increased	decreased

20%. Since there seems to be little or no interaction attributable to silanol groups in this column, the observed increase for picloram must be the result of ion-pair formation between picloram and the TBAHS added to the mobile phase. Based on this result and those for picloram-methyl ester, it appears that the improvement in recovery for picloram observed in Fig. 1 is due to both silanol masking and ion-pair formation. The reduction in k' for hexazinone is produced by like-charge competition between the hexazinone and TBAHS moleties. Table 2 summarizes the results of both the extraction column and analytical column studies.

CONCLUSIONS

The heterogeniety of covalently bonded hydrocarbonaceous stationary phases can lead to a mixed mechanism of retention. The potential problem of residual silanol groups is common to all hydrocarbonaceous bonded materials whether used as analytical columns or preconcentration cartridges. End-capping appears to successfully reduce the number of solvent-accessible silanol groups in reversed-phase sorbents, but may not be economically feasible for pre-analysis extraction columns. Silanol masking with lipophilic quaternary ammonium ions is a viable alternative. For complicated molecules having a diversity of functional groups, the interactions become more complex and masking SiOH groups may or may not improve recovery. Ion-pairing techniques, already well developed for use in reversed-phase analytical columns, can be used to improve extraction efficiency from hydrocarbonaceous recovery columns.

REFERENCES

- Ogan, K., Katz, E., and Slavin, W., J. Chromatogr. Sci., 16, 517(1978).
- Tanaka, N., Goodell, H., and Karger, B. L., J. Chromatogr., 158, 233(1978).
- Cooke, N. H. C., and Olsen, K., J. Chromatogr. Sci., <u>18</u> 512(1980).
- 4. Ogan, K., and Katz, E., J. Chromatogr., 188, 115(1980).
- 5. Nahum, A., and Horvath, C., J. Chromatogr., 203 53(1981).
- Bij, K. E., Horvath, C., Melander, W. R., and Nahum, A., J. Chromatogr., <u>203</u>, 65(1981).
- 7. Colin, H., and Guiochon, G., J. Chromatogr., 141, 289(1977).
- Karch, K., Sebestian, I., and Halasz, I., J. Chromatogr., <u>122</u>, 3(1976).
- 9. Rehak, V., and Smolkova, E., Chromatographia, 9, 219(1976).
- 10. Halasz, I., Anal. Chem., 52, 1393A(1980).
- 11. Roumeliotis, P., and Unger, K. K., J. Chromatogr., <u>149</u>, 211(1978).
- 12. Nondek, L., and Vyskocil, V., J. Chromatogr., 206, 581(1981).
- Sokolowski, A., and Wahlund, K. -G., J. Chromatogr., <u>189</u>, 299(1980).
- 14. Bushway, R. J., J. Chromatogr., 211, 135(1981).
- 15. Beier, R. C., and Greenblatt, G. A., J. Liq. Chromatogr., $\underline{4},$ 515(1981).

- 16. Saner, W. A., Jadamec, J. R., Sager, R. W., and Killeen, T. J., Anal. Chem., <u>51</u>, 2180(1979).
- 17. Nyagah, G., J. Chromatogr. Sci., 19, 500(1981).
- 18. Osteryoung, J., and Whittaker, J. W., J. Agric. Food Chem., 28, 95(1980).
- 19. Bildlingmeyer, B. A., J. Chromatogr. Sci., 18, 525(1980).
- 20. Berendsen, G. E., Shoenmakers, P. J., de Galan, L., Vigh, G., Varga-Puchony, Z., and Inczedy, J., J. Liq. Chromatogr., <u>3</u>, 1669(1980).
- 21. Saha, J. G., and Gadallah, L. A., J. A. O. A. C., 50, 637(1967).
- 22. Abramovitch, R. A., Ed., Pyridine and Its Derivatives, Supplement Part Three, John Wiley & Sons, New York, N. Y., 1974, p. 281.
- 23. Palusova, O., Sackmauerova, M., and Madaric, A., J. Chromatogr., <u>106</u>, 405(1975).
- 24. Knox, J. H., and Jurand, J., J. Chromatogr., 142, 651(1977).
- 25. Wells, M. J. M., and Clark, C. R., Anal. Chem., 53, 1341(1981).
- 26. Andrews, J. S., and Good, T. J., Am. Lab., 14 (4), 70(1982).

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2311-2320 (1982)

PREPARATION AND PURIFICATION OF TRITIATED DEXTROMETHORPHAN

Gale L. Craviso, Robert Nodar and José M. Musacchio Department of Pharmacology New York University Medical Center 550 First Avenue New York, NY 10016

ABSTRACT

Tritiated dextromethorphan (${}^{3}\text{H-DM}$) was prepared from dextrorphan and purified by reverse-phase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The tritiated drug was found to be homogeneous and identical to authentic unlabeled DM by both HPLC and thin layer chromatography. The specific radioactivity of ${}^{3}\text{H-DM}$ was 26 Ci/mmole.

INTRODUCTION

Dextromethorphan (DM) is a non-narcotic antitussive which suppresses cough by an action on the central nervous system. Although little is known concerning the mechanism of action of this drug, the structural similarity of DM to codeine has suggested that DM acts at the same central sites as codeine to suppress cough. However, Cavanagh et al. (1) have recently demonstrated that naloxone antagonizes the antitussive effects of codeine and other opiate analgesics but does not antagonize the antitussive activity of DM. These findings indicate different modes of action for the cough suppressant effects of DM and codeine.

2311

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

Since DM does not elicit its antitussive effects by an opiate receptor interaction, as evidenced by the lack of effect of naloxone, the possibility exists that this drug acts at other specific central nervous system sites which can be detected by an appropriate binding assay procedure. To study such a possibility, we have prepared tritium labeled DM (3 H-DM) of high specific activity, and, as initially reported (2-4), we have found specific high affinity binding sites for DM in guinea-pig brain which may be related to the antitussive effects of the drug.

The present report describes the preparation of 3 H-DM and its purification by reverse-phase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Since it is necessary that the radioligands used in binding studies be at the minimum 95 percent pure (5), it was essential for us to develop simple chromatographic systems in which we could obtain pure 3 H-DM in good yield. Dixon et al. (6) have described a method to purify 3 H-DM using column chromatography and thin layer chromatography (TLC) but the purity and recovery of 3 H-DM achieved by their procedures were not stated.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Dextrorphan tartrate and dextromethorphan hydrobromide were generously supplied by Hoffman-La Roche (Nutley, NJ). N-methyl-N'-nitro-N-nitroso guanidine and the diazomethanegenerating apparatus were obtained from Aldrich Chemical Co. (Milwaukee, WI). n-Nonylamine was purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Acetonitrile and n-propanol were HPLC grade (Burdick and Jackson) and all other reagents were Fisher ACS reagent grade. Acetic acid, acetonitrile, triethylamine and n-propanol were distilled over ninhydrin prior to use.

2312

Deionized water (Hydro Systems, Durham, SC) was used in the preparation of all aqueous buffers.

Chromatography

The HPLC equipment consisted of a Milton-Roy Simplex minipump, model 396-31 (Riviera Beach, FL) and a Rheodyne #70-10 sample injection valve with a 1 ml loop (Rainin Instrument Co., Inc., Ridgefield, NJ); gradients were generated by an LKB Ultragrad 11300 gradient maker (Rockville, MD). Separations were performed on an Altex Lichrosorb RP-18 column (10 µm particle size, 4.6 x 250 mm) or an Altex Ultrasphere-cyano column (5 µm particle size, 4.6 x 250 mm). UV determinations of the column effluents were made with a Beckman System 25 spectrophotometer and radioactivity was determined in a Beckman LS-230 liquid scintillation counter using a phase-combining scintillant (Liquiscint) from National Diagnostics (Somerville, NJ). The presence of n-nonylamine in the column effluents was monitored by an automated fluorescamine-based detection system (7) using a Spectra/Glo Model FL-1B Fluorometer (Gilson Medical Electronics, Inc., Middleton, WI) coupled to a Linear dual channel recorder (Irvine, CA). During the preparation of mobile phase solvents, aqueous buffers were filtered through Millipore HA 0.45 µm filters and organic solvents through millipore FH 0.5 µm filters. Prior to use all solvents were thoroughly degassed.

TLC was carried out on Whatman LK5D silica gel G plates and DM standards were visualized with iodoplatinate.

Fluorescence Spectroscopy

Fluorescence spectroscopy of labeled and unlabeled DM was performed with a Perkin-Elmer Model 650-10S spectrofluorometer coupled to a Perkin-Elmer recorder (Norwalk, CT).

Preparation of Diazomethane

Diazomethane was generated by the action of alkali on N-methyl-N'-nitro.N-nitroso guanidine using the procedure and apparatus described by Fales et al. (8).

Preparation of ³H-DM from dextrorphan

Iodination of dextrorphan [(+)-3-hydroxy-17-methylmorphinan] was carried out by the method of Grewe et al. (9). Briefly, 255 mg of dextrorphan tartrate were dissolved in water and the free base (0.6 mmole) obtained by the addition of 1 N sodium hydroxide. A solution of iodine (0.6 mmole) in potassium iodide (0.9 mmole) was added dropwise and with constant stirring to the dextrorphan solution. After 10 minutes the solution was bubbled with 100% CO_{2} and filtered. The precipitate was washed twice with water, dried under vacuum and taken up in chloroform. The chloroform was then evaporated at 50°C under a stream of N_{2} and iodinated dextrorphan obtained by crystallization from methanol. 60 mg of the iodinated compound were sent to New England Nuclear Corp. (Boston, MA) and tritiated by catalytic reduction with 25 Ci of tritium gas to a specific activity of 60.4 mCi/mg. Methylation of ³H-dextrorphan to form tritiated (+)-3-methoxy-17-methylmorphinan (³H-DM) was carried out by reacting 2-8 mCi of ³H-dextrorphan with diazomethane in ether for 30 minutes at 0°C. At the end of the reaction, ether and residual diazomethane were removed by a stream of N_{2} and the components of the reaction mixture subjected to HPLC as described in the next section. The yield of ³H-DM varied between 20 and 50 percent.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

HPLC systems were initially designed to achieve a good separation of DM from dextrorphan. Because DM is more lipophilic than dextrorphan, such a separation on an octadecylsilane column (RP-18) could be readily obtained. However, DM exhibited long retention times with asymmetric peaks and severe tailing and this behavior was observed even when ion-pairing reagents were present in the mobile phase. Several investigators who observed similar phenomena during ion-pair HPLC of hydrophobic cationic drugs found that retention time and peak symmetry could be dramatically improved when long-chain alkyl ammonium compounds were included in the mobile phase (10,11). This approach was investigated and the nine-carbon ammonium compound, n-nonylamine, was incorporated into the mobile phase. The results were quite satisfactory in that retention time of DM was significantly reduced and peak shape greatly improved.

As Fig. 1 illustrates, an excellent separation of DM from dextrorphan was obtained using a 2-30% acetonitrile gradient in 0.1 M acetic acid, 0.01 M n-nonylamine. In addition, this HPLC system also resolved 3 H-DM from several tritiated side products of the methylating reaction (Fig. 1). The radioactive profile of an aliquot from a typical diazomethane reaction mixture shows not only a distinct peak of radioactivity eluting in the same position as unlabeled DM but also two other radioactive peaks with significantly greater retention times. Recovery of radioactivity in this system was greater than 90 percent.

When an entire reaction mixture was subjected to HPLC using the system just described, the elution volume corresponding to the DM peak was collected as four individual fractions (similar to #20,21,22 and 23 in Fig. 1) which were not pooled. Aliquots of each of these fractions were analyzed for radiochemical purity by rechromatographing on the same HPLC system and by TLC in two solvent systems: (chloroform:methanol:ammonium hydroxide, 75:25:0.3; ethanol:acetic acid:water, 60:30:10). The results from these chromatographic analyses indicated that the earliest



FIGURE 1. Reverse-phase HPLC of ³H-DM prepared by methylation of ³H-dextrorphan. An aliquot from a typical diazomethane reaction mixture was applied to an RP-18 column and the radioactivity eluted with a 2-30% acetonitrile gradient in 0.1 M acetic acid, 0.01 M n-nonylamine. Two ml fractions were collected at a flow rate of 0.67 ml/min. Recovery of radioactivity was 91 percent. Also shown is the elution profile for 0.7 μ moles of unlabeled dextrorphan (DX) and 0.7 μ moles of unlabeled DM.

eluting fraction (#20) was impure. During the HPLC analysis only 60 percent of the radioactivity of fraction #20 co-eluted with the peak of unlabeled DM. TLC analysis yielded a similar estimation of purity since it was observed that less than 50 percent of the radioactivity of fraction #20 migrated with unlabeled DM. In contrast to the heterogeneous nature of the radioactivity in the early DM peak fraction (#20), the radioactivity in the next three fractions (#21-23) appeared homogeneous and behaved identical to that of authentic unlabeled DM during HPLC and TLC analysis.



FIGURE 2. Reverse-phase HPLC of the radioactivity of fraction #20. An aliquot of fraction #20, mixed with 50 nmoles of unlabeled DM, was applied to an Ultrasphere-cyano column and eluted with a 10-60% acetonitrile gradient in 7.5 mM H₃PO₄, 10 mM triethylamine, pH 4.0. One ml fractions were collected at a flow rate of 0.6 ml/min. Recovery of radioactivity from the column was 99%.

The radioactive homogeneity of fractions #21-23 was further established by reverse-phase HPLC on an Ultrasphere-cyano column using a 10-60% acetonitrile gradient in 7.5 mM H_3PO_4 , 10 mM triethylamine. The resolving power of this system is demonstrated in Fig. 2 where it can be seen that three tritiated species in addition to ³H-DM are present in fraction #20. In agreement with the results obtained by TLC analysis, ³H-DM accounts for less than 50 percent of the radioactivity of this fraction. When fractions #21-23 of the ³H-DM peak were analyzed by this same HPLC system, one homogeneous peak of radioactivity co-eluting with authentic unlabeled DM was found for all three fractions. Based on these results as well as the previous analyses by HPLC and TLC, 3 H-DM in the three later peak fractions was considered radiochemically pure and used for subsequent binding studies without further purification.

Having achieved the purification of tritium labeled DM, it was necessary to remove n-nonylamine from the 3 H-DM preparations since it interfered with the binding assay. Although n-nonylamine could be removed by evaporation under reduced pressure, this procedure resulted in significant losses of the tritiated drug. Therefore, n-nonylamine was separated from 3 H-DM by reverse-phase HPLC on an octadecylsilane column using a 10-40% n-propanol gradient in 10 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 4.0. Recovery of 3 H-DM during this procedure was greater than 95 percent.

Tritiated DM was stored at 4°C in the propanol-phosphate buffer with no chemical deterioration in one year. The concentration of labeled drug was determined by fluorescence spectroscopy using excitation and emission wavelengths of 230 nm and 305 nm respectively. A specific activity of 26 Ci/mmole was calculated for the final 3 H-DM product. During the fluorescence determinations it was observed that the excitation and emission spectra of radioactive DM were identical to that of authentic unlabeled DM.

In conclusion, we have described the preparation of tritium labeled DM and the chromatographic procedures used to obtain 3 H-DM in radiochemically pure form. Our results have clearly demonstrated that reverse-phase HPLC is an excellent method to purify 3 H-DM. By incorporating n-nonylamine into the mobile phase buffer, a significant portion of the 3 H-DM peak eluted from the RP-18 column during the first HPLC step was pure. Even though n-nonylamine was an interfering substance in our binding assay and had to be removed from the 3 H-DM preparation by an additional HPLC step, the overall methods we have reported are fast, simple and yield excellent recoveries. Since TLC is a standard method for purifying radioligands used in binding studies, it is perhaps relevant to mention that this chromatographic procedure was our preliminary method for isolating ³H-DM. However, we found that as a routine preparative procedure, TLC provided neither the recovery nor the purity of ³H-DM that was subsequently achieved by HPLC. Nevertheless, TLC served as a useful analytical procedure for assessing the purity of ³H-DM isolated by HPLC.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors thank Dr. Arnold A. Liebman (Hoffman-LaRoche, Nutley, N.Y.) for providing suggestions on the iodination of dextrorphan. This work was supported by PHS grants No. 1 RO1 DA02013, MH29591, MH17785 and a Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association Predoctoral Fellowship to G.L. Craviso.

REFERENCES

- 1. Cavanagh, R.L., Gylys, J.A. and Bierwagen, M.E., Antitussive properties of butorphanol, Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn., 220, 258, 1976.
- Craviso, G.L. and Musacchio, J.M., High affinity binding of the antitussive dextromethorphan to guinea-pig brain, Eur. J. Pharmacol., <u>65</u>, 451, 1980.
- 3. Craviso, G.L. and Musacchio, J.M., High affinity dextromethorphan binding sites in guinea-pig brain: I. Initial characterization. Submitted for publication.
- Craviso, G.L. and Musacchio, J.M., High affinity dextromethrophan binding sites in guinea-pig brain: II. Competition studies. Submitted for publication.
- 5. Bennet, J.P., Jr., <u>Neurotransmitter Receptor Binding</u>, Yamamura, H.I., Enna, S.J. and Kuhar, M.J., eds., Raven Press, New York, 1978, p. 60.
- 6. Dixon, R., Carbone, J.J., Mohacsi, E. and Perry, C., Dextromethorphan: Radioimmunoassay and pharmacokinetics in

the dog, Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol., <u>22</u>, 243, 1978.

- Bohlen, P., Stein, S., Stone, J. and Udenfriend, S., Automatic monitoring of primary amines in preparative column effluents with fluorescamine, Anal. Biochem., 67, 438, 1975.
- 8. Fales, H.M., Jaouni, T.M. and Babashak, J.F., Simple device for preparing ethereal diazomethane without resorting to codistillation, Anal. Chem., 45, 2302, 1973.
- 9. Grewe, Von R., Mondon, A. and Nolte, E., Die totalsynthese des tetrahydro-desoxycodeins, Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem., 564, 161, 1949.
- Johansson, I.M., Wahlund, K.-G. and Schill, G., Reversed-phase ion-pair chromatography of drugs and related organic compounds, J. Chromatogr., 149, 281, 1978.
- Wahlund, K.-G. and Sokolowski, A., Reversed-phase ion-pair chromatography of antidepressive and neuroleptic amines and related quaternary ammonium compounds, J. Chromatogr., <u>151</u>, 299, 1978.

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2321-2341 (1982)

EVALUATION OF THE USE OF LITHIUM NITRATE AS A TEST SUBSTANCE FOR THE DETERMINATION OF THE HOLD-UP TIME ON A REVERSED-PHASE PACKING

O.A.G.J. van der Houwen, J.A.A. van der Linden and A.W.M. Indemans Department of Analytical Pharmacy University of Utrecht Catharijnesingel 60, 3511 GH Utrecht The Netherlands

ABSTRACT

The use of lithium nitrate as a test substance for the determination of the hold-up time on μ Bondapak C18 columns has been evaluated by comparison with the hold-up time calculated with the homologous series of n-alcohols. The influence of charge exclusion effects on the retention time of lithium nitrate is investigated. The addition of phosphoric acid to the eluent appears to be an effective method to reduce charge exclusion effects. The existence of deviations from linearity are demonstrated for the homologous series of nalcohols in eluents with a low methanol content.

INTRODUCTION

In the investigations of the relation between structure and retention or between eluent composition and retention, retention is usually expressed as the capacity factor or the logarithm of the capacity factor.

For the calculation of the capacity factor the hold-up time is used. Large errors in the value of the capacity factor can result from imprecise and/or inaccurate measurements of the hold-up time, particularly in the case of compounds which show little retention.

Lithium nitrate has been used in the laboratory of the authors for the measurement of the hold-up time in reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) for a number of years. It had been chosen because of its good solubility in watermethanol mixtures and its detectability with UV detectors. However, some doubts arose about its use due to the fact that differences in retention times were observed between some very polar compounds, the constituents of the eluent and lithium nitrate. It was then decided to compare the retention times of those substances with the theoretical hold-up time calculated from the homologous series of n-alcohols, a method which has been in use for a long time in gas chromatography (1-7), and which has more recently been described for HPLC (8-10).

In a recent publication Berendsen et al. (8) objected to using salt solutions for the determination of the hold-up time. They describe a strong dependence of the retention time of bromide on the quantity injected. They explain this phenomenon by the charge exclusion effects from the pores of the column packing and the suppression of this effect at higher salt concentrations.

For this reason the dependence of the retention time of lithium nitrate on the quantity injected was also investigated. As charge exclusion effects will depend on the charge of the packing, i.e. the dissociation of the free silanol groups, the effect of the injection of acidic and basic samples (i.e. solutions of phosphoric acid and ammonium carbonate in the eluent) as well as the addition of phosphoric acid or lithium chloride to the eluent on the retention time of lithium nitrate were included in this study. The results of these investigations are given together with the previous ones.

In this study some attention is also paid to the occurrence of deviations from the well-known linear relationship between the logarithm of the capacity factor and the number of carbon atoms for the series of n-alcohols in eluents with low methanol content.

EQUIPMENT AND CHEMICALS

Chromatographic experiments were performed using a 6000A solvent delivery system, a U6K injection system and an R401 differential refractometer (all from Waters Assoc., Milford, MA, U.S.A.).
The 2 ml sample loop of the U6K injector was replaced by a loop of approximately 100 µl in order to reduce errors in the retention time measurements caused by decompression and subsequent compression of the contents of the sample loop upon injection of the sample. A µBondapak C18 column, 30 cm x 3.9 mm I.D., particle size 10 µm, (Waters Assoc.) was used. The column was thermostatted by means of a metal block which was shielded from the surroundings by isolating material and which was connected in series with the housing of the refractive index detector to a circulating waterbath. Due to the limited column life time not all experiments were carried out using the same column. When data were obtained on different columns this is indicated in the tables. The temperature of the column and the refractive index detector was kept at 25° C.

The retention times were measured and recorded by the combination of an SP 4000 central processor, an SP 4020 data interface and an SP 4050 printer plotter (all from Spectra Physics, Santa Clara, CA, U.S.A.).

The pH shifts in the eluent were studied with a Radiometer (Copenhagen, Denmark) G 299 A capillary glass pH electrode which was connected to the outlet of the refractive index detector. The outlet of the capillary glass electrode was connected to a small glass vessel (provided with an outlet for the excess of eluted solvent) in which a Type 373-90 reference electrode (Ingold, Zürich, Switzerland) was placed. The capillary glass electrode and the reference electrode were connected to a Radiometer PHM 64 pH meter. The jacket around the capillary glass electrode was filled with potassium nitrate solution which was electrically connected to the reference electrode to avoid instability of the signal of the pH electrode (11, 12).

Water was purified by deionization and subsequent double destillation from glass. Methanol (pro analysis) was obtained from Merck (Darmstadt, G.F.R.). The other chemicals were purchased from various suppliers.

INSTRUMENTAL AND ANALYTICAL PROCEDURES

Retention times were corrected for the extra column volume by replacing the column by a low dead volume union and measuring the retention time of an equal volume of a test substance. All retention times were corrected by subtraction of the "extra column hold-up time". Retention times were measured using the SP 4000 integrator. The peak width parameter and the slope sensitivity for the integration process were adapted in such a way that precision in the retention time measurements of 0.1 to 0.2% could be obtained. To avoid cavitation in the pump heads methanol and water were filtered directly before the preparation of the eluents by vacuum filtration through filters with a pore size of 0.2 μ m. After mixing the eluents were degassed further ultrasonically. In order to avoid long term flow fluctuations the pump was continuously operated at the same flow (1.0 ml/min).

The hold-up time was studied with the eluents methanol, methanolwater (8:2, w/w), methanol-water (6:4, w/w), methanol-water (4:6, w/w), methanol-water (2:8, w/w) and water. A limited number of experiments has also been done with eluents containing 50% w/w methanol.

The theoretical value of the hold-up time was calculated from the retention times of the alcohols methanol, ethanol, 1-propanol, 1-butanol, 1-pentanol, 1-hexanol, 1-heptanol, 1-octanol and 1-decanol. The following test substances for the determination of the hold-up time were compared: water, methanol, formamide, glycerol, 1,3,5trihydroxybenzene (THB) and lithium nitrate.

In the eluents containing water-methanol (5:5, w/w), water-methanol (8:2, w/w), and water, lithium nitrate, urea and thiourea were compared. All compounds were dissolved in or diluted with the eluent. Solutions of lithium nitrate were prepared in a concentration of 10^{-1} gmol·kg⁻¹.

Sufficiently symmetrical peaks and constant retention times were obtained by injection of approximately 20 μ l. The other compounds were injected in such quantities that they could be well detected

at 8 to 16x attenuation on the refractive index detector. The amounts injected were generally 100 to 200 μ g.

MATHEMATICAL PROCEDURES

The calculation of the hold-up time is based upon the assumption that in reversed-phase liquid chromatography the relationship between the retention of the members of the homologous series of nalcohols and their number of carbon atoms is given by the following well-known equation

$$t_{\rm R} - t_{\rm d} = t_{\rm d} \times 10^{(\rm A+BxN)}$$
 (I)

(in which t_d , t_R , N, A and B are the hold-up time, the retention time of the alcohol, its number of carbon atoms and two constants respectively).

After measurement of the retention times of the n-alcohols the values of the hold-up time and both constants that fit best in the equation are computed. For the calculation of the hold-up time a calculation method based upon minimizing of the function

$$\sum_{m} \left(\frac{t_{R_{m}}^{-} t_{d}^{-} t_{d}^{-} x_{10}^{A+BxN_{m}}}{t_{R_{m}}} \right)^{2}$$
(II)

according to Levenberg and Marquard (13,14) was used. The calculation was done by means of a program based upon the FORTRAN subroutine ZXSSQ (15). This method should be preferred to other possible techniques for in this calculation method the separate retention times contribute to the calculated hold-up time according to the reproducibility in their measurements.

The accuracy in the hold-up time calculated from the retention time of a number of members of a homologous series depends on the following factors:

- 1. The number of homologues involved in the calculation
- 2. The number of carbon atoms of the homologue involved in the calculation

- 3. The precision in the retention times measured (which is a function of the number of measurements)
- 4. The values of the constants A and B in Equation I
- 5. Deviations from the assumed valid relationship of Equation I.

The computer program used for the calculation of the holdup time also calculates the standard deviation in the hold-up time. This standard deviation results from the observed differences between the measured retention times and the calculated relationship of Equation I.

It therefore results both from the reproducibility of the retention times measured and possible systematic deviations from Equation I. When the assumption of the validity of Equation I is correct, the following results should be obtained on the calculation of the holdup time:

- 1. The measured retention times should exhibit a random distribution round the values obtained with the calculated relationship of Equation I
- 2. This distribution should have a standard deviation which corresponds with the precision of the measurement of the retention times of the homologues
- 3. No significant differences should occur between the hold-up times calculated from different combinations of the members of the homologous series.

When one or more of these results are not obtained, deviations of Equation I are likely to occur.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Calculation of the hold-up time from the homologous series of n-alcohols

In the eluents with lower methanol contents only the lower homologues of the series of alcohols have been chromatographed, because the higher members of the series gave too long retention times and were only detectable if rather large quantities were injected.

Retention Times of Alcohols										
Eluent Composition % w/w Methanol										
	100% 80% 60% 40% 20% 0%									
Methanol		158.1	154.9	156.4	163.1	200.9				
Ethanol	166.8	168.6	171.9	183.7	205.6	301.2				
Propanol	167.0	174.3	188,5	225.9	305.4	667				
Butanol	169.6	181.2	214.9	320.9	603	2042				
Pentanol	172.1	192.8	262.5	538	1525					
Hexanol	175.1	208.8	336.3	1038						
Heptanol	178.9	231.3	462.6							
Octanol	182.4	261.1								
Decanol	193.0	358.8								

TABLE 1

The reproducibility in the measurements of the retention times was found to be dependent on the solvent composition. The following relative standard deviations were found for the eluents investigated: For the eluents containing 100% and 80% methanol 0.2%, for 60% methanol 0.4%, for 40% methanol 0.5-0.7%, for 20% methanol 1-1.5% and for 0% methanol 1-2%. These higher relative standard deviations with the eluents with a lower methanol content are mainly caused by long term fluctuations in the retention times. Short term reproducibility was found to be considerably better. The long term fluctuations may possibly be caused by the increased solubility of air in the eluents at lower methanol contents, resulting in an increased tendency to cavitation in the pump head. The retention times found for the n-alcohols are given in Table 1. In the literature deviations from Equation I for the lower members of a homologous series have been described (16). Although it is possible that such observations result from the use of a wrong value for the hold-up time, this is not necessarily the cause of this deviation. It is therefore necessary to evaluate the validity of Equation I.

Eluent Composition % w/w Methanol		
	I	II
100%		155.2 (1.5)
80%	148.8 (2.2)	152.8 (0.9)
60%	138.9 (3.7)	146.8 (1.2)
40%*	142.6 (3.6)	151.0 (0.3)
20%*	147.2 (4.6)	157.9 (1.3)
0%*	164.8 (1.5)	169

TABLE 2

Hold-up Times Calculated from the Retention Times of Alcohols

I Hold-up time calculated from all alcohols

II Hold-up time calculated from all alcohols except methanol

* These values have been obtained on a second column

The effect of the inclusion of the retention time of methanol in the calculation is shown in Table 2.

The standard deviations in Table 2 are obtained with the computer program. The strong decrease in the standard deviation when the retention time of methanol is excluded from the calculation reflects the contribution of methanol to the deviation from Equation I. It was therefore concluded that the retention time of methanol should not be included in the calculation of the hold-up time. This phenomenon of systematic deviations due to methanol is not unexpected as methanol is in these experiments both solute and modifier.

The methanol in the eluent is known to be incorporated in the stationary phase according to a non-linear distribution isotherm (17,18). The retention time of the concentration pulse caused by the injected methanol will be influenced by the curvature of this distribution isotherm.

This will result in a chromatographic behaviour which deviates from the relationship of Equation I. When methanol was excluded from the calculation no indication for deviations from Equation I were

containing 40% MeOH							
Hold-up Time calculated from	Averaged Hold-up Time	Standard Deviation in the Averaged Hold-up Time					
Methanol-Hexanol	142.6	0.3					
Ethanol-Hexanol	151.0	0.3					
Propanol-Hexanol	152.0	0.3					
Butanol-Hexanol	153.7	0.7					
Ethanol-Pentanol	150.5	0.2					
Propanol-Pentanol	150.7	0.3					
Ethanol-Butanol	150.3	0.2					

TABLE 3

Average Hold-up Times Calculated from 12 Series of Retention Times of n-Alcohols with the Eluent containing 40% MeOH

obtained with eluents with a methanol content higher than 40%. With eluents containing 40% methanol, however, indications for a slight non-linearity were obtained. For further examination of this phenomenon 12 series of retention times of n-alcohols from methanol to hexanol were determined (the injected quantity was $100-200 \mu g$). For each of the series the hold-up time was calculated from different combinations of alcohols. The corresponding hold-up times were averaged and the standard deviations in the averaged hold-up time were calculated. The results obtained are given in Table 3. The data clearly indicate the existence of a deviation from Equation I, even when methanol is excluded from the calculations. The data also suggest that the non-linearity is more likely to be caused by deviation of hexanol than deviations of ethanol.

(The standard deviations in Table 3, in contrast to those in Table 2, result only from the reproducibility of the retention times measured and not from systematic deviations from Equation I). Analogous results were obtained with 14 series of retention times of series of alcohols from ethanol to pentanol with an eluent containing 20% methanol (Results not shown). With eluents containing

0% methanol no such investigations could be done because only the retention times of ethanol, propanol and butanol were available for calculation.

Examination of the peak shape of the n-alcohols revealed that the peaks showed an increased tendency to tail when the methanol content of the eluents was lowered from 40% to 20% and 0%. This tendency to tail was stronger with the alcohols with longer chains. The change in peak shape on changing the quantities injected for the eluents containing 20% and 0% methanol is illustrated by Fig. 1. The chromatograms were recorded in such a way that the changes in the quantities injected were compensated by a change in the



FIGURE 1

Influence of amounts injected on the peak shape and the retention time of pentanol (left, eluent 20% methanol w/w) and butanol (right, eluent water). The amounts injected and the detector attenuation are a: 1280 μ g, 64; b: 320 μ g, 16; c: 80 μ g, 4 and d: 20 μ g, 1.

attenuation of the refractive index detector. In this way a better comparison of the peak shape is possible.

The changes in the retention times and the peak shapes on varying the quantities injected clearly indicate that some overload ing occurs. (For the peak chape improves on decreasing the quantity injected and the retention times measured seem to approach a constant value).

Although reduction of the quantities improves the linearity, no sufficient linearity (i.e. no constant retention times) could be obtained with the eluents containing 0% and 20% methanol, due to the limited sensitivity of the refractive index detector, which made it impossible to reduce the quantities injected beyond the range studied. In the eluents containing 40% methanol the linearity may be regarded as acceptable when quantities injected are kept sufficiently low and when the retention of hexanol is excluded from the calculation.

The possibility that the phenomena observed arose from imperfections in an individual column or from instrumental imperfections could be excluded by demonstrating that peaks with identical shape were obtained on other commercial µBondapak C18 columns, user packed µBondapak C18 columns and user packed (10 µm) Lichrosorb RP18 columns and that no imperfections in peak shape were observed when the column was replaced by a low dead volume union. The suggestion of Berendsen et al. (8) that n-alcohols can be used for the calculation of the hold-up time even with eluents containign 0% methanol seems therefore not to be justified at least not for µBondapak C18 columns. A careful check whether deviations from linearity of Equation I occur is therefore necessary whenever the hold-up time is calculated from a series of n-alcohols. This makes this method for the determination of the hold-up time a very time-consuming and tedious one. In our opininion it should therefore only be regarded as an independent method to evaluate whether a test substance has a retention time which corresponds to the actual hold-up time.

Determination of the hold-up time with test substances

The use of test substances is particularly important when frequent determinations of the hold-up time are necessary to eliminate the effect of long term fluctuations in the flow, when very precise measurements of capacity factors are needed.

To determine the hold-up time by means of a test substance this test substance should not be retained by, nor be excluded from the column packing.

Very polar uncharged test substances can be expected to interact with residual silanol groups. Such interactions should be expected to be more important when the eluent is less polar i.e. contains more organic modifier. When an uncharged test substance is less polar, hydrophobic retention should be expected to occur (at least with eluents containing little or no modifier). It is debatable, whether an uncharged test substance for the hold-up time can be at the same time both sufficiently polar (not to be retained by hydrophobic effects) and at the same time be sufficiently apolar (not to be retained by adsorption at residual silanol groups). It seems to be even more debatable that such an uncharged test substance can fulfil these requirements at all possible concentrations of the modifier. With charged test substances no retention should be expected to occur unless the ions involved have a sufficiently hydrophobic character to be adsorbed with the formation of an electrical double layer or as ion pairs.

However, when the packing itself is charged, charge exclusion effects for ions of the same charge, and ion exchange effects for ions of opposite charge should be expected to occur. Reversed-phase packings have been demonstrated to possess considerable ion exchange properties (due to the dissociation of residual silanol groups) over a large range of pH values (12). This dissociation results in a negative charge at those pH values.

Charged test substances can be used only for the determination of the hold-up time when the charge of the dissociated silanol groups can be masked by large concentrations of electrolyte. The following factors should therefore be regarded as important for the behaviour of test substances:

- 1. The amount of residual silanol groups
- 2. The degree of dissociation of the residual silanol groups
- 3. The affinity of the test substance for the residual silanol groups
- 4. The affinity of the components of the eluent for the residual silanol groups and their concentration in the eluent
- 5. The hydrophobicity of the test substance
- 6. The nature and the concentration of the modifier
- 7. The presence of components in the eluent which modify the character of the hydrophobic layer.

From these factors it appears that test substances have to be evaluated (with an independent method) for each particular set of experimental conditions. Comparison with the hold-up time calculated from a homologous series should be regarded as a standard method of evaluation (provided that no deviations from Equation I are observed).

The retention times of some test substances are given in Table 4 together with the calculated hold-up times. From this

		1					
	I	Eluent Composition % w/w Methanol					
	1008	80%	60%	40%*	20%*	0%*	
Water	166.8	160.3	157.5	157.5	162.6	_	
Methanol		158.1	154.9	156.4	163.1	200.9	
Formamide	162.5	160.7	160.8	156.8	159.9	178.4	
Glycerol	158.9	158.7	155.5	153.6	156.8	175.1	
гнв	153.6	155.8	152.8	168.8	222.9	779.5	
Lithium Nitrate	153.4	152.7	144.0	149.8	150.9	155.4	
Calculated	155.1	152.8	146.8	150.5	157.9**	169**	

TABLE 4

Retention Times of Test Substances and the Values Calculated for the Hold-up Time from the Series of n-Alcohols

*These values have been obtained on a different column **These values have been calculated from tailing peaks table it appears that the retention time of lithium nitrace corresponds well with the calculated hold-up times at methanol concentrations above 20%.

According to the concentration pulse concept no differences in the retention times of methanol and water should occur.

The differences found might possibly be explained by the dependence of the retention time of the vacancy peak on the concentration of the modifier in the injected sample as described by McCormack and Karger (17).

The values of the retention times of the concentration pulses of the components of the eluents, water and methanol, are found to be significantly higher than the calculated hold-up time, which is in accordance with the well-established fact that the modifier is incorporated in the stationary phase (17-21) and which corresponds with the results obtained by Berendsen et al. (8). The differences between the calculated hold-up time and the retention times of formamide and glycerol could possibly also be explained by hydrophobic effects or by adsorption at residual silanol groups.

Water was found to be retained considerably with the eluent containing 100% methanol. Although this effect may be of less importance with eluents with lower methanol contents deuterium oxide was therefore not considered to be a safe marker for the hold-up time. It was therefore not included in this study.

The possibility of incorporation of components of the eluent into the stationary phase makes total porosity measurements (based upon the differences in weight after filling the column with solvents of different densities) useless as a method for the determination of the hold-up time. No such measurements are therefore presented in this study.

Differences in the incorporation of the components of the eluents at different eluent compositions may explain the variation of the calculated hold-up time on the variation of the eluent composition. The fact that the retention time of lithium nitrate follows the same pattern of variation as the calculated hold-up time strongly suggests that its retention time corresponds indeed with the actual hold-up time.

At high methanol contents the retention time of THB corresponds with the retention time of lithium nitrate and the calculated hold-up time. At low methanol contents THB is obviously retained by a hydrophobic retention mechanism.

The influence of charge exclusion effects on the retention time of lithium nitrate

As charge exclusion effects have extensively been described by Berendsen et al. (8), it was investigated whether such effects occurred with the quantities injected in this study and whether the retention times measured were influenced by them. As charge exclusion effects will depend on the charge of the column packing (i.e. the degree of dissociation of the redisual silanol groups) such effects should be expected to be dependent on the pH of the eluent when buffered eluents are used. When nonbuffered eluents are used the charge of the column packing will be influenced by previously used eluents and/or the nature of previously injected samples.

When charge exclusion effects are studied the condition of the column packing should therefore be well defined in this respect. In this study this has been done by injection of measured quantities of solutions of phosphoric acid or ammonium carbonate in the eluent onto the column before the series of injections of lithium nitrate. The retention times measured are given in Table 5. The data in this table indicate that only with the injection of small amounts of lithium nitrate charge exclusion effects are observed. These effects are more pronounced when basic samples have been injected previously.

On the injection of 140 $\mu\,g$ lithium nitrate (\sim 20 μl 0.1 M) no significant charge exclusion effects are observed.

Upon addition of a small amount of phosphoric acid to the eluent no charge exclusion effects could be observed over the entire range of quantities studied.

		Eluent	Compo	sition	
ul injected	1		11		111
$(10 - M. LiNO_3$ in the Eluent)	a)	b)	a)	b)	
100	154.9	153.2	153.7	153.1	153.9
50	154.1	150.7	153.7	151.1	153.7
20	152.4	143.7	151.4	144.4	152.1
10	151.8	135.4	149.8	139.2	153.0
5	141.1	120.5	146.0	131.2	153.3
2	125	111.6	139.3	125.5	152.9
1	117	105.2	138.3	121.7	153.3

Т	ABLE	5
---	------	---

Retention Time of Lithium Nitrate

I 50% methanol w/w

I 50% methanol w/w II 50% methanol w/w containing $10^{-3}_{-3} \text{ mol} \cdot \text{kg}_{-1}^{-1}$ lithium chloride III 50% methanol w/w containing $10^{-3} \text{ mol} \cdot \text{kg}_{-1}^{-1}$ phosphoric acid a) series measured after two injections of 100 µl 0.1 M. phosphoric acid in the eluent

b) series measured after two injections of 100 µl 0.1 M. ammonium carbonate in the eluent

These effects are more pronounced when basic samples have been injected previously.

On the injection of 150 μ g lithium nitrate no significant charge exclusion effects are observed.

Upon addition of a small amount of phosphoric acid to the eluent no charge exclusion effects could be observed in the range of quantities studied.

When the elution of injected lithium nitrate was monitored with a flow-through pH electrode a decrease of the pH was observed during the elution of the peak of lithium nitrate. Obviously some lithium ions are exchanged against protons. The liberated protons will influence the charge of more distant parts of the column thereby reducing charge exclusion effects. This mechanism will be one of the causes for the variation of the retention times of salts with the injected quantity. Whether this mechanism is more important than the suppression of the charge exclusion effect by

ionic strength of the injected sample cannot be concluded from the data in this study. However, the data in Table 5 indicate that addition of phosphoric acid to the eluent is much more effective than the addition of an equivalent amount of lithium chloride.

It is therefore probable that the effect of buffers to suppress charge exclusion effects will in some cases be largely due to the reduction of dissociated silanol groups instead of the masking of their charge as has been suggested by Parker et al. (23) and by Wells and Clark (24).

Buffers of low pH should therefore be expected to be more effective than those of high pH. This was confirmed by an experiment in which the retention time of lithium nitrate was measured in eluents composed of equal weights of methanol and 0.01 M. aqueous phosphate buffers of different pH.

When buffers of pH 4.5, 5.0 and 5.5 were used the retention times of lithium nitrate were found to be constant. With buffers of a higher pH lower retention times were found and the precipitation of lithium phosphate occurred.

The non-linearity of the chromatographic distribution process in eluents containing 20% and 0% methanol makes it impossible to use the calculation of the hold-up time as an independent method to determine whether the retention time of lithium nitrate does correspond with the actual hold-up time or not. The fact that no increase in the retention time with increasing amounts of injected lithium nitrate could be found for these eluents suggests, however, that these retention times indeed correspond with the actual hold-up times.

Comparison of lithium nitrate with urea and thiourea as test substances for the hold-up time

In a recent publication the use of thiourea has been proposed as a test substance for the determination of the hold-up time (10). We have therefore made a comparison between the retention times of thiourea, urea, lithium nitrate and the hold-up time calculated from a series of n-alcohols in eluents containing 50%, 20% and 0% methanol. The values obtained are given in Table 6.

from a Series of n-Alcohols								
Eluent Composition % w/w Methanol	Hold–up Time Calculated	Lithium Nitrate	Urea	Thiourea				
50%	158.3	160.7	164.7	168.1				
20%	-	167.7	168.6	177.0				
08	-	166.8	179.2	200.0				

TABLE 6

Comparison of the Retention Times of Lithium Nitrate, Urea and Thio Urea and the Hold-up Time Calculated from a Series of n-Alcohols

From the values in Table 6 it appears that the retention time of thiourea is significantly higher than those of urea with all three eluents. It is therefore highly improbable that the retention time of thiourea corresponds with the hold-up time. The fact that the difference between the retention times of thiourea and urea increases with decreasing methanol content strongly suggests that the retention of thiourea is hydrophobic in character.

The fact that use gives significantly higher retention times than lithium nitrate in eluents containing 0% and 50% methanol makes its use as a test substance rather dubious. For the latter eluent this is confirmed by comparison with the hold-up time calculated from the n-alcohols.

CONCLUSION

Lithium nitrate was found to be the only test substance for the hold-up time that gave correct values over the whole range of eluents investigated, provided a sufficient quantity was injected to overcome charge exclusion effects. The occurrence of charge exclusion effects was found to be dependent on the history of the column, i.e. pretreatment with acidic or basic samples. The occurrence of charge exclusion effects could be reduced considerably by the addition of small amounts of phosphoric acid in the eluent.

The retention time of lithium nitrate being the correct value for the hold-up time could be confirmed by comparison with the hold-up time calculated from the homologous series of n-alcohols for eluents with a methanol content of 40% or more. In eluents with a low methanol content of 20% and 0% significant deviations from Equation 1 were found, probably due to a nonlinear chromatographic distribution process.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to thank Dr. J. Renema and Dr. A. Hulshoff for their critical advice, and Drs. H.A. van der Vorst for his assistance with the mathematical treatment of the analytical results.

REFERENCES

- Haken, J.K., in Advances in Chromatography (Giddings, J.C., Grushka, E., Cazes, J. and Brown, P.R., Eds.), Dekker, New York 1976, Vol. 14, p. 369.
- Gassiot, M., Guardino, X., Albaigés, J., Firpo, G. and Rodrigues-Viñals, R., Determination of the Dead Time, J. Chromatogr., 147, 540, 1978.
- 3. Haken, J.K., Wainwright, M.S. and Smith, R.J., A Problem of Accuracy of Mathematical Dead-Time Estimation, J. Chromatogr., 133, 1, 1977.
- Smith, R.J., Haken, J.K. and Wainwright, M.S., Evaluation of Mathematical Procedures for the Calculation of Dead-Time, J. Chromatogr., 147, 65, 1978.
- Sevcik, J. and Löwentap, M.S.H., Accurate Calculation of Adjusted Retention Time. 11 Evidence and Conclusions, J. Chromatogr., 147, 75, 1978.
- Wainwright, M.S., Haken, J.K. and Srisukh, D., A Comparative Study of Mathematical Dead-Time and Methane Retention, J. Chromatogr., 179, 160, 1979.
- 7. Wainwright, M.S. and Haken, J.K., Evaluation of Procedures for the Estimation of Dead Time, J. Chromatogr., 184, 1, 1980.
- Berendsen, G.E., Schoenmakers, P.J., De Galan, L., Vigh, G., Varga-Puchony, Z. and Inczedy, J., On the Determination of the Hold-Up time in Reversed Phase Liquid Chromatography, J. Liq. Chromatogr., 3, 1669, 1980.
- 9. Al-Thamir, W.K., Purnell, J.H., Wellington, C.A. and Laub,

R.J., Evaluation of Dead Space in Chromatographic Systems, J. Chromatogr., 173, 388, 1979.

- Fini, O., Brusa, F. and Chiesa, L., Bestimmung der Totzeit in der "Reversed-phase" Hochleistungsflüssigkeitschromatographie, J. Chromatogr., 210, 326, 1981.
- 11. Ruzicka, J., Hansen, E.H. and Ghose, A.K., Enzymatic Determination of Urea in Serum Based on pH Measurement with the Flow Injection Method, Anal. Chem., 51, 199, 1979.
- 12. Van der Houwen, O.A.G.J., Sorel, R.H.A., Hulshoff, A., Teeuwsen, J. and Indemans, A.W.M., Ion-Exchange Phenomena and Concomitant pH Shifts on the Equilibration of Reversed-Phase Packings with Ion-Pairing Reagents, J. Chromatogr., 209, 393, 1981.
- 13. Levenberg, K., Quart. Appl. Math., 2, 964, 1944.
- 14. Marquardt, D.W., J. of SIAM, 11-2, 1963.
- 15. I.M.S.L. Library, 7th Ed., IMSL, Houston, 1979.
- 16. Tjaden, U.R., Thesis, University of Amsterdam, 1976, p. 6.
- 17. McCormick, R.M. and Karger, B.L., Distribution Phenomena of Mobile-Phase Components and Determination of Dead Volume in Reversed-Phase Liquid Chromatography, Anal. Chem., 52, 2249, 1980.
- Slaats, E.H., Markovski, W., Fekete, J. and Poppe, H., Distribution Equilibria of Solvent Components in Reversed Phase Liquid Chromatographic Columns and Relationship with the Mobile Phase Volume, J. Chromatogr., 207, 299, 1981.
- 19. Knox, J.H. and Pryde, A., Performance and Selected Applications of a New Range of Chemically Bonded Packing Materials in High-Performance Liquid Chromatography, J. Chromatogr., 112, 171, 1975.
- Scott, R.P.W. and Kucera, P., Examination of Five Commercially Available Liquid Chromatographic Reversed Phases (Including the Nature of the Solute-Solvent-Stationary Phase Interactions Associated with them), J. Chromatogr., 142, 213, 1977.
- 21. Westerlund, D. and Theodorsen, A., Reversed-Phase Ion-Pair Chromatography of Naphthalene acetic Acid Derivatives with Water and an Organic Modifier as the Mobile Phase, J. Chromatogr., 144, 27, 1977.

- 22. Tilly-Melin, A., Askemark, Y., Wahlund, K.G. and Schill, G., Retention Behaviour of Carboxylic Acids and Their Quaternary Ammonium Ion Pairs in Reversed Phase Chromatography with Acetonitrile as Organic Modifier in the Mobile Phase, Anal. Chem., 51, 976, 1976.
- 23. Barker, P.E., Hatt, B.W. and Holding, S.R., Dissolution of Silaceous Chromatographic Packings in Various Aqueous Eluents, J. Chromatogr., 206, 27, 1981.
- 24. Wells, M.J.M. and Clark, C.R., Liquid Chromatographic Elution Characteristics of Some Solutes Used to Measure Column Void Volume on C₁₈ Bonded Phases, Anal. Chem., 53, 1341, 1981.

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2343-2357 (1982)

HIGH RESOLUTION SEPARATION OF URINARY ORGANIC ACIDS BY HIGH PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

Edward L. Mattiuz(1), James W. Webb(2) and Stephen C. Gates Department of Chemistry Illinois State University Normal, Illinois 61761

ABSTRACT

Reverse phase, anion exchange, and two-dimensional HPLC techniques were studied in order to increase resolution of organic urinary acids for eventual quantitative measurements. Reverse phase HPLC with a phosphate buffer/acetonitrile gradient yielded a separation of over 85 components in forty minutes and a peak area reproducibility of better than 5%. Connecting two reverse phase columns together resulted in the separation of 110 components. Anion exchange chromatography was determined to be of little use in resolving urinary acids in a resonable time except as the first stage in two-dimensional chromatography where fractions from the anion exchange column were injected into a reverse phase column. Over 139 components were separated by this two-dimensional method.

INTRODUCTION

Separation of the components present in complex mixtures, such as urine and other biological fluids, presents unique chromatographic problems because of the large variety and number of compounds in these samples. One such group of components, the low molecular weight organic acids found in human urine, is of particular interest since it includes intermediates and end products of various metabolic pathways which, in turn, can be affected by diseases (3,4). In most cases, correlations between the presence of a specific disease and urinary acids are related to concentration variations rather than to the presence or

2343

absence of a specific component (5,6). For diseases which have not been thoroughly investigated, it is much easier to first separate all of the components in the sample and then to identify and quantify those which show variations compared to healthy individuals than it is to isolate and identify all of the components. This former technique has been termed "quantitative metabolic profiling (6)". To be successful this technique requires highly efficient chromatographic methods capable of completely resolving all of the components in the sample in order to facilitate peak integration.

Anion exchange chromatography was one of the first methods to be used in separating urinary components; however, in order to separate 100 of more constituents, long columns and separation times in excess of 20 hours were necessary (7,8,9). More recently, over 130 urinary acids were separated by gas chromatography (GC) (10) and over 230 acids have been separated by capillary GC (11). Although they are very efficient and allow coupling to a mass spectrometer for identification, GC methods are limited to components of high volatility; otherwise, derivatization steps are required which may decrease recovery of the components. High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) is not limited by component volatility nor by the presence of various salts which often accompany the extraction procedure. Molnár and Horváth recently reported the separation of over 100 urinary organic acids in 30 minutes by reverse phase HPLC (12). However, many of the peaks were not sufficiently resolved to be useful for quantitative metabolic profiling.

Two-dimensional chromatography is a technique in which fractions from one chromatographic mode are transferred to another chromatographic mode to increase resolution (13). Some applications of this technique have been reported for separating urinary acids (14,15), most notably by Spiteller and Spiteller who separated about 500 acid components using a two-dimensional system employing thin layer chromatography and then capillary GC-mass spectrometry (16).

2344

SEPARATION OF URINARY ORGANIC ACIDS

This paper describes some refinements on the reverse phase HPLC method and also presents the results of a two-dimensional study employing anion exchange and then reverse phase HPLC for the separation of urinary organic acids.

MATERIALS

Apparatus

An Altex 322 MP microprocessor controlled gradient HPLC (Beckman Instrument Co., Berkeley, CA) equipped with two model 100A pumps, a model 400-12 mixer, a model 210 injection valve with a 20 μ L sample loop, a model 100-10 Hitachi variable VIS-UV wavelength detector set at 280 nm, and a Linear model 385 chart recorder were used throughout this study. Peak areas were determined by a Hewlett Packard model 3380-S electronic integrator.

Columns

Analytical columns were packed by the manufacturer; they included: RSiL-AN 5 μ m anion exchange, 25 cm x 4.6 mm I.D. (Alltech Associates, Deerfield, IL), SynChropak AX300, 10 μ m anion exchange, 25 cm x 4.1 mm I.D. (SynChrom, Inc., Linden, IN), and Beckman Ultrasphere ODS, 5 μ m reverse phase, 25 cm x 4.6 mm I.D. Guard columns consisting of either the RSiL-An anion exchange material (5.0 cm x 4.6 mm I.D.) or Lichrosorb RP-18, 10 μ m (E. M. Merck) (7.0 cm x 2.2 mm I.D.) were packed in this laboratory with a model 704 Micromeritics slurry packer (Micromeritics, Norcross, GA). No guard column was used with the SynChropak column. The guard and analytical columns were kept at the appropriate temperature controlled by a Thermomix Model 1460 constant temperature water bath.

METHODS

Sample Preparations

Urine samples were collected from an apparently healthy adult male, combined, then frozen in 30 mL vials at -80°C until ready for use. The acids were extracted from urine either by concentra-

tion on a DEAE Sephadex A-125-120 (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) anion exchange column followed by elution with pyridinium acetate and then lyophilization to dryness (for anion exchange and reverse phase chromatography studies) or by extraction into an ether-ethyl acetate mixture followed by evaporation of the organic layer (for two-dimensional chromatography studies). De-tails of these procedures are given by Rehman et al. (17).

HPLC

Aqueous buffers were prepared either from reagent grade potassium dihydrogen phosphate (Mallincrodt, St. Louis, MO) with the pH adjusted using 85% orthophosphoric acid (Fisher Scientific Co., Fair Lawn, NJ) or from glacial acetic acid with the pH adjusted using sodium hydroxide. Water was purified on a Milli-Q system (Millipore Corp.). Buffers and HPLC grade solvents (acetonitrile and methanol, Burdick and Jackson Laboratories, Muskegon, MI) were filtered through a 1.2 μ m (aqueous solvents) or 0.5 μ m (organic solvents) filter and then deaerated before using.

For ion exchange chromatography a concave gradient was used starting with either 0.02 M pH 3.0 phosphate buffer or 0.10 M pH 7.0 acetate buffer and increasing to 1.13 M phosphate or 4.0 M acetate, respectively, followed by a reverse gradient to the initial conditions. The column was equilibrated at the initial conditions for fifteen minutes before injecting another sample. The flow rate was 1.0 mL/min.

For reverse phase chromatography the initial mobile phase was the appropriate aqueous buffer. The acetonitrile or methanol concentration was increased to 39% in 36 minutes in a concave fashion, then linearly to 70% in 15 minutes (to insure complete elution of all components), followed by a reverse gradient and equilibration under initial conditions for 15 minutes (Figure 1). The flow rate was maintained at 2.0 mL/min.

In the studies involving two-dimensional chromatography, fractions were taken from the RSiL-AN anion exchange column, con-



FIGURE 1. Separation of urinary acids on a reverse phase column using a concave pH 2.1 0.2M phosphate buffer/ acetonitrile gradient.



FIGURE 2. Separation of urinary acids on an anion exchange column using a linear gradient from 0.05 M phosphate buffer at pH 3.0 to 0.5 M phosphate in 50 minutes. Fractions were taken at the times indicated by arrows.

centrated, then injected into the reverse phase column, as follows. For the anion exchange separation, $100 \ \mu L$ of sample was injected, and a linear gradient from 0.05 M phosphate buffer (pH 3.0) to 0.5 M phosphate in 50 minutes was employed. Four fractions were collected without stopping the flow (Figure 2). The fractions

were extracted into ether-ethyl acetate, the organic layer evaporated, and the residue dissolved in 50 μ L of 0.20 M (pH 2.1) phosphate buffer. A twenty μ L aliquot of each fraction was then injected into the reverse phase column using the same conditions given above.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Ion Exchange Chromatography

Two types of anion exchange column packings were investigated: RSiL-AN using an aqueous pH 3.0 phosphate buffer gradient with increasing phosphate concentration at 60°C and SynChropak AX300 using an aqueous pH 7.0 acetate buffer gradient with increasing acetate concentration at 30°C. Since most of the urinary acids in the extract have pK's between 4 and 5 (18), the predominate mode of separation at pH 3.0 is probably sorption rather than ionexchange (19); ion exchange would predominate at pH 7.0 or above. Neither column gave a good separation of urinary acids; only approximately 25 resolved or partially resolved peaks were observed for both columns. Although the peaks from the SynChropak column were sharper, the RSiL-AN column and phosphate mobile phase were chosen for the studies involving two-dimensional chromatography because the pH was more compatible with that of the aqueous phase for the reverse phase column (see below).

Reverse Phase Chromatography

Preliminary studies with standard acid solutions and urinary acid extracts indicated that the sharpest, most symmetrical peaks and the best separation of urinary acids on an Ultrasphere column are obtained with a pH 2.1 phosphate buffer (0.2 M) at 50°C using a concave gradient from 0 to 70% acetonitrile. Under these conditions, approximately 85 resolved and partially resolved peaks were obtained (Figure 1). These results are comparable to those of Molnár and Horváth (12), who reported 104 peaks under similar conditions using a 5 μ m Lichrosorb RP-18 column.

The peak area reproducibility of the method was determined by three injections of the same urine extract. Twenty-eight of



FIGURE 3. Separation of urinary acids on two reverse phase columns connected together. The gradient is shown on Figure 1.

SEPARATION OF URINARY ORGANIC ACIDS

the larger and better resolved peaks were chosen for comparison. The mean and median percent standard deviations of each peak for the raw areas were 5.8 and 4.4, respectively and 5.0 and 3.5, respectively for normalized areas.

The peak retention times generally had standard deviations from 0.07 to 0.18 minutes, although somewhat larger deviations were sometimes observed for peaks having retention times between 5 and 12 minutes.

A similar separation and number of peaks (although a different peak pattern) were observed when methanol was substituted for acetonitrile in the gradient; however, the pressure reached 5000 psi compared to 3500 psi with acetonitrile. Likewise, a similar chromatogram was obtained when 0.1 M acetic acid (pH 2.9) was substituted for phosphate. Although not a buffer, acetic acid may be appropriate for use when isolation of separate peaks or fractions from the reverse phase column is required, since acetic acid can be removed by lyophilization.

As stated above, in order for quantitative metabolic profiling to be useful, it is necessary for all of the components in the sample to be as completely resolved as possible. While the optimum conditions for the Ultrasphere column probably have been attained, it is apparent from Figure 1 that many of the peaks remain unresolved.

One means of increasing resolution is to increase column length by connecting two or more columns together. Under identical conditions as with one column, connecting two and three columns together produced nearly 110 (Figure 3) and 90 peaks respectively. The apparent decrease in resolution with the three column system is probably due to the increase in interconnective tubing. In addition, using three columns resulted in an extremely high pressure (8000 psi).

Two-Dimensional Chromatography

A urine extract was separated first on the RSiL-AN anion exchange column at pH 3.0. Four fractions were taken during the





SEPARATION OF URINARY ORGANIC ACIDS

2353

separation (indicated by the arrows in Figure 2). The acids were extracted, concentrated, and then injected into the Ultrasphere reverse phase column. Fractions one to four yielded 55, 46, 48, and 56 peaks, respectively (Figure 4A-D). Considering overlap from adjacent fractions, of the 205 total peaks, 139 appear to be due to different components.

Identification of Components

When the quantitative metabolic profiling approach is used to investigate diseases, it is not necessary to identify every



FIGURE 5. A. Chromatogram of a urinary acid extract diluted 1/1 with pH 2.1 phosphate buffer. B. Chromatogram of the extract from Figure 5A but diluted 1/1 with a solution containing nine organic acids at 100ppm each. The identity of each numbered peak is given in Table 1. Both chromatograms were obtained using the conditions given in Figure 1 and in the text.

Peak Number*	Compound
	A-bydroxy-3-methoxymandolic
0	2. 4. dibudupuurbapulaastia asid
2.	3,4-dinydroxyphenyladetic acid
3	p-hydroxybenzoic acid
4	m-hydroxybenzoic acid
5	m-hydroxyphenylacetic acid
6	4-hydroxy-3-methylphenylacetic acid
7	4-hydroxy-3-methoxycinnamic acid
8	indole-3-acetic acid
9	transcinnamic acid

			TABLE	i			
Identification	of	Some	Organic	Acids	Present	in	Urine

*Refers to those peaks which are numbered in Figure 5

component in the chromatogram. Only those components need be identified which show statistically significant differences between samples taken from diseased <u>versus</u> normal subjects while positive identification of these components can be made by retention time comparison and/or by spiking the sample with known compounds. This is shown in Figure 5 which is a comparison of chromatograms of a urinary organic acid extract <u>vs</u> the same extract spiked with nine organic acids which are commonly found in urine (10). Table 1 lists each peak number and its identity. Clearly, this tentative peak identification is facilitated by a highly efficient and reproducible HPLC separation.

CONCLUSIONS

Reverse phase HPLC yields a rapid and reproducible separation of urinary acids; however, in order to increase resolution for quantitative measurements, more efficient columns are required. Efficiency may be increased by connecting columns together; however, it is somewhat limited by interconnective tubing and increase operating pressure. As more efficient ODS columns are developed, especially microbore columns, a greater resolution may eventually be realized.

Although tedious and time consuming, two-dimensional chromatography results in a separation of the largest number of urinary acids yet reported by HPLC. In addition, a greater degree of baseline separation is achieved over one dimensional HPLC since fewer components are present in each fraction than are present in the entire sample. Its use is suggested if components of a specific fraction are to be identified and/or quantified. With the development of on-line techniques; i.e. automatic column switching, this method may eventually become more practical.

REFERENCES

- 1. Present address: A.E. Staley Co., Decatur, IL 62526.
- 2. To whom all correspondence should be addressed.
- 3. Dalgliesh, E.E., Horning, E.C., Horning, M.G., Knox, K.L., and Yarger, K., A Gas-Liquid-Chromatographic Procedure for Separating a Wide Range of Metabolites Occurring in Urine or Tissue Extracts, Biochem. J., 101, 792 (1966).
- 4. Chalmers, R.A. and Watts, R.W.E., Quantitative Studies on the Urinary Excretion of Unconjugated Aromatic Acids in Phenylketonuria, Clin. Chim. Acta, 52, 31 (1974).
- Jakobs, C., Solem, E., Ek, J., Halvorsen, K., and Jellum, E., Investigation of the Metabolic Pattern in Maple Syrup Urine Disease by Means of Glass Capillary Gas Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. 143, 31 (1977).
- Gates, S.C. and Sweeley, C.C., Quantitative Metabolic Profiling Based on Gas Chromatography, Clin. Chem., <u>24</u>, 1663 (1978).
- Scott, C.D., Chilcote, D.D., Katz, S., and Pitt, W.W., Jr., Auvances in the Application of High Resolution Liquid Chromatography to the Separation of Complex Biological Mixtures, J. Chromatogr. Sci., <u>11</u>, 96 (1973).
- Scott, C.D., Analysis of Urine For Its Ultraviolet-Absorbing Constituents By High-Pressure Anion-Exchange Chromatography, Clin. Chem., 14, 521 (1968).

- Pitt, W.W., Jr., Scott, C.D., Johnson, W.F., Jones, G., Jr., A Bench-Top Automated, High-Resolution Analyzer for Ultraviolet Absorbing Constituents of Body Fluids, Clin. Chem., <u>16</u>, 657 (1970).
- Gates, S.C., Sweeley, C.C., Krivit, W., DeWitt, D., and Blaisdell, B.E., Automated Metabolic Profiling of Organic Acid in Human Urine. II. Analysis of Urine Samples from "Healthy" Adults, Sick Children, and Children with Neuroblastoma, Clin. Chem., 24, 1680 (1978).
- Pinkston, D., Spiteller, G., VonHenning, H., and Mattahei, D., High-Resolution Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry of the Methyl Esters of Organic Acids from Uremic Hemofiltrates, J. Chromatogr. Biomed. Appl., 223, 1 (1981).
- 12. Molnár, I. and Horváth, C., Rapid Separation of Urinary Acids by High Performance Liquid Chromatography, J. Chromatogr., 143, 391 (1977).
- 13. Majors, R.E., Multidimensional High Performance Liquid Chromatography, J. Chrom. Sci., 18, 571 (1980).
- Burtis, C.A., Goldstein, G., and Scott, C.D., Fractionation of Human Urine by Gel Chromatography, Clin. Chem., 16, 201 (1970).
- Scott, C.D. and Lee, N.E., Use of Sequential Columns of Microreticular and Pellicular Ion Exchange Resins in the High Resolution Separation of Complex Biochemical Mixtures, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 11, 96 (1973).
- Spiteller, M. and Spiteller, G., Separation and Characterization of Acidic Urine Constituents, J. Chromatogr. Biomed. Appl., 164, 253 (1979).
- Rehman, A., Gates, S.C., and Webb, J.W., Comparison of Isolation Methods of Urinary Acids by HPLC, J. Chromatogrl, J. Chromatogr. Biomed. Appl., <u>228</u>, 103 (1982).
- 18. Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 62nd ed., R.C. Weast, ed., The Chemical Rubber Co., Cleveland, 1981-82, p. D142-143.
- Jahangir, L.M., Olsson, L., and Samuelson, L., Chromatography of Aromatic Compounds on Anion-Exchange Resins, Talanta, <u>22</u>, 973 (1975).
JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2359-2367 (1982)

SEPARATION OF BACTERIAL MENAQUINONES BY HPLC USING REVERSE PHASE (RP18) AND A SILVER LOADED ION EXCHANGER AS STATIONARY PHASES

Reiner M. Kroppenstedt Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen, Arbeitsgruppe Darmstadt, Gesellschaft für Biotechnologische Forschung mbH Braunschweig, Schnittspahnstraße 9, D-6100 Darmstadt, FRG

ABSTRACT

Bacterial menaquinones were separated isocratically on a reverse phase Li Chrosorb RP18 5 μm and a silver loaded ion exchanger. On octyldecylsilica support the separation of the menaquinones depends on their lipophilic character, on the silver column mainly on the number of double bonds in the isoprenyl chain. Comparing the runs of both columns the menaquinones were easily differentiated.

INTRODUCTION

Menaquinones (2 methyl 3 polyisoprenyl 1,4 naphthoquinones) play an important role in the bacterial electron transport, oxidative phosphorylation (10) and formation of endospores (5). The menaquinones are not evenly distributed among bacteria. They may vary in the length of their isoprenyl side chain and the degree of saturation. This variation is taxa specific. The value of menaquinones in bacterial taxonomy was clearly shown by Yamada (11), Minnikin (9), and Collins (3).

For the separation and identification of the different menaquinone species, various methods were employed. Thin layer chromatography on different layers (4), mass spectrometry (9), and gas chromatography after hydrogenation (2). Recent reports point up the value of high performance liquid chromatography for the separation of menaquinones. In this regard, reverse phase RP8 as stationary phase and methanol as mobile phase proved very effective (Collins, personal communication). Also, RP18 and dichloromethane/acetonitrile (6) and RP18 and methanol/chloroform with silver ions as modifier (8) have been used successfully. Similar substances have been separated on silver loaded silicagel supports (1).

For routine analyses these methods have some disadvantages. The mobile phases containing silver nitrate are quite corrosive and have a high absorbance, and the silver of the silver impregnated silicagel bleeds from the support after some time, leading to a reduction of the retention time of the menaquinones. The separation of the ordinary menaquinones (menaquinones with isoprenyl side chains lacking saturated isoprenyl units) is sufficient with reverse phases (RP8 and RP18). However, these reverse phases cause problems in the separation of natural mixtures of menaquinones with isoprenyl side chains differing in degree of saturation and chain length. I now report the separation and identification of diverse menaquinone mixtures using stationary phases of different separation behaviours.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The method of isolation of menaquinones has been described previously (7). Menaquinone mixtures of fully unsaturated menaquinones were obtained from Dr. D. Collins (Reading G.B.). Partly saturated menaquinones were iso-

SEPARATION OF BACTERIAL MENAQUINONES

lated from bacterial strains in which the type of menaguinone was known from the literature. Their identities were varified by mass spectrometry. Cis-menaquinones which arise by photoisomerisation were identified and isolated from the naturally occuring trans-menaquinones by silicagel thin layer chromatography using hexane/dibutylether 85:15 v/v as mobile phase (12). The chromatogramms shown in fig. 1 were obtained by injecting 1-5 μ l of the menaquinone mixture in 2-chlorobutane. The following conditions were employed: Apparatus Desapro Milton Roy mininpump simplex with pulse dampening device and a Rheodyne 7125 injection valve. The stainless steel column 250x4 mm (Merck 50333) was filled with Li Chrosorb RP 18 5 μ m. It was protected by a precolumn (Brownlee Labs. MPLC RP18) and kept at 30° C with a column oven (Jones Chromatography). The flow rate was 1 ml/min acetonitrile/tetrahydrofurane 70:30 v/v (Promochem Chrom AR), at a pressure of 80 atm. A Uvicord S detector (LKB) was used at 254 nm with a sensivity set at 0,005 abs. range. The chart speed was 1 cm/min using a Kontron W+W 600S recorder. The separations presented in fig. 2 were obtained by injecting 1 to 20 μ l of the menaguinone mixture in methanol. The following conditions were employed: Apparatus Perkin Elmer LC-pump (series 1) with Rheodyne 7105 injection valve and stopflow fittings. The stainless steel silver column (250x4,6 mm i.d.) was custom-packed with silver loaded Nucleosil^R 10SA (Macherey, Nagel & Co, Düren F.R.G.) by Chrompack Nederland, Middleburg, The Netherlands. It was kept at 65° C by use of a precision thermostat (Lauda) and protected by a column inlet filter (Rheodyne). Methanol (Merck 6007) was used as eluat at a flow rate of 1,5 ml/min and 40 atm pressure. A Perkin Elmer LC-75 UV-detector with autocontrol was used at 269 nm, with sensivity set at 0,02 abs. range. The chart speed was 0,5 cm/min with a Varian A-25 recorder.







Separation of menaquinones (MK) on 5 μ m Li Chrosorb^R RP18, column 250x4 mm, mobile phase ACN/THF, 70:30 v/v, flow rate 1 ml/min, temperature 35° C, sample size 5 μ l.

- (a) menaquinones with an ordinary isoprenyl side chain (7-13 isoprenyl-units)
- (b) menaquinones with nine isoprenyl units, three (MK9/6) or four (MK9/8) of them beeing saturated; MK9 internal standard
- (c) menaquinone standard mixture MK1-MK10, conditions as before except the column, Beckman Ultrasphere ODS 250x4,6 mm
- ⁺DSM Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen (German Collection of Microorganisms)

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The best resolution of menaquinone homologues were obtained by separation on RP18 phase with acetonitrile/ tetrahydrofurane 70:30 v/v at a flow rate of 1 ml/min. Homologues differing in number of isoprenyl units (MK1 to MK13, fig. 1a and 1c) as well as those with the same chain length but different degree of saturation (MK9(H6), MK9(H8), fig 1b) could be well separated. The theoretical plate heigth for MK9(H2) was 27 μm (9300 plated per 25 cm column). Under these conditions the loss of one double bond in the isoprenyl side chain resulted in an increase in retention time equivalent to 0,7 of an additional isoprenyl unit. This separation behaviour caused problems in differentiating menaquinones with a partly unsaturated isoprenyl side chain from those with a fully unsaturated one e.g. MK9(H6) and MK11 (3x0,7=2; 9+2=11, fig. 1a and 1b).

Therefore, it became necessary to separate the menaquinones on an additional stationary phase which had a different separation behaviour. The separation of menaquinones on octyldecylsilica (RP18) depends mainly on their lipophilic character. An increase in the retention time occurs by adding isoprenyl units or pairs of hydrogen atoms (eliminating double bonds).

FIGURE 2

Separation of menaquinones on a silver loaded ion exchanger Nucleosil^R 10SA(Ag⁺) column 250x4,6 mm, mobile phase methanol 100%, flow rate 1,5 ml/min, temperature 65[°] C, sample size 10 μ l. (a) + (b) bacterial menaquinones with partly saturated

isoprenyl side chains, MK9/4 (a) shows a shorter retention time than MK8/2 (b), both have the same number of double bonds
(c) menaquinone standard mixture MK1 - MK9



A totally different separation behaviour is obtained by using a silver loaded ion exchanger. In this case the bonds of double bond silver complexes compete with the solubility of the organic mobile phase. These bonds are so strong that only menquinones with 9 or less double bonds are eluted in reasonable retention times (MK9, 57 min at 65° C). Increasing the temperature resulted in boiling of the methanol use of a more lipophilic mobile phase had no effect on the retention time. The theoretical plate height for MK9(H2) was 60 µm (4100 plates per 25 cm column). As expected (Aq-TLC data), menaquinones with the same number of double bonds but longer isoprenoid chain length were eluted earlier thus, MK9(H4) eluted before MK8(H2) even though both contained seven double bonds (fig. 2a and 2b). Cis-menaquinones had shorter retention times than trans-menaquinones (fig. 2c). Menaquinones with the same number of isoprenyl units and double bonds but different points of saturation (isomers) were very well separated on the silver column; e.g. MK8(H4) of Micropolyspora brevicatena DSM 43024 and MK8(H4) of Nocardia autotrophica DSM 40011. The mass of both was varified by mass-spectrometry.

The results clearly show the value of HPLC for the separation and identification of menaquinones. By comparing the different elution profiles of the menaquinones isolated from bacteria and separated on both columns, the single peaks can easily be identified.

REFERENCES

- Aigner, R., Spitzy, H. and Frei, R.W., Some Properties of Silver-Loaded Silica Gel Supports for Liquid Chromatography, Anal. Chem., <u>48</u>, 2, 1976.
- 2. Bratrakov, S.G., Panosyan, A.G., Rozynov, B.V., Konova, I.V. and Bergel son, L.D., Menaquinones of <u>Actinomyces</u> <u>olivaceus</u>: The Structures of MK-9(H₆), MK-8(H₆), Bioorganicheskaya Khimiya, <u>2</u>, 1538, 1976.

- 3. Collins, M.D. and Jones, D., Distribution of Isoprenoid Quinone Structural Types in Bacteria and Their Taxonomic Implications, Microbiological Reviews, 45, 316, 1981.
- Dunphy, P.J., Phillips, P.G. and Brodie, A.F., Separation and Identification of Menaquinones from Microorganisms, J. Lipid Res., 12, 442, 1971.
- Farrad, S.K. and Taber, H.W., Changes in Menaquinone Concentration During Growth and Early Sporulation in <u>Bacillus</u> subtilis, J. Bact., <u>117</u>, 324, 1974.
- Haroon, Y., Shearer, M.J. and Barkhan, P., Resolution of Menaquinones (Vitamin K₂) by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography, J. Chromatogr., <u>206</u>, 333, 1981.
- 7. Kroppenstedt, R.M., Korn-Wendisch, F., Fowler, V.J. and Stackebrandt, E., Biochemical and Molecular Genetic Evidence for a Transfer of <u>Actinoplanes</u> <u>armeniacus</u> into the Family <u>Streptomycetaceae</u>, Zbl. Bakt. Hyg., I. Abt. Orig. C2 254, 1981.
- Mack, D.O., Silver Ion as Modifier for High Performance Liquid Chromatography of Menaquinones, J. Liquid Chromatogr., <u>3</u>, 1005, 1980.
- Minnikin, D.E., Collins, M.D. and Goodfellow, M., Menaquinone Patterns in the Classification of Nocardioform and Related Bacteria, Zbl. Bakt. Hyg., I. Abt., Suppl. 6, 85, 1978.
- 10. Taber, H., Funktion of Vitamin K₂ in Microorganisms, 177, In Suttie J.W. (ed) Vitamin²K Metabolisms and Vitamin K dependent Proteins, University Park Press Baltimore, 1980.
- 11. Yamada, Y., Inouye, G., Tahara, Y. and Kondo, K., The Menaquinone System in the Classification of Aerobic Gram-Positive Cocci in the Genera Micrococcus, <u>Staphylococcus</u>, <u>Planococcus</u> and <u>Sporosarcina</u>, J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol., <u>22</u>, 227, 1976.
- 12. Yamano, Y., Ihenoya, S., Ohmae, M. and Kawabe, K., High-Performance Liquid Chromatography of Isoprenoidquinones III: Photo-isomerization of Phylloquinone and Menaquinone-4, Yakugaku Zasshi, 99, 1102, 1979.

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2369-2393 (1982)

QUANTITATIVE HPLC ANALYSIS OF PLASMA AMINO ACIDS AS ORTHOPHTHALDIALDEHYDE/ETHANETHIOL DERIVATIVES

Dennis Hill^a, Larry Burnworth^b William Skea^b and Robert Pfeifer^b

> ^a Microchemistry Laboratory University of Connecticut Storrs, Connecticut

^b Waters Associates Milford, Massachusetts

ABSTRACT

A reverse phase high performance liquid chromatographic method for the analysis of plasma amino acids is described. The method employs pre-column derivatization with o-phthaldialdehyde using ethanethiol as the reducing agent. The analysis shows good linearity and reproducibility. An average overall difference of 12% was seen for results obtained by the HPLC method versus those obtained with an amino acid analyzer. The chromatographic parameters of buffer concentration and column temperature were also examined.

INTRODUCTION

More than 70 diseases associated with defects in amino acid metabolism have been reported (1). Since most of these conditions result in abnormal plasma concentrations of one or several amino acids, plasma amino acid concentration profiles have been useful in the diagnosis of these disorders.

2369

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

HILL ET AL.

Amino acids were first determined in physiological fluids by the classic method of Stein and Moore (2). This method utilized ion-exchange chromatography and the reaction with ninhydrin for the separation and detection of amino acids. Several modifications of this method have been developed (3,4); however, separation of amino acids in physiological fluids require at least 4 1/2 hours.

Amino acids in hydrolysates of proteins have recently been analyzed by HPLC as phenylthiohydantoin (5,6), dansyl (7) and o-phthaldialdehyde/thiol derivatives (8,9). Hill <u>et al</u>.(10) and Lindroth <u>et al</u>.(8) have shown that amino acids in plasma can be determined in less than an hour by HPLC as o-phthaldialdehyde/ethanethiol (OPA/EtSH) or o-phthaldialdehyde/2-mercaptoethanol derivatives. The purpose of the present study was to characterize the optimal parameters necessary for the quantitation of plasma amino acids by HPLC as OPA/EtSH derivatives.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chromatographic System

Waters Associates Liquid Chromatographic Systems with two Model 6000A pumps were used for all experiments. One system utilized a Model 660 solvent programmer, a Model U6K injector and a Hewlett Packard HP3352D data system, whereas the other system utilized a Model 720 microprocessor solvent programmer, a WISP 710B automatic injector system and a Model

730 data module. Both systems were equipped with Schoffel FS-970 fluorometers adjusted to the following parameters: excitation wavelength - 229 nm; emission cut-off filter -470 nm; time constant - 0.5 s. The sensitivity setting was adjusted so that the photomultiplier tube had an absolute sensitivity of approximately 40 A/lm.

A $\mu Bondapack$ C $_{1\,R},$ 30 cm x 3.9 mm i.d., reverse phase column along with a $C_{1,8}/Corasil, 2 \text{ cm x } 3.9 \text{ mm i.d. guard}$ column was used for all analyses. New columns were conditioned before analysis of OPA/EtSH amino acids by equilibrating the column with 70% $\rm CH_{3}OH/H_{2}O$ and then programming to 100% $\rm CH_{3}OH$ in 15 min and allowing approximately 100 mL of $\rm CH_3OH$ to flow over the column. The solvent was then changed to 100% water over a 15 min period. The water was allowed to flow over the column for approximately 5 min. The solvent system was then changed to 0.1% (v/v) $\text{H}_{3}\text{PO}_{l_{1}}$ and approximately 200 mL of the acid was allowed to flow through the column. The column was flushed with water to remove the phosphoric acid prior to equilibrating with the solvent system described below. This procedure was found to be necessary to remove from the column an acid soluble component that reacted with the OPA/EtSH reagent and caused rapid degradation of the column. The acid wash of the columns was required only once.

The temperature of the column was maintained at 28° by circulating water through an aluminum water jacket that encircled the column. A Haake Model FJ heater/circulator and a Haake Kll cooling system was used to produce the required water temperature and pump the water through the column jacket.

A stock buffer of 300 mM phosphate/518 mM sodium was prepared by dissolving ll.59 g NaH₂PO₄·H₂O and 30.66 g Na₂HPO₄ in reagent grade water and diluting to 1 L with reagent grade water. The buffer was filtered through a 0.45µ filter prior to preparing the HPLC solvent systems. Solvent system A (15.0 mM PO₄/25.9 mM Na) was prepared by diluting 50.0 mL of the 300 mM PO₄/518 mM Na stock buffer to 1 L with reagent grade water. Solvent system B₁ (15.0 mM PO₄, 25.9 mM Na, 45% H₂O/CH₃CN) was prepared by diluting 50.0 mL of 300 mM PO₄/518 mM Na stock buffer and 400 mL of reagent grade water to 1 L with CH₃CN. Solvent System B₂ (15.0 mM PO₄, 25.9 mM Na, 45% H₂O/tetrahydrofuran) was prepared by the same procedure described for solvent system B₁ except the solution was diluted to volume with tetrahydrofuran instead of acetonitrile.

Analysis of the OPA/EtSH amino acid derivatives on a new column resulted in a gradual, parallel decrease in the retention time of all the amino acid derivatives except arginine. This resulted in a loss of resolution between arginine and tyrosine. To regain this resolution, the concentration of the buffer in solvent A and B was increased by using an addi-

tional 10.0 mL of stock buffer. Additionally, 10.0 mL less water was added to solvent systems B so that the concentration of water remained 45%.

For separation of the amino acid derivatives (except Gly and Thr) a solvent program consisting of a linear gradient from 15% (or 10%) solvent B_1 /solvent A to 75% solvent B_1 /solvent A over a period of 60 min was used (System I). For the separation of OPA/EtSH Gly and Thr derivatives an isocratic system of 30% B_2 /A was used. After 12 min the solvent was changed to 75% B_2 /A to remove the other amino acid derivatives from the column (System II). A flow rate of 2.0 mL/min was used for both solvent programmed systems. The columns were reequilibrated to initial solvent conditions by a 10 min reverse linear gradient.

Preparation of Standards

Individual crystalline samples of L-amino acids were obtained from Pierce Chemical Co. (AMAC Standard Kit, No. 20065), Aldrich Chemical Co. (DL citrulline, No. 85,572-3; DL-p-fluorophenylalanine, No. Fl-380-D; Taurine, No. 15,224-2) and Sigma Chemical Co. (β -alanine, No. A-7752; DL- α -aminoadipic acid, No. A-0637; L- α -amino-n-butyric acid, No. A-1879: DL- β -aminoisobutyric acid, No. A-8504; L-1-methylhistidine, No. M-9005; L-3methylhistidine, No. M-3879; L-ornithine, No. 0-2375). A mixture of 0.4µmol/mL of each of the following amino acids was prepared in 0.1 N HCl: Ala, Arg, Asn, Glu, Gln, Gly, His, Ile, Leu, Lys, Met, Orn, Phe, Ser, Tau, Thr, Trp, Tyr and Val. Five mL (2.00 μ mol each amino acid) of this solution was placed in several 150 mm x 14 mm test tubes, lyophylized to dryness and glass sealed under the original vacuum. Fresh standards were prepared daily by dissolving the residue from one of the lyophylized standards with 4.0 mL of 0.1 N HCl to produce a 500 nmol/mL stock standard. Other amino acids standards were prepared by diluting aliquots of this solution with 0.1 N HCl.

A stock solution of the internal standard (2.00 mol/mL fluorophenylalanine) was prepared by dissolving 37.7 mg of 97% DL-fluorophenylalanine in 0.1 N HCl and diluting to 100 mL with 0.1 N HCl. The working internal standard solution (20.0 nmol/mL fluorophenylalanine) was prepared by diluting 1.0 mL of the 2.00 µmol/mL fluorophenylalanine solution to 100 mL with methanol.

Preparation of OPA/EtSH Amino Acid Derivatives

Two methods, a macro and a micro method were used to prepare OPA/EtSH derivatives of amino acids in plasma and standards. In the macro preparation, 2.00 mL of methanol or internal standard solution were placed into a 15 mL glass-stoppered centrifuge tube. Three-tenths mL of standard amino acid solution or plasma (or serum) was slowly added to the methanol

with intermittent mixing. The solution was mixed on a vortextype mixer for 15 s and then centrifuged at 1200 x g for 5 min. One mL of the supernatant phase was transferred to a 5.00 mL volumetric flask. The reaction was initiated by adding, in order, 0.5 mL of saturated borate buffer (pH 9.5), 1.0 mL of 20 μ L/mL ethanethiol (in methanol) and 1.0 mL 20 mg/mL o-phthaldialdehyde (in methanol). The total was diluted to 5.00 mL with methanol and allowed to remain at room temperature for at least 2 min for completion of reaction before analysis of 5 to 10 μ L on the HPLC system.

In the micro method, 30 μ L of amino acid standard or plasma (or serum) sample were added to 200 μ L of internal standard solution in a 5 mL glass-stoppered centrifuge tube. The solution was mixed on a vortex-type mixer for 15 s and then centrifuged at 1200 x g for 5 min. One hundred μ L of the supernatant phase was transferred to a 15 mL centrifuge tube. The reaction was initiated by adding, in order, 20 μ L saturated borate buffer (pH 9.5) and 10 μ L/mL ethanethiol/20 mg/mL o-phthaldialdehyde in methanol. The solution was allowed to stand at room temperature for at least 2 min before analysis of 5 to 10 μ L on the HPLC system.

Quantitative Analysis

Mixtures of three or four of the standard amino acids were analyzed on the HPLC system at concentrations ranging from 500 nmol/mL to 10 nmol/mL. The peak area (A_s) of each amino acid derivative was divided by the concentration (c_s) to produce the response factor (k). The response factor for each concentration of a given amino acid was averaged to determine the k that was used to calculate the concentration of the amino acid in the sample (C_u) as follows:

$$C_u = \frac{A_u}{k}$$

A_u= Area of amino acid derivative in sample

Optimization of OPA/EtSH Reagent Concentration

A plasma sample was prepared for amino acid analysis by mixing 1.5 mL of plasma with 10.0 mL of methanol in a culture tube. Following centrifugation at 1200 x g for 5 min, 1.0 mL of the supernatant phase, 1.0 mL of 300 nmol/mL amino acid standard and 0.5 mL saturated borate buffer (pH 9.5) were added to six 5.00 mL volumetric flasks. One of the following volumes of a solution containing 100 mg OPA/100 μ L EtSH per mL methanol was added to one of the reaction flasks: 0.005, 0.025, 0.050, 0.100 or 1.00 mL. The solutions were diluted to 5.00 mL with methanol. Five μ L of each sample were analyzed by the described HPLC system 2 min after initiating the reaction. To determine the optimal amount of OPA/EtSH necessary for complete reactivity with the amino acids in plasma, the

sum of the area of the peaks for all amino acids in a profile was plotted against the concentration of OPA/EtSH.

Effect of Buffer Concentration on Retention of OPA/EtSH Amino Acids

Six sets of A and B_1 solvent systems were prepared containing different concentrations (3.00/5.16, 6.00/10.3, 9.00/ 15.5, 12.0/20.6, 15.0/25.8 and 18.0/31.0 mM PO₄/mM Na) of sodium phosphate buffer, while maintaining a 45% concentration of water in solvent B_1 and the same pH in all systems. A sample of OPA/EtSH derivatized amino acids (19.6 pmoles each) was analyzed by the described HPLC system using each set of A and B_1 solvent systems in turn. The effect of the change in buffer concentration was visualized by plotting the retention time for each amino acid derivative against the buffer concentration.

Effect of Column Temperature on the Retention of OPA/EtSH Amino Acids

Using the described HPLC system, 19.6 pmol of OPA/EtSH amino acid standard was analyzed using column temperatures of 15° , 20° , 25° , 28° , 30° and 40° . The effect of column temperature on the retention of each amino acid derivative was observed by plotting the retention time of each amino acid against the column temperature.

Comparison of Plasma Amino Acid Concentrations Determined by an Amino Acid Analyzer and by the Proposed Method

Samples of plasma were collected from six healthy rats and were analyzed for Thr, Ser, Pro, Glu, Gly, Ala, Val, Met, Ile, Leu, Tyr, Phe, Lys, His and Arg on a Beckman 119C Amino Acid Analyzer. The samples were also analyzed by the procedure described in the present study. The data from both methods were compared by taking the absolute difference in the values obtained by the two methods and dividing by the value obtained by the amino acid analyzer. This number was multiplied by 100 to obtain the percent difference.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Figures 1 and 2 show chromatograms of OPA/EtSH derivatives of standard amino acids, using system I and system II respectively. Attempts were made to resolve the Gly and Thr derivatives in one system along with the other amino acid derivatives shown separated in Figure 1. As indicated by Larsen <u>et al</u>. (11), Jones <u>et al</u>. (9) and Figure 2, the use of tetrahydrofuran in the solvent system is effective in resolving Gly and Thr, however, small amounts of tetrahydrofuran added to either solvent A or solvent B_1 in system I resulted in either the loss of resolution between Ser and Gln or Ile and Trp or the loss of resolution betw en both sets of these amino acids. Since system II gives baseline resolution between Gly and Thr, it was decided to sacrifice the





Figure 2. Chromatogram of OPA/EtSH Amino Acid Standards. Chromatographic System II.

separation of this pair of amino acids in system I, in order to maintain good baseline resolution of all other amino acids and to use system II to analyze Gly and Thr separately.

In addition to those amino acids shown in the chromatogram in Figure 1, the elution order of several other amino acids in system I is listed in Table 1. A comparison of retention times of amino acids relative to fluorophenylalanine is listed. These sets of data were obtained six months

TABLE 1

Elution Order of OPA/EtSH Amino Acids on Bondapak C₁₈ in

~ .	
System	1

the second	and a second
RRt ^{1,2}	RRt ^{1,3}
0.101 0.166 0.226 0.355 0.398 0.426 0.448 0.490 0.505 0.505 0.505	0.106 0.168 0.357 0.399 0.430 0.445 0.506 0.506
0.588 0.610 0.646 0.664 0.702	0.590 0.639 0.663 0.706
0.702 0.702 0.789 0.817 0.891 0.914 0.926 0.947 1.000 1.385	0.795 0.826 0.902 0.920 0.939 0.957 1.000 1.427
	RRt ¹ ,2 0.101 0.166 0.226 0.355 0.398 0.426 0.448 0.490 0.505 0.505 0.505 0.505 0.505 0.541 0.588 0.610 0.646 0.646 0.664 0.7020000000000

- $^{\rm l}$ RR $_{\rm t}$ = Retention time of OPA/EtSH amino acid relative to the retention time of OPA/EtSH p-fluorophenylalanine.
- 2 RR, of OPA/EtSH amino acids determined on column number 113134 on 11/80.
- 3 RR, of OPA/EtSH amino acids determined on column number 139094 on 5/81.



apart on two columns containing different batches of μ Bondapak C_{1.8} column material. Relative retention times between the two runs are proximal. Note that Gly and Thr co-elute. α -Amino-n-butyric acid and β -aminoisobutyric acid co-elute with Tau.

A chromatogram of OPA/EtSH derivatives of amino acids extracted from a normal rat plasma is shown in Figure 3. The amino acid derivatives were identified by comparing the relative retention times of the peaks in the sample profiles to the relative retention times of the amino acid standards.

The average variation in the retention time of the 20 amino acids in the standard solution when analyzed six times was 1.9% CV (range 1.6% to 2.4%). For the same set of samples the average relative retention time varied by 0.3% CV (range 0.1% to 0.6%). The retention data suggest that the identification of amino acids should be evaluated on the basis of the relative retention time.

Linear regression analysis of the peak area of each amino acid versus the amino acid concentration over a range of 500 to 5 nmol/mL gave a correlation coefficient of 0.999 or better for all the amino acids in the standard solution. Figure 4 shows a standard curve for 3 representative amino acids. The curve illustrated for Ala is representative of the slope that was obtained for most of the amino acids. The curves obtained for Orn and Lys had a lower slope value than the other amino



Figure 4. Representative Standard Curves for OPA/EtSH Amino Acid Response versus Concentration.

acid derivatives. This has been observed by other investigators in both post-column and pre-column derivatization with OPA/mercaptoethanol (8, 9, 12, 13). The cause may be due to the presence of two fluorescent isoindole structures, as occurs for both Orn and Lys, causing an internal quenching of the fluroescence of each structure. The fact that the slope for Lys was greater than the slope for Orn suggests that a greater distance between the two isoindole structures results in less internal quenching effects. The slope for Trp has a larger value than that of the other amino acid derivatives. This was probably due to the natural fluorescence of Trp enhancing the fluorescence of the adduct.

The relationship between the peak area response and the amount of derivatizing reagent used in the reaction of a plasma extract containing 2.3 μ mol/mL additional concentration of each amino acid is shown in Figure 5. For the proposed derivatization procedure (utilizing 0.3 mL of plasma), the data indicated that 1 mL of a solution containing 5 mg OPA/5 μ L EtSH was sufficient for complete reactivity of all amino acids in plasma even when present at a concentration several times normal. In order to be sufficiently upon the plateau of the reactivity curve a concentration of 20 mg OPA/20 μ L EtSH per mL was chosen for routine applications. The ratio of OPA/EtSH was maintained at approximately 1:2 to insure



Figure 5. Optimum Concentration of o-Phthaldialdehyde and Ethanethiol for Complete Reaction of Amino Acids in Plasma.

that ethanethiol was the only thiol present in sufficient quantity to form the fluorescent derivative.

Hill, <u>et al</u>. (10) demonstrated that a change in the buffer concentration in the HPLC system affected the retention of the Tau and Tyr OPA/EtSH derivatives but not the retention of Arg. It was suggested that the sodium ion was responsible for the effect. Lindroth <u>et al</u>. (8) demonstrated that changing the buffer concentration in the solvent system affected the retention of all the OPA/mercaptoethanol amino acid derivatives except Arg or ammonia. Data were presented that suggested that the phosphate ion was responsible for the effect and not the sodium ion. Figure 6 shows the effect of changing the buffer concentration on the retention time of several of the OPA/EtSH amino acid derivatives. As observed for the OPA/mercaptoethanol amino acid derivatives an increase in buffer concentration results in an increase in the retention time of all OPA/EtSH amino acids except the Arg derivative. Additionally, Larsen <u>et al</u>. (11) have shown this same effect to occur by increasing the concentration of the counter ion triethylamine in the solvent system.

It was observed that as samples or standards were analyzed, the retention time of each amino acid, except Arg, decreased. The resolution between all amino acid derivatives remained constant except between Arg and Tyr which deteriorated. As suggested by the data in Figure 6, increasing the concentration of the Na/PO₄ buffer in the solvent system resulted in regaining the original retention time of all the amino acids as well as the resolution between Arg and Tyr. Changing the buffer concentration to maintain Arg-Tyr resolution is described in the Materials and Methods section. The similarity in the effects of column aging and decreasing



Figure 6. Effect of Buffer Concentration on the Retention of OPA/EtSH Amino Acids on a $\mu c_{18}^{}$ Column.



Figure 7. Effect of Column Temperature on the Retention of OPA/EtSH Amino Acids on a $\mu c_{18}^{}$ Column.

buffer concentration on the retention of the amino acid derivatives suggested that the two phenomena were related.

As expected, increasing the temperature of the column (Figure 7) caused a decrease in the retention of all the amino acids; however, there was little change in the resolution between most peaks. Exceptions to this were in the resolutions of Trp and Leu which tend to co-elute at low temperatures; Phe and Leu, and Trp and Ile which tend to co-elute at high temperatures; and Thr and Gly which begin to separate at either high or low temperatures. The Thr-Gly resolution was slight and losses in resolution of the other amino acid pairs prevented high column temperature from being used to resolve Thr-Gly in a total system. Temperatures low enough to resolve Thr and Gly resulted in peak broadening and loss of resolution between the Trp-Leu amino acid pair. A temperature of 28° appeared to be optimal for resolving the greatest number of amino acid pairs.

Table 2 lists a comparison between rat plasma amino acid concentrations obtained by the amino acid analyzer and the HPLC method presented in this study. Of the amino acids studied, the values differed by as much as 31% and as little as 0%. The average difference for all the amino acids was 12.3%.

Recently, Fernstrom and Fernstrom (14) reported reasonable correlation between amino acid profiles obtained by the

											`	
mino Acid	Plasma 1	Plas	ima 2	Plasm	н С	Plasm	18 4	Plasm	a 2	Plasm	8 0	Average
	م ش	e F	ц Н	V d O	1.8	OPA	ΞĔ	OPA	ΤE	OPA	IE	%DIFC
	OPA IE	UPA	TT	¥ 70								1 2
	LER EDR	רע ע	609	548	552	651	651	528	564	525	571	, 0
11a			910	, 7.8 8.7 L	60 L	205	231	161	207	159	200	16.3
Arg	622 J.L		000	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -			1067	747	902	748	869	J1.6
τητ + Thr	802 963	066	1061	T 066	0CU.	, UVV UVV		-	t	ц а	ц С	0.7
3	7], AO	87	89	93	90	94	80	67	2	0	2	
HÌS	+	- c	2 2		717	26	86	76	89	87	93	с Ц
Ile	70 TL	CO.	4		- (\ 		t L	ilo -	С.Г	ττι	160	8.7
T	123 J48	747	166 1	162	168	94T	T T	† 1		.		(
пец			7997	1,5),	535	352	535	282	363	417	503	24.2
Lys	352 511	340	400	t t				ц),	ц С	51	22	10.2
Tro+	54 54	. 55	59	78	78	20	60	1	5			
		90	79	71	67	61	56	58	63	66	29	0
Phe				008	107	014	430	283	330	330	397	13.0
Ser	296 371	320	070		- (47 r	С С Г	цо г	1 T L4	TOT	06	14.1
Առո	129 119	9.	66	152	123	01	JCT)	. , { 			
- رجا ۲۹۷	152 19(18:	3 213	225	254	181	233	167	224	195 1	233	+ イ・ ト

b. Plasma concentrations in nmoles/mL obtained by amino acid analyzer c. % DIF = $\frac{1}{N} \frac{100(0PA-IE)/IE}{N}$; where N = number of samples analyzed

TABLE 2

HPLC method presented here with those obtained by an amino acid analyzer. Additionally, they have demonstrated that amino acid concentration profiles obtained by the HPLC method on plasma from rats with experimental diabetes was diagnostic for the disease.

The amino acid analysis presented in this study offers a rapid and sensitive alternative to the time-consuming ion-exchange methods currently in use for determining plasma amino acid concentrations. Further studies are in progress to determine the accuracy of the HPLC method.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Madelyn H. Fernstrom and Dr. John D. Fernstrom for the analysis of plasma amino acids using a conventional amino acid analyzer.

This study is scientific contribution number 963, Storrs Agricultural Experiment Station, The University of Connecticut, Storrs, Connecticut 06268.

REFERENCES

- Bremmer. H.J., Duran, M., Kamerling, J.P., Przyrembel, H., Wadman, S.K., Disturbances of Amino Acid Metabolism: Clinical Chemistry and Diagnosis, Urban and Schwarzenberg, Baltimore, 1981.
- Stein, W.H. and Moore, S., "The Free Amino Acids of Human Blood Plasma", J. Biol. Chem., <u>211</u>, 915, 1954.
- 3. Perry, T.L., Stedman, D. and Hansen, S., "A Versatile Lithium Buffer Elution System for Single Column Automatic Amino Acid Chromatography", J. Chromatogr., 38, 460, 1968.

- 4. Murayama, K. and Shindo, N., "Recommended Method for the Analysis of Amino Acids in Biological Material", J. Chromatogr., <u>143</u>, 137, 1977.
- Zimmerman, C.L., Appella, E. and Pisano, J.J., "Rapid Analysis of Amino Acid Phenylthiohydantoins by High Performance Liquid Chromatography", Anal. Biochem., <u>77</u>, 569, 1977.
- Johnson, N.D., Hunkapiller, M.W. and Hood, L.E., "Analysis of Phenylthiohydantoin Amino Acids by High Performance Liquid Chromatography on Dupont Zorbax Cyanopropylisilane", Anal. Biochem., <u>100</u>, 335, 1979.
- 7. Schmidt, G.J., Olson, D.C. and Slavin, W., "Amino Acid Profiling of Protein Hydrolysates Using Liquid Chromatography and Fluorescence Detection", J. Liq. Chromatogr., <u>2</u>, 1031, 1979.
- Lindroth, P. and Mopper, K., "High Performance Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Subpicomole Amounts of Amino Acids by Precolumn Fluorescence Derivatization with o-Phthaldialdehyde", Anal. Chem., <u>51</u>, 1667, 1979.
- Jones, B.N., Paabo, S. and Stein, S., "Amino Acid Analysis and Enzymatic Sequence Determination of Peptides by an Improved o-Phthaldialdehyde Precolumn Labeling Procedure", J. Liq. Chromatogr., <u>4</u>, 4, 565, 1981.
- Hill, D.W., Walters, F.H., Wilson, T.D. and Stuart, J.D., "High Performance Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Amino Acids in the Picomole Range", Anal. Chem., <u>51</u>, 1338, 1971.
- 11. Larsen, B.R. and West, F.G., "A Method for Quantitative Amino Acid Analysis Using Precolumn o-Phthalaldehyde Derivatization and High Performance Liquid Chromatography", J. Chromatogr. Sci., 19, 259, 1981.
- 12. Roth, M., "Fluorescence Reaction for Amino Acids", Anal. Chem., <u>43</u>, 880, 1971.
- Benson, J.R. and Hare, P.E., "o-Phthalaldehyde: Fluorogenic Detection of Primary Amines in the Picomole Range comparison with Fluorescamine and Ninhydrin", Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., <u>72</u>, 621, 1975.
- Fernstrom, M.H. and Fernstrom, J.D., "Rapid Measurement of Free Amino Acids in Serum and CSF Using High Performance Liquid Chromatography", Life Sci., <u>20</u>, 2119, 1981.
A COMPARISON OF RADIALLY-COMPRESSED AND STAINLESS STEEL COLUMNS FOR THE REVERSED-PHASE ION-PAIR SEPARATION OF PHENCYCLIDINE SYNTHETIC MIXTURES

Rodney W. Beaver, Louis A. Jones, and Carl J. Long II, Department of Chemistry North Carolina State University Raleigh, North Carolina 27650

ABSTRACT

The reversed-phase ion-pair HPLC separation of phencyclidine synthetic mixtures was optimized utilizing Radial-Pak radially compressed columns. Variables examined in the optimization included column type (C-18, C-8, or CN), pairing ion (methane-, pentane-, hexane-, or octane sulfonates) and mobile phase composition (varying concentrations of methanol or acetonitrile in water). The chromatographic behavior of the phencyclidine mixtures in the various systems utilizing radially compressed columns is compared and contrasted to a similar previous study which examined similar variables on stainless steel columns. The optimum system for radially compressed columns was found to consist of a Radial-Pak C-18 column and a mobile phase of 85:15 MeOH:H₂0, 2.5% acetic acid, 1% triethylamine and 5mM sodium hexane sulfonate.

INTRODUCTION

In a previous study (1), an optimized HPLC separation for crude synthetic mixtures of phencyclidine (1-(1-phenylcyclohexyl) piperidine, PCP, <u>1</u>) was reported. In that study, the separation of <u>1</u> and cosynthetics 1-[1-(1,1'-biphenyl-4-yl)cyclohexyl]piperidine (<u>2</u>), 1-[1-phenylethyl)cyclohexyl]piperidine (<u>3</u>), and 1,1'-(1,4-phenylenedicyclohexylidine)bis[piperidine] (<u>4</u>) (see Figure 1

2395

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.



FIGURE 1

Structures of PCP (1) and some identified co-synthetics.

for structures) was optimized utilizing stainless steel analytical (SSA) columns and a reversed-phase paired ion method. The success of this study prompted us to investigate the efficacy of radially-compressed columns for a similar analysis, and we wish to now report the results of this study and compare them with the previously reported results for SSA columns (1).

In the original study (1), compounds 1 and 2 were used as the probe compounds for the determination of the selectivity factor, α , since they constituted the major components of the mixture (2). A total of 11 peaks were observed using the optimized conditions (C-18 column, 70:30 MeOH:H₂O, 5mM C₆H₁₃SO₃Na, pH 3.5 with CH₃COOH and a flow rate of 2.5 ml/min); the later

RADIALLY-COMPRESSED AND STAINLESS STEEL COLUMNS

eluting peaks (larger k's) being small and not well-resolved. In the studies reported herein, it was noted that these strongly retained compounds were not observed except in organic-rich mobile phase mixtures, suggesting a high degree of hydrophobic character for these later eluting compounds. Since these compounds were of minor consequence, our study was limited to the compounds eluting before that peak attributed to compound 2.

During the determination of the k'- and α -values of 1 and 2 as a function of solvent strength, it was observed that as the concentration of the organic component of the mobile phase decreased, the peak previously attributed to 2 began to separate into two peaks, the smaller being the more retained (*vide infra*). Some preliminary evidence that this peak did indeed consist of two compounds was previously obtained by collecting the peak semi-preparatively from a 5/8" C-18 column and, following workup, comparing the mass and NMR spectra. Slight differences in these spectra were observed compared to the synthetic 2, and it is suspected that the second peak represents an isomer of 2. Important, however, is the demonstrated increased resolution of the Radial-Pak columns over that of the SSA columns.

EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

Apparatus

A Waters Associates (Milford, MA) ALC 244 Liquid Chromatograph was used for all analyses. Mobile phase delivery was accomplished by twin M6000A pumps interfaced through the Waters model 660 solvent programmer. Detection was by UV at 254 nm at a sensitivity of 0.02 AUFS. Chromatograms were obtained using a Houston Instruments Omniscribe strip chart recorder (Houston, TX). Columns were radially compressed in the Waters Radial Compression Module. Columns examined included the 10cm x 8mm id Radial-Pak C-18, C-8, and CN (all Waters).

Reagents and Samples

All solvents were prepared exactly as described previously (1) except that 1% triethylamine (TEA) was added. Crude PCP was synthesized according to the method of Kalir (3).

Analysis and Calculations

The standard solution used for the determination of k' and the selectivity ratio, α , was 0.30 µg/µL of crude PCP in MeOH. Each injection was 10.0 µL at a mobile phase flow rate of 2.5 mL/min. Column void times (to) were obtained by injection of pure MeOH or H₂0. The k' values for PCP and 2, and $\alpha_{2/1}$ (the selectivity between 1 and 2), were calculated in the usual manner (4).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 1 contains the values of least-square slopes and intercepts for log k' vs. % organic in the mobile phase for each of the pairing agents examined on the Radial-Pak C-18, C-8 and CN columns. With MeOH as the organic modifier, both the absolute value of the slope (|slope|) and the y-intercept decrease in the order C-18 > C-8 > CN column for a given pairing agent. The value of slope is an indication of the sensitivity of log k' to changes in %MeOH, i.e. the steeper the slope (larger slope) the more effect a small change in %MeOH will have on the retention of the solute (1). The y-intercept, corresponding to log k' at 0% MeOH, is an indicator of the ability of a particular column (or pairing agent) to retain the analyte (i.e. large values for y-intercept mean greater retention). Since both yintercept and slope decrease as column polarity is increased, it is obvious that the more non-polar column (i.e., C-18) permits more control of analyte retention for a given pairing agent with MeOH containing mobile phases.

% MeCN in Mobile Phase.^b Least Squares Equations for log k'_1 vs. % MeOH and vs.

Slope/Intercept| Slope/Intercept| Slope/Intercept| Slope/Intercept| Slope/Intercept| Slope/Intercept| -0.00910/0.499 -0.0132/0.769 -0.0133/0.767 - .0208/1.33 CN -0.0147/1.05-0.0148/1.06-0.0146/1.02 -0.0157/1.11 MeCN/H₂0 C-8 -0.0119/1.10-0.0148/1.28 -0.0132/1.19 -0.0144/1.21 C-18 -0.0210/1.34-0.0193/1.19 -0.0202/1.28 -0.0186/1.13 CN -0.0290/2.28 -0.0277/2.17 -0.0310/2.49 -0.0315/2.53 $MeOH/H_2O$ C-8 -0.0300/2.66 -0.0293/2.59 -0.0299/2.68 -0.0317/2.85C-18 c₅so₃Na c₁so₃Na c₆s0₃Na c₈s0₃Na Pairing Ion

0

the form log $k'_{1} = m$ (% organic) + b where m = slope and b = y-intercept. Correlation coefficients in all cases were >0.96. The equation is of

ا |م

These equations were linear over the range of 50-90% MeOH.

TABLE 1

Least Squares Equations^a for $\log k'_2$ vs. % MeOH and vs. % MeCN in Mobile Phase as a function of Pairing Ion and Column Type.

MeCN/H ₂ 0	CN Slope/Intercept	-0.0280/2.04	-0.0180/1.26	-0.0226/1.58	-0.0270/1.88
	C-8 Slope/Intercept	-0.0233/2.00	-0.0237/1.96	-0.0252/2.10	-0.0247/2.05
	C-18 Slope/Intercept	-0.0235/2.31	-0.0241/2.27	-0.0265/2.50	-0,0246/2.34
меон/н ₂ 0	CN Slope/Intercept	-0.0394/3.27	-0.0303/2.36	-0,0302/2,35	-0.0313/2.45
	C-8 Slope/Intercept	-0.0565/5.01	-0.0427/3.84	-0.0484/4.37	-0,0430/3.85
	C-18 Slope/Intercept	-0.0445/4.30	-0.0445/4.32	-0.0463/4.50	-0.0470/4.56
	Pairing Ion	c ₁ so ₃ Na	c ₅ s0 ₃ Na	c ₆ so ₃ Na	c ₈ s0 ₃ Na

 $\frac{a}{b}$ Correlation coefficients in all cases were >0.94. The equation is of the form log k'₁ = m (% Organic) + b where m = slope and b = y-intercept.

 $rac{\mathrm{b}}{\mathrm{These}}$ guations were linear over the range of 50-90% MeOH in all cases.

TABLE 2

RADIALLY-COMPRESSED AND STAINLESS STEEL COLUMNS

As Table 1 shows, log $k'_{\,\rm T}$ varies less predictably when MeCN-containing mobile phases are used. For the C_1 , C_5 , and $\mathrm{C}_{6}\mathrm{SO}_{3}\mathrm{Na}$ pairing agents, the y-intercept decreases as column polarity is increased, but a sharp increase in intercept is noted for $C_{\rm Q} {\rm SO}_{\rm 3} {\rm Na}$ on the CN column. It is to be noted that the y-intercepts are different on the same column for MeOH and MeCN mobile phases. Since the y-intercept represents k' at 0% organic, this difference would appear to be a contradiction to the concept that k' should be the same in 100% aqueous mobile phase. However, in mobile phase compositions of less than 30% organic, log k' vs. % organic begin to deviate from linearity. The extrapolation to give the log k' values shown in Tables 1 and 2 utilized the linear range of values. The change in |slope| is even less predictable in MeCN mobile phases with no systematic trend being noted. At this time, no explanation presents itself to account for the apparent randomness of analyte retention in MeCN mobile phases. However, similar differences in the behavior of log k' in MeOH- and MeCN- containing mobile phases were observed in the previous study using SSA columns (1).

The least-square slopes and intercepts were determined for compound 2 on each column and with each pairing agent (Table 2), and for any given column type and pairing agent combination, both |slope| and y-intercept were larger for 2 than for 1 under the same conditions. This is not unexpected, since 2 contains an additional (relatively non-polar) phenyl group.

The experimental and predicted values for k'_1 on both the SSA C-18 column (from the previous study (1)) and on the Radial-Pak C-18 column are compared in Table 3. It is interesting to note that for each pairing agent/% MeOH combination, k'_1 is smaller for the SSA column than for the Radial-Pak column. A possible explanation for the greater retentivity of the Radial-Pak column relative to the SSA column lies in the fact that the

2401

TABLE	3
	~

Experimental and Predicted $\stackrel{a}{-}$ k' -Values as a Function of % MeOH and Pairing Ion Using SSAb and Radial-Pak C-18 Columns.

	SSA C	SSA C-18		Radial-Pak C-18	
% MeOH	Expt1. k'1	Pred. k'	Expt1. k'1	Pred. k'1	
		c ₅ sc) ₃ Na		
45 50 60 65 70 80 90	4.35 2.68 1.07 0.72 	3.80 2.55 1.14 0.77 	15.24 7.18 3.48 1.84 0.95	7.31 7.31 3.69 1.86 1.06	
		C ₆ SC	⁰ 3 ^{Na}		
45 50 55 60 65 70 80 85 90	7.19 2.60 1.60 1.10 0.71	6.81 2.75 1.75 1.11 0.71	 7.80 3.92 1.95 1.41 0.98	 7.82 3.89 1.94 1.37 1.04	
		C ₈ s(⁰ 3 ^{Na}		
55 60 70 75 80 85 90	8.45 3.49 0.75 0.41 0.16	7.12 4.09 0.77 0.44 0.15	9.13 4.11 2.23 1.39 1.01	8.93 4.33 2.09 1.46 1.01	

<u>a</u> Predicted values are as predicted using equation (1).

b

_____ Data taken from Ref. 1

Radial-Pak packing material is not end-capped after the reaction which bonds the octadecysilane moiety to the silica-gel (the C-18 SSA column utilized in (1) was end-capped). The lack of endcapping exposes the solute to free silanol groups present on the silica base. Interaction of the positive, protonated nitrogen in the piperidyl ring of 1 with these silanol sites could result in increased retention. As noted in the Experimental Section, triethylamine (TEA) was added to the mobile phases used on Radial-Pak columns in an attempt to minimize these secondary "polar" interactions. Mobile phases which did not contain TEA were found to be unacceptable due to severe peak tailing. The fact that addition of TEA significantly improved peak shapes is indicative of these proposed "polar" interactions. It should be noted that the non-end-capped silica and the addition of TEA to the mobile phases results in a fundamentally different system for the Radial-Pak columns as opposed to the SSA columns. The comparisons between Radial-Pak and SSA columns made herein reflect not only the differences due to the compression of the Radial-Pak columns, but primarily the differences due to mobile phase and packing material chemistry.

The log k' values for 1 and 2 were fitted to an equation of the form

using the GLM procedure of SAS (5), where %MeOH is the concentration of MeOH in the mobile phase and nC is the chain-length of the sulfonate pairing-ion (i.e. for hexane sulfonate nC=6). The derived a, b, c, and d parameters are tabulated in Table 4 for each of the columns examined.

In order to determine the optimum system for the separation of PCP and its cosynthetics, $\alpha_{2/1}$ (the selectivity ratio between 2 and 1) was maximized since our previous study (1) had shown that as the separation of 1 and 2 increased, all components were

Coefficients Radially Com	for Equatior pressed Colum	n 1 for PCE ns. a	(1) and 2 on	Three Different
For PCP(1) -	ah "Mathanan a muron 100 ka sa na chuith sh' ana ma ni€hheidhasan		enen fudfunge eine en 1997balande sonte französigen aus ander fud kann	
Column	<u>a</u>	b	C	d
C-18 C-8 CN	-0.0267 -0.0259 -0.0172	0.0646 0.0722 0.0359	-0.000598 -0.000718 -0.000354	2.32 1.97 0.980
For 2 -				
Column				
C-18 C-8 CN	-0.0413 -0.0410 -0.0298	0.0678 0.00764 0.0223	-0.000733 -0.000224 -0.000159	4.03 3.77 2.26

TABLE 4

Correlation coefficients for the equations on each of the columns were >0.995 for $\frac{1}{2}$ and >0.993 for 2.

increasingly well-resolved. Figures 2, 3 and 4 are three-dimensional plots of $\alpha_{2/1}$ as a function of both % MeOH and nC. The plots were generated using the SAS/graph procedure (6) and solving

 $\alpha_{2/1} = \frac{10^{\uparrow} \text{ eq 1 for compound 2}}{10^{\uparrow} \text{ eq 1 for compound 1}}$

for MeOH percentages of 30-90% at 2% intervals and pairing ion chain lengths of 5 to 8 at 0.1 intervals. The $\alpha_{2/1}$ (z) axis in each plot was arbitrarily clipped at $\alpha = 3.5$ since qualitative examination of the chromatograms showed that an α value of 3.5 was more than sufficient to result in resolution of all peaks of interest while keeping analysis times relatively short.



X IS ZMEOH, Y IS PAIRING-ION CHAIN LENGTH, & Z IS ALPHA ALPHA VALUES GREATER THAN 3.5 SET EQUAL TO 3.5

FIGURE 2

Plot of $\alpha_{2/1}$ (z axis) as a function of % MeOH (x axis) and nC (y axis) on the radially compressed C-18 column.



X IS ZMEOH, Y IS PAIRING-ION CHAIN LENCTH, & Z IS ALPHA ALPHA VALUES GREATER THAN 3.5 SET EQUAL TO 3.5

FIGURE 3

Plot of $\alpha_{2/1}$ as a function of % MeOH and nC on the radially compressed \tilde{C} -8 column.

Examination of Figs. 2-4 shows that all three columns are capable of achieving α values of 3.5 within the range of conditions examined. However, the "steepness" of the plots increases in the order C-18 (Fig 2) > C-8 (Fig 3) > CN (Fig 4). The fact that the C-18 column exhibits the steepest slope indicates that,



X IS %MEOH, Y IS PAIRING-ION CHAIN LENGTH, & Z IS ALPHA ALPHA VALUES GREATER THAN 3.5 SET EQUAL TO 3.5



Plot of $\alpha_{2/1}$ as a function of % MeOH and nC on the radially compressed CN column.

for a given % MeOH, the C-18 column would yield the largest α value of the three columns examined. It is interesting to note that this steepness occurs only in the % MeOH (x) direction. The plots are all relatively flat in the nC (y) direction, indicating that pairing-ion chain length exerts little effect on the separation of 1 and 2.



FIGURE 5

Chromatogram of crude synthetic PCP mixture. Numbers correspond to structures in Figure 1. Conditions: $85:15 \text{ MeOH:H}_20, 5 \text{mM}_2$ C₆S0₃Na + 1% TEA and 2.5% HOAc; Flow rate 3.5 mL/min; UV @ 254 nm, 0.1 AUFS; Radially compressed C-18 column.

RADIALLY-COMPRESSED AND STAINLESS STEEL COLUMNS

Figure 5 illustrates the separation of a crude PCP mixture obtained on a Radial-Pak C-18 column. The chromatogram shown in Fig. 5 was obtained using conditions which were predicted from Fig. 4 to yield approximately $\alpha_{2/1} = 3.5$ (i.e. $85:15 \text{ MeOH}:\text{H}_20$ with $\text{C}_6\text{SO}_3\text{Na}$ as pairing agent). The actual value of $\alpha_{2/1}$ as measured from the chromatogram is approximately 3.6. As demonstrated in Figures 3 and 4, an equivalent $\alpha_{2/1}$ can also be obtained on the C-8 or CN columns by decreasing the amount of MeOH in the mobile phase. However, the more MeOH-rich mobile phase are less viscous, allowing higher flow rates at lower pressures, thereby reducing analysis time.

Close examination of the peak attributed to compound 2 in Fig. 5 shows a slight deformation on the trailing edge of the peak. This shoulder is attributed to the possible presence of an isomer of 2 (*vide supra*). Further separation of this shoulder can be achieved by further decreasing the % MeOH in the mobile phase at the cost of substantially increased analysis time. Figure 6 illustrates a chromatogram in which the shoulder is more completely resolved utilizing %MeOH = 75. However, the increase in resolution required an approximate two-fold increase in analysis time, substantially increased tailing for the compound 1 peak, and resulted in a greatly decreased detection efficiency for 3, 4, and other (unidentified) peaks in the mixture.

In summary, the liquid chromatographic behavior of 1 has been determined under reversed-phase paired ion conditions on radially compressed columns. An optimized system (consisting of a C-18 Radial-Pak column and a mobile phase of 85:15 MeOH:H₂O, 5 mM hexane sulfonate, 2.5% acetic acid and 1% TEA) is presented for the separation of 1 and cosynthetics 2, 3, and 4 on radially compressed columns and the method demonstrated on a crude synthetic PCP mixture. It was shown that the Radial-Pak C-18 column could provide superior resolution (relative to the SSA





Chromatogram of crude synthetic PCP mixture illustrating increased resolution of shoulder from peak attributed to 2. Conditions: same as Fig. 1 except $75:25 \text{ MeOH:H}_20$.

C-18 column) for a suspected isomer of 2. Comparisons of $\log k'_1$ vs. % MeOH plots for the Radial-Pak C-18 column and the SSA C-18 column showed that PCP has a much higher affinity for the Radial-Pak C-18 column. Whether this increased affinity is due to hydrophobic or polar interactions is not clear at the present time. However, we suspect that the differences in affinity are due to polar interactions since it was necessary to dope the

mobile phases used on Radial-Pak columns with TEA to obtain acceptable peak symmetries.

REFERENCES

- I. Jones, L.A.; Beaver, R.W.; Schmoeger, T.L.; Anal. Chem. <u>54</u>, 182,(1982).
- Jones, L.A.; Beaver, R.W.; Schmoeger, T.L.; J. Org. Chem., 46, 3330,(1981).
- 3. Kalir, A.; Edery, H.; Pelah, Z.; Balderman, O.; Porath, G.; J. Med. Chem. 12, 473, (1969).
- Snyder, L.R.: Kirkland, J.J., "Introduction to Modern Liquid Chromatography", 2nd ed.; Wiley:New York, (1979).
- 5. Hewlig, J.T.; Council, K.A.: Eds. "SAS Users Guide 1979 edition"; SAS Institute:Raleigh, NC,(1979).
- 6. Council, K.A.; Helwig, J.T.: Eds. "SAS/Graph User's Guide ~ 1981 Edition", SAS Institute:Cary, NC,(1981).

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2413-2422 (1982)

ANALYSIS OF CIMETIDINE IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS BY HIGH PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

J.A. Apffel, U.A.Th. Brinkman and R.W. Frei Department of Analytical Chemistry, Free University, De Boelelaan 1083, 1081 HV Amsterdam, The Netherlands

ABSTRACT

The clean-up and analysis of cimetidine in human urine and blood is described. Samples were prepared by adsorption on Waters Sep-pak C-18 disposable pre-columns in basic solution followed by elution in 1 ml methanol. For blood samples, the eluate was concentrated under a stream of nitrogen; urine samples required no further concentration. The separation was performed on a reversed phase column using a mixture of methanol-1 mM sodium dodecyl sulphate in a 10 mM phosphate buffer of pH 3.0 (35:65) as mobile phase. Procaine was used as internal standard. Detection was by UV at 228 nm yielding a minimum detectable quantity of 20 ng with linearity over three decades of concentration.

INTRODUCTION

Cimetidine (Tagamet^R, SKF) (N"-cyano-N-methyl-N'-[2(5-methyl-1H--imidazol-4-yl)methyl-thioethyl]guanidine), a histamine H_2 receptor antagonist, inhibits the secretion of gastric acids and has been used very effectively in the treatment and maintenance of patients with duodenal and peptic ulcers and in the treatment of Zollinger-Ellison syndrome (1-3).

2413

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

Although adverse side effects are generally minor and gastrointestinal in nature (4,5), there are reports of more serious reactions including CNS adverse effects (6,7). Furthermore, the action of cimetidine has been shown to be dose dependent (8). For these reasons, the analysis of cimetidine in biological fluids, particularly blood and plasma is of clinical interest.

Several high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analyses of cimetidine have appeared in the literature (9-15) utilizing both normal phase and reversed phase separations. Reversed phase separations have been performed with a variety of mobile phases, including highly basic solutions with high percentages of organic modifier (9) and acidic solutions with low modifier concentrations (14). While the use of mobile phase of pH 8 or above easily leads to column degradation via silica dissolution, the acidic mobile phases used offer limited range of capacity factors due to the low retention of cimetidine under acidic conditions. Sample preparation procedures reported have required double or triple extractions (9,10) or at least single extraction steps followed by concentration steps (13-15).

This paper describes a reversed phase separation using a mobile phase containing ion pair reagent offering improved control over capacity factors. The clean-up procedure utilizes Waters Sep-pak C-18 cartridges for a rapid clean-up and concentration.

EXPERIMENTAL

Reagents and Samples

Analytical grade methanol was obtained from E. Merck (Darmstadt, GFR). HPLC-grade water was prepared using a Milli Q water system (Waters Millipore, Millford, MA, USA). Potassium phosphate and sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) were obtained from Baker (Deventer, The Netherlands). Cimetidine (CMT) was obtained from Smith, Kline and French Labs (Philadelphia, PA, USA) and procaine hydrochloride from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA).

CIMETIDINE IN BIOLOGICAL FLUIDS

Blood and urine samples were taken from a duodenal ulcer patient receiving cimetidine in 400 mg doses at 12 hour intervals. Blood samples were prevented from coagulating by the addition of NaEDTA. All samples were stored in a refrigerator at 5° C.

HPLC Apparatus

The HPLC system consisted of a Gilson (Villers le Bel, France) Model 302 single piston pump with a Kontron (Zürich, Switzerland) Model 812 pulse dampener. A Valco Instruments (Houston, TX, USA) high pressure six port model CV UH Pa valve with a 20 µl loop was used for sample introduction. A Pye Unicam (Cambridge, UK) Model LC 3 variable wavelength UV detector was used as a detector at 228 nm. A Kipp and Zonen (Delft, The Netherlands) BD-8 multi range recorder was used to record detector out-put. The HPLC column consisted of a 10 cm x 4.6 cartridge column system packed with 10 µm C-18 material from Brownlee Labs (Clara, CA, USA) Sep-pak^R C-18 cartridges were obtained from Waters.

METHODS

The HPLC mobile phases consisted of mixtures of methanol and 1 mM sodium dodecyl sulphate in a 10 mM phosphate buffer of pH 3.0. Routine analyses were performed using 35% methanol. The use of mixtures of methanol and 0.1% solution of ammonium hydroxide was also investigated. The mobile phases were filtered using a 0.5 μ m Waters Millipore solvent filtration system and degassed under vacuum in an ultrasonic bath.

Samples were prepared as follows. To 1-5 ml of blood or urine was added one drop of ammonium hydroxide giving the sample a pH of approximately 10. An appropriate amount of the internal standard procaine (1 mg/ml for urine and 20 µg/ml for blood) was also added. The sample was passed through a Sep-pak C-18 cartridge which had previously been washed with a dilute ammonium hydroxide solution. The cartridge was then washed with 10 ml of a dilute solution of ammonium hydroxide (pH 10) and 10 ml of the 1 mM sodium dodecyl sulphate in 10 mM phosphate buffer at pH 3.0. Following the washes, the cimetidine was eluted from the cartridges with 1 ml methanol. For the analysis of blood, this eluent was concentrated to 50 μ l under a stream of nitrogen. In the case of urine samples this concentration step was not required.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Initial tests were run using a mobile phase consisting of mixtures of methanol and 0.1% aqueous solution of ammonium hydroxide. Figure 1 shows a plot of log k' vs % methanol. This system provided adequate retention, but rapid degradation of the analytical column resulted due to silica dissolution. Although this effect could be circumvented via the use of silica presaturation of mobile phases, we preferred to develop a simpler system using ion pair chromatography. Using sodium dodecyl sulphate to form ion pairs with the protonated amino groups in cimetidine, retention behaviour similar



Figure 1. Retention behaviour of Cimetidine on reversed phase (C-18) material. Δ ; CH₃OH: 1% NH₃ in H₂O, pH 10, O; CH₃OH: 20 mM KH₂PO₄, 1 mM SDS in H₂O, pH 3.0.

2416

to the ammonium hydroxide mobile phase was obtained. This is illustrated also in Figure 1. The amount of methanol added to the sodium dodecyl sulphate solution was dictated in both blood and urine samples by the resolution of cimetidine from the internal standard, procaine. At 35% methanol, the resolution of these two compounds was found to be 1.3 with cimetidine eluting in 9 ml at a flow-rate of 2 ml/min.

The clean-up procedure was found to be adequate for both blood and urine samples. Figure 2 shows a plot of the concentration of ci-



Figure 2. Concentration and elution of cimetidine on Sep-pak C-18 cartridges. (a) loading sample with equilibration if Sep--pak with 0.1% NH₃ in water, (b) loading sample without equilibration with 0.1% NH₃ in water, (c) elution of sample (10 ml loaded) by methanol. Original sample concentration: 20 µg/ml.



Figure 3. Analysis of cimetidine (CMT) in urine: Column: 10 cm x 4.6 mm C-18. Mobile phase: 35:65 CH₃OH: 20 mM KH₂PO₄ 1 mM SDS in H₂O, pH 3.0; Flow-rate 2 ml/min; Detection UV at 228 nm; 20 µl loop injection. a) Raw urine, without Sep-pak clean--up: No internal standard added b) Urine with Sep-pak clean--up. Original sample volume: 50 ml with 1 mg/ml procaine internal standard (1.5.) added.

metidine eluting from the Sep-pak as a function of the volume of sample (curve A) or eluent (curve C) passed through the Sep-pak. Curve A represents the cimetidine eluting from the Sep-pak during sample loading. A relatively constant low level of cimetidine elutes throughout the loading step. The mechanism of this phenomenon is not known; however, the use of the internal standard which behaves similarly negates any adverse effect on the quantitation. Curve B represents the elution of cimetidine during sample loading when the Sep-pak is not initially washed with a basic solution. A larger concentration of cimetidine elutes in the first 2 ml of sample due to a lack of equilibration. Curve C shows the elution of the analyte after loading 10 ml of sample from the Sep-pak with methanol. As can be seen all the cimetidine is eluted in 3 ml.



Figure 4. Analysis of cimetidine in blood. Conditions as in figure 3. a) Untreated whole blood. No internal standard added. b) whole blood after Sep-pak clean-up. Original sample: 1 ml blood + 20 µg/ml procaine internal standard. c) Whole blood after Sep-pak clean-up and concentration of eluent to 50 µl. Original sample as in (b).

Figure 3 shows the analysis of cimetidine in urine with and without the clean-up procedure. No procaine is present in the untreated samples. As can be seen, in the case of urine, the clean-up is not absolutely necessary since the analyte and internal standard are well resolved from the rest of the matrix. Figures 4 a, b and c shows the analysis of blood; without clean-up, with clean-up and with clean-up and concentration, respectively. The amount of internal standard added was less in the concentrated sample to keep the procaine peak on scale. Again it can be seen that, in general, the major components in the sample are well resolved from the analyte, but the concentration in the blood is approximately 1000 times less than in urine. Even with the clean-up on a Sep-pak cartridge which involves a concentration of approximately five fold, the cimetidine is present at a low level (Fig. 4b). In the routine method further concentration by evaporation of the solvent was used and the cimetidine was easily detected at therapeutic levels (Fig. 4c). Lower detection limits could also be achieved by using larger injection volumes with little loss in resolution.

Using ultraviolet absorbance detection at 228 nm, a minimum detectable quantity of 20 ng was obtained. Data from a calibration plot yielded a correlation coefficient of 0.9988 over three decades of concentration.

The concentration of cimetidine in blood following administration of the drug was examined as a function of time. This is shown graphically in Figure 5. The samples were taken at 2 hour intervals for 10 hours following a 400 mg dose of cimetidine. Although the blood concentration reaches a maximum of approximately $3.3 \ \mu g/ml$ 6 hours after dosage, there appears to be a basal concentration of at least $1.5 \ \mu g$ /ml maintained by the dosage schedule. These analyses were preformed in duplicate and the resulting values were within 2.1% of each other.



Figure 5. Blood concentration of cimetidine following 400 mg dose. 5 ml blood samples taken at 2 hour intervals.

CONCLUSION

The method described offers a rapid, easy and sensitive technique for the analysis of cimetidine in biological fluids. The use of ion pair chromatography has significant advantages over previously reported approaches to this analysis, in that it avoids the use of highly basic mobile phases which lead to short column lifetimes and offers greater control over the retention than the use of acidic buffered mobile phase. The clean-up technique described has the advantages of speed and simplicity. It has been shown to be useful for both blood and urine samples. According to Larsen et al. (9) cimetidine undergoes metabolic conversion in blood (but not in plasma) to the sulphoxide, and it may be advantageous to assay cimetidine in plasma rather than whole blood. The technique described here should be applicable for such samples as well.

Subsequent work is under way to place the analysis on-line in an automated column switching system which should supply rapid automated clean-up and analysis of cimetidine in plasma and urine.

RÉFERENCES

- R.N Brogan, R.C. Heel, T.M. Speight and G.S. Avery, Drugs 15 (1978) 93.
- (2) D.N. McCartny, Gastroenterology, 74 (1978) 453.
- (3) J.W. Freston, Gastroenterology, 74 (1978) 426.
- (4) J.M. McGuigan, Gastroenterology, 80 (1981) 181.
- (5) L.M. Gifford, M.E. Aeugle, R.M. Myerson and P.J. Tennenbaum, J. Amer. Med. Assoc., 243 (1980) 1532.
- (6) J.J. Schentag. G. Caller, J.Q. Rose, F.B. Cerra, E. De Glopper and H. Bernhard, Lancet, 1 (1979) 177.
- (7) B.J. Kimelblatt, F.B. Cerra, G. Caller, M.J. Berg, M.A. Mc-Millen and J.J. Schentag, Gastroenterology, 78 (1980) 791.
- (8) E. Aadland, A. Berstad and L.S. Semb in W.L. Burland and M.A. Simkines (Editors), Cimetidine, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam 1979, p. 87.
- (9) N.E. Larsen, P. Hesselfieldt, S.J. Rune and E.F. Bleidbeurg, J. Chromatogr., 163 (1979) 57.

- (10) W.C. Randolph, V.L. Osborne, S.S. Walkenstein and A.P. Intoccia, J. Pharma. Sci., 66 (1977) 11, 48.
- (11) R.M. Lee and P.M. Osborne, J. Chromatogr., 146 (1978) 354.
- (12) J.A. Ziemniak, D.A. Chiarmonte and J.J. Scheutag, Clin. Chem., 27 (1981) 272.
- (13) S.J. Saldin, D.R. Fingold, P.C. Feuge and W.A. Mahon, Ther. Drug Monitoring, 1 (1979) 371.
- (14) D.R.P. Guay, H.N. Bockbrader, G.R. Matzke, J. Chromatogr., 228 (1982) 389.
- (15) J. Fleitman, G. Torosian and J.H. Perrin, J. Chromatogr., <u>229</u> (1982) 255.

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2423-2434 (1982)

LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF TRYPTOPHAN AND SEROTONIN METABOLITES. COMPARISON OF UV, ELECTROCHEMICAL AND SPECTRO-FLUORIMETRIC DETECTION.

Inès GIRARD and Colette GONNET Laboratoire de Chimie Analytique III (ERA 474 - M. PORTHAULT) Université de Lyon I 43, Bd du 11 Novembre 1918 69622 Villeurbanne Cedex, France.

ABSTRACT

Tryptophan and five of its indolic metabolites have been separated by reversed - phase high performance liquid chromatography. The isocratic chromatographic system consisted of a column (20 x 0.46 cm i.d.) packed with RSil C18 HL5 and a methanol/NaClO₄ 0.2 M -HClO₄ (pH 1.4) mobile phase.

⁴Three detection methods were tested : UV detection, fluorometric detection and electrochemical detection.

The limits of detection were found to be 4 picomoles (serotonin, 5 HTrp) and 20 pmoles (Trp, 5 HIAA, IAA, N-acetyl Trp) in the case of UV detection ; 1 pmole (serotonin), 4 pmoles (5H-Trp) and 10 pmoles (5 HIAA, Trp, IAA, N-acetyl Trp) for fluorometric detection ; and 1 pmole for electrochemical detection.

Analysis of human plasma were carried out using the above three detection methods to compare their relative specificity.

INTRODUCTION

Tryptophan is metabolized via two major pathways, the kynurenine pathway and the indolic pathway. The second one,quantitatively

2423

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

less important, presents however a great physiological importance, mainly because it is the precursor of serotonin (5-hydroxy tryptamin),fundamental brain neurotransmitter.

Serotonin is predominantly metabolized in 5-hydroxy indolacetic acid, an urinary metabolite, variations of which are dependent on those of serotonin.

Abnormal metabolism of tryptophan has been associated with a number of disease states in man, including Hartnup disease, Down's syndrome, schizophrenia, depression (1-6)... Aberrations of tryptophan metabolism are also associated with some cancerous tumors.

These metabolic disorders result in modification of normal concentrations of tryptophan metabolites in an organism ; therefore it seemed of interest to possess a sensitive, reliable, specific and rapid technique for measuring tryptophan (Trp), serotonin, 5-hydroxy indolacetic acid (5 HIAA), and other indol derivatives such as 5-hydroxy tryptophan (5-HTrp), indolacetic acid (IAA) and N-acetyl tryptophan (N-acetyl Trp).

The chromatographic technique generally used for aminoacid analysis is ion exchange (7-9), a time-consuming method requiring relatively large sample volumes.

HORVATH (10-12) has demonstrated the interest of aqueous eluents used simultaneously with nonpolar stationary phases, for the separation of small polar molecules. This method, previously used by different authors (14-17), was adapted and optimized for the separtion of Trp and its indolic metabolites.

TRYPTOPHAN AND SEROTONIN METABOLITES

Reported in this paper are the separation of these compounds using reversed-phase HPLC, and the comparative results of three detection methods : UV, fluorometric and electrochemical detection.

EXPERIMENTAL

. Apparatus

The chromatographic equipment consisted of a Chromatem 380 pump (Touzart & Matignon, France), a Rheodyne Model 71-20 sample injection valve, a Pye Unicam variable wavelength UV monitor (Philips, France), a JY 3 fluorimeter (Jobin Yvon, France), a DELC "Thin layer" electrochemical detector (Tacussel, Lyon France) and a PRG 5 polarograph (Tacussel) as potentiostat. The cell of the electrochemical detector, adjusted to a volume of 8 µl, was equiped with a glassy carbon working electrode, the reference potential being supplied by a silver-silver chloride electrode. The cell was used in the d.c. mode throughout.

Peak surfaces were integrated with an Autolab System I integrator (Spectra Physics, USA).

The signal output of the detectors was displayed on a 0470 L Linsels recorder and an EPL Tacussel recorder (in the case of electrochemical detection).

. Chromatographic system

A 20 x 0.46 cm i.d. column was packed (13) with RSIL C18 HL5 (Interchim, Montluçon, France), particle size 5 μ m).

The solvents used for the slurry and the packing procedure were respectively 1-butanol and methanol. The composition of the mo-



Figure 1 - Intensity-potential curves of tryptophan and indolic metabolites (concentrations 2.10⁻⁴M). Glassy carbon rotating disc electrode, 3 mm diameter 3000 r.p.m.

TRYPTOPHAN AND SEROTONIN METABOLITES

bile phase consisted of methanol and $NaClO_4$ 0.2 M - $HClO_4$, pH 1.4 (30:70). The mixture was degassed for 5 minutes in an ultrasonic bath before use.

. Reagents

Standard solutions were prepared by dissolving tryptophan and metabolites (SERVA, Analytical grade) in the mobile phase.

Methanol was purchased from MERCK (Chromatographic grade), 1-butanol, NaClO $_4$ and HClO $_4$ were purchased from PROLABO (NORMAPUR guaranteed reagent).

Healthy human blood was collected in heparinized tubes and centrifugated. The plasma was defecated with a 100 g/l sulfosalycilic acid solution (4 vol. plasma/1 vol. acid), then stored at -25°C prior to analysis.

. Procedure

The compounds under study were detected at 280 nm, which corresponds to the maximum absorbance of tryptophan.

The excitation and fluorescence wavelength used in fluorometric detection were respectively 300 nm and 335 nm.

The oxidation potential used in electrochemical detection was +1.1 V. It was determined by plotting the current vs potential curves for each solute (fig.1).

The detection limits ($\frac{\text{signal}}{\text{background noise}} = 5$) were determined using standard solutions of compounds.

. Results and discussion

The reversed-phase HPLC separation of a synthetic mixture of tryptophan and its metabolites is shown in figure 2.



<u>Figure 2</u> - Chromatographic separation of tryptophan and its indolic metabolites. Column : RSil C18 HL5 (20 x 0.46 cm i.d.). Mobile phase : methanol/NaClO₄ 0.2 M-HClO₄ pH 1.4 (30:70). UV detection 280 nm. Flow rate 0.6 ml/ min. Peaks : (1) serotonin, (2) 5 HTrp ; (3) 5 HIAA , (4) Trp ; (5) N-acetyl Trp ; (6) IAA.

The phenolic compounds (serotonin, 5-HTrp, 5 HIAA) are eluted more rapidly than tryptophan and other metabolites, a fact which shows an important decrease in the stationary phase affinity due to phenolic ring.

The linearity of detectors was demonstrated in the 5-100 μM concentration range, by measurement of the peak surface.

Figures 3, 4 and 5 show the injection of standard solutions of 4 and 10 pmoles in the three detection modes, making it possi-



Figure 3 - UV detection wavelength 280 nm. Injection of 4 pmoles. column : Rsil C18 HL 5 (20 x 0.46 cm i.d.) , mobile phase : methanol/NaClO₄ 0.2 M - HClO₄ pH 1.4 (20:80). Flow rate : 0.6 ml/mn. Peaks : (1) serotonin ; (2) 5-HTrp.

ble to demonstrate their relative sensitivity. Due to a non reproducibility in the different batches of RSil C 18, the mobile phase composition had to be modified from 20 to 30 % methanol.

Figure 5 shows the improvement in electrochemical detection sensitivity which became 10 times greater due to a decrease in the cell joint thickness from 500 μ m to 200 μ m.

200 μm thickness (8 $\mu 1)$ is, in this case, the best compromise between sensitivity and baseline stability.

Detection limits in UV detection are 4 pmoles for serotonin and 5-HTrp ; and 20 pmoles for Trp, 5HIAA, IAA and N-acteyl Trp.




Figure 5 - Electrochemical detection, detector operating potential + 1,1 V.Electrochemical cell thickness : (a) 200 μm ; (b) 500 μm. Injection of 4 pmoles. Column : RSil C 18 HL 5 (20 x 0.46 cm i.d.); mobile phase : methanol/ NaClO₄ 0.2 M - HClO₄ pH 1.4 (25:75). Flow rate : 0.6 ml/min. Peaks : (1) serotonin ; (2) 5 HTrp ; (3) 5 HIAA; (4) Trp ; (5) N-acetylTrp ; (6) IAA.

In fluorometric measurements the detection limits have been determined to be 1 pmole for serotonin ; 4 pmoles for 5-HTrp ; and 10 pmoles for 5 HIAA, Trp, IAA and N-acetyl Trp.

Electrochemical detection appears to be the most sensitive detection mode, the detection limits being 1 pmole for all the six compounds studied.

Fluorometric and electrochemical detection modes are particularly specific in the cases mentioned above, because most biological compounds, like other aminoacids, are not naturally fluorescent nor electrochemically active, and therefore will not interfere with either of these detection modes.

It has been possible to compare the relative importance of interferences in each mode of detection when analyzing tryptophan and its metabolites in biological fluids.

Figure 6 shows the chromatogram obtained after injection of 4 μ l of blood plasma. The three detectors were monitored at their maximum sensitivity.

The UV and fluorometric detection sensitivity are comparable for the determination of tryptophan (concentration 40 μ M). Interferences are less important in fluorometric detection. Nevertheless the peaks corresponding to hydroxylated indolic metabolites are not separated from the interference peak.

The major advantage of UV detection is its relatively easy use. Its use is particularly indicated in determining tryptophan and compounds in the case of higher concentrated samples.

Figure 6 c confirms that electrochemical detection provides the best sensitivity and specificity among the three methods studied.



Figure 6 - Chromatogram of a 4 µl serum using (a) UV detection , (b) fluorometric detection , (c) electrochemical detection. Peaks : (1) serotonin ; (2) 5-HTrp ; (3) Trp.

With this technique the peak of interferences is comparatively the lest important. Electrochemical detection is, among the three methods tested ,the only one allowing the detection of the peaks of serotonin and 5-HTrp , which are not overlapped by the interference peak.

Therefore, electrochemical detection is, in the present case, the most interesting detection method, mainly because of its detection limit (1 pmole) and its specificity.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. p. POITOU, R. BOULU Path. Biol. 25, N°8, 565.
- J.P. GARNIER, B. BOUSQUET, C. DREUX J. of Liquid Chromatogr. <u>2</u>(4), (1979), 539.
- 3. J.B. JEPSON Advan. Pharmac. 6B (1968), 171.
- 4. D. O'BRIEN, A. GROSHEK Arch. Dis. Child 37, (1962), 17.
- 5. J.A. OATES, A. SJOERDSMA Neurology, 10 (1960), 1076.
- 6. A.J. COPPEN J. Psychiat. Res. 9 (1972), 163.
- 7. J.C. DICKINSON, P.B. HAMILTON J. Neurochem. 13, (1966), 1179.
- 8. C.M. PLUM J. Neurochem. 23, (1974), 595.
- 9. T.L. PERRY, S. HANSEN, J. KENNEDY J. Neurochem. 24 (1975),587.
- 10. C. HORVATH, W. MELANDER, I. MOLNAR J. Chromatogr. $\underbrace{125}_{p.129}$ (1976),
- 11. C. HORVATH, W. MELANDER, I. MOLNAR Anal. Chem. 49 (1977),142.
- 12. I. MOLNAR, C. HORVATH J. Chromatogr.142 (1977), 623.
- 13. B. COQ, C. GONNET, J.L. ROCCA J. Chromatogr. 106, (1975),249.
- 14. S. YONG, S. LAU J. Chromatogr. 175 (1979), 343.
- 15. D. A. RICHARDS J. Chromatogr. 175 (1979) , 293.
- 16. D. D. KOCH, P. T. KISSINGER J. Chromatog. Biomed. Appl. 164 (1979), p.441.
- 17. A.M. KRSTULOVIC, C.MATZURA J. Chromatogr. Biomed. Appl. 163 (1979), p.72

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2435-2452 (1982)

SIMULTANEOUS DETERMINATION OF DOPAMINE, NOREPINEPHRINE, TYRAMINE AND OCTOPAMINE BY REVERSE-PHASE HIGH PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY WITH ELECTROCHEMICAL DETECTION

B.A. Bailey, R.J. Martin and R.G.H. Downer

Department of Biology, University of Waterloo Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, N2L 3G1

ABSTRACT

A method is described for the simultaneous separation and estimation of the catecholamines, norepinephrine and dopamine and their monohydroxy-equivalents, octopamine and tyramine. The method employs high-performance liquid chromatographic separation of the compounds on a C18 reverse-phase column with a mobile phase containing methanol as the organic modifier, octane sulphonate as an ion-pair reagent and acetic acid/ammonium hydroxide buffer. The influences of electrode potential and solvent pH on detector response were studied, and the optimal conditions identified as detector potential of 0.95 volts and pH 6.0. The technique of post-column mixing was introduced to provide optimal pH conditions for detector response without the constraint of on-column oxidation of catecholamines. The effects of buffer ionic strength on retention factors and detector response were also investigated and, on the basis of the results obtained, the optimal buffer strength was identified as 0.08-0.09 molar. The described procedure can be used for simultaneous estimation of catecholamines and monohydroxyphenolamines at concentrations between 200-5000 pg.

Copyright © 1982 by Marcel Dekker, Inc.

INTRODUCTION

The monohydroxyphenolamines, tyramine and octopamine have been implicated in a number of nervous disorders including migraine, epilepsy, Parkinsonism, schizophrenia and hepatic encephalopathy (1), and octopamine has been identified also as a putative neurotransmitter in invertebrates (2). The obvious biomedical importance of monohydroxyphenolamines has resulted in the development of several analytical procedures to determine concentrations in nervous tissue. These diverse procedures include the use of radioenzymatic methods (3), gas chromatography mass spectrometry (4), fluorometric techniques (5), and reverseliquid chromatography with detection of derivatised phase compounds by fluorescence (6) or using amperometric detection of natural compounds (7,8). The relative merits and constraints of the various analytical procedures have been discussed (4,9) and it is apparent that the utility of any technique depends upon the analytical requirements of the particular experimental procedure. One shortcoming in the existing arsenal of analytical techniques for monohydroxyphenolamines is the lack of a procedure that permits rapid, estimation of monohydroxyphenolamines and the equivalent dihydroxy compounds in a single sample.

The present study examines high-performance liquid chromatographic separation of the catecholamines dopamine and norepinephrine and the monohydroxy-equivalents tyramine and octopamine using an isocratic aqueous mobile phase flowing over a bonded octadecylsilane solid phase with electrochemical detection of the eluate. The report describes the effects of electrode potential, solvent pH and buffer ionic strength on the separation and detection of the standard compounds and defines optimal chromatographic conditions for estimation of these amines in a single sample.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chemicals

Norepinephrine bitartrate, Dopamine HCl and Tyramine HCl were purchased from Calbiochem (La Jolla, Ca., U.S.A.). Octopamine HCl was obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, Mo., U.S.A.) and other chemicals, except when otherwise indicated, were also obtained from this source and were of reagent grade. Stock solutions of standards were prepared in 0.1 M $HClO_4$, 5.0 mM sodium bisulfite at a concentration of 40 µg/ml and stored at 4°C. Working standard solutions were prepared freshly each week by diluting stock solutions in methanol to give a final concentration of 200 ng/ml for each compound.

Equipment

Chromatographic separations were performed on a 15 cm x 3 mm I.D. stainless steel column packed with 5 μm Ultrasphere RP-18

ion pair material (Beckman). The mobile phase comprised acetic acid/ammonium hydroxide buffer containing 0.1 mM sodium EDTA, 2.5 mM sodium octane sulphonic acid (Aldrich Chem., Milwaukee, Wisc., U.S.A.; Bioanalytical Systems, Lafayette, Ind., U.S.A.; or Helix Associates, Newark, Del., U.S.A.) and 20% methanol (HPLC grade, Caledon Laboratories, Ont.). Prior to the addition of methanol, the buffer was filtered through a 0.22 µm millipore filter. The mobile phase was helium degassed and pumped at 2.0 ml/min by a Spectra Physics Model 740B pump through a Waters WISP 710A autosampler onto the analytical column. A Brownlee MPLC RP-18 SPHERI-5 guard column was installed between the injector and analytical column. Chromatographic separations were performed at ambient temperatures.



Figure 1. Modified thin-layer amperometric detector showing position of working electrodes.

Detection was accomplished electrochemically by means of a modified Bioanalytical Systems (Layfayette, Ind., U.S.A.) Model TL-5 glassy carbon detector cube and a Model LC-3 potentiostat. The electrochemical potential was adjusted to desired potentials against a silver-silver chloride reference electrode. The detector cube was modified to include a second glassy carbon working electrode surface as illustrated in Figure 1. This modification greatly increased the signal response without any appreciable increase in background current.

Peak height and area calculations of individual peaks were accomplished with the aid of a Spectra Physics Model 4100 computing integrator.

Experimental

Determination of optimal detector potential was achieved by making repeated injections of standard solutions at increasingly positive electrode potentials. This was continued until a maximum peak height for the component of interest was obtained. The current ratio at any potential was calculated by dividing the current (peak height) by that obtained at the most positive potential. The electrochemical response for monophenolamines at different pH values was determined by adjusting the buffer components, acetic acid and ammonium hydroxide, to a specific pH while maintaining the total ionic strength at approximately 0.06 Molar. Changes in capacity factor (k') and detector response were analysed by altering the ionic strength of the buffer while maintaining a constant pH at 6.0.

Following the determination of the buffer conditions required to provide optimal response and capacity factors for all sample components, the linearity of the detector response was measured and approximate limits of detection for the sample components calculated.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The estimation of catecholamines by HPLC/EC procedures is widely accepted (10), however the concomitant measurement of monohydroxyphenolamines has not yet been developed and, indeed, the application of amperometric detection to monohydroxyphenolamines separated by HPLC is limited to a few reports (7,8). An essential condition for detection of a compound electrochemically is that the electrode potential should be sufficiently high to effect electro-oxidation of the compound. The effect of electrode potential on the detector response to tyramine and octopamine is illustrated in Fig. 2. It is apparent that octopamine is not detected when the applied potential of the electrochemical cell is less than 0.7 volts whereas a slight response for tyramine is evident at this potential. The observed response for tyramine at detector potential of 0.7 volts appears to be at variance with a previous report which indicates no



Figure 2. Hydrodynamic voltammograms of tyramine (x) and octopamine (Δ) standards.

detector response for this compound at 0.7 volts (11), although the overall pattern of the hydrodynamic voltammograms in the two studies are very similar. The slight difference in the minimum electrode potential that is required for detector response may be explained by the different pH employed in the two investigations. The pH (6.0) used in the present study facilitates oxidation at the electrode surface and enables octopamine and tyramine to be detected at a lower detector potential than under more acidic conditions. The results presented in Fig. 2 indicate also that



Figure 3. High-performance liquid chromatogram of a standard solution containing 5 ng norepinephrine (RT:2.20), octopamine (RT:2.84), dopamine (RT:4.13), tyramine (RT:6.20). Chromatographic conditions are described in the text.

the maximal detector response for octopamine and tyramine is obtained with an applied potential of 1.0 volts. However, for practical purposes it is convenient to operate the detector potential at 0.95 volts. Reduction of the potential from 1.0 volt to 0.95 volts results in an appreciable decrease in background current and noise, and also eliminates the necessity for frequent cleaning of the detector surface that is apparent at 1.0 volts.

A typical chromatogram for separation of 5 ng samples of dopamine, norepinephrine, tyramine and octopamine with detector potential set at 0.95 volts is shown in Fig. 3. The buffer used to obtain this chromatograph contained 0.04 M acetic acid and 0.04 M ammonium hydroxide and was adjusted to give a final pH of 6.0. The peak appearing at 9.70 minutes is a contaminant associated with sodium octane sulphonic acid and was present in material obtained from several manufacturers.

Monohydroxyphenolamines have a higher oxidation potential dihydroxy-equivalents, and this difference than their is reflected in the effect of pH on detector response to the compounds under investigation. Fig. 4 demonstrates the effect of pH on detector response, as measured by peak height, and indicates increased oxidation of octopamine and tyramine at the electrode surface with increasing pH. The reduced signal for norepinephrine and dopamine at a pH above 5.75 is also apparent and confirms an earlier report by Moyer and Jiang (12). The



Figure 4. Effect of solvent pH on detector response to 5 ng samples of norepinephrine (0), octopamine (Δ), dopamine (+) and tyramine (x) following separation by HPLC. Coefficients of variation were calculated for the 7-10 determinations that comprise each point and range from 0.445-2.898 (norepinephrine), 1.044-7.329 (octopamine), 0.528-2.371 (dopamine) and 1.082-5.791 (tyramine).

DOPAMINE, NOREPINEPHRINE, TYRAMINE, AND OCTOPAMINE

reduction in detector response for catecholamines at higher pHs may be due to auto-oxidation of the compounds prior to their arrival at the detector cell. The data presented in Fig. 3 indicate that the optimal solvent pH at which to obtain an acceptable level of detector response for all compounds included in this study is pH 6.0; however, if only monohydroxyphenolamines are being estimated the solvent pH may be increased above 6.0.

In addition to promoting on-column oxidation of catecholamines the use of more alkaline solvents also increases the amount of detector background current. These constraints can be overcome by the use of post-column mixing, a technique that has previously been described by Kissinger et al. (13). This requires assembly of a three-way T-union between the analytical column and the detector cell. In the present system one inlet port admits a solvent with a higher pH than that of the mobile phase buffer, which enters through the second inlet port following passage through the column. The two solvents mix in a short teflon mixing coil prior to their entry into the detector cell. A pulse-free pumping source for the post-column solvent is provided by an adapted reservoir with flow restrictor attached to a pressurised nitrogen cylinder. The use of post-column mixing permits the pH for chromatography and electrochemical detection to be optimised separately.

The influence of ionic strength on the retention of catechol compounds has been demonstrated (12,14), and the theoretical



Figure 5. Effect of molarity of solvent buffer on retention of norepinephrine (O), octopamine (Δ), dopamine (+) and tyramine (x) during HPLC separation on RP-C18 column. Coefficients of variation were calculated for the 6-10 determinations that comprise each point and range from 0.441-1.390 (norepinephrine), 1.096-3.986 (octopamine), 0.681-2.840 (dopamine) and 1.004-2.975 (tyramine).

implications of solvophobic interactions have been discussed (15). In the present study, the effect of changes in molarity of acetic acid and ammonium hydroxide on the capacity factor (k') was investigated and the results are illustrated in Fig. 5. It is evident that k' tends to decrease as the molarity of the buffer increases, and this effect may be explained in terms of alterations in hydrophobicity of solute molecules due to changing amounts of acetic acid in solution. Thus, the results presented in Fig. 5 should not be equated with earlier studies on absolute ionic strength (13,15).

Fig. 6 illustrates the effect of molarity on detector response as indicated by measurement of peak height. The data presented in this figure must be considered in association with that of Fig. 5, which demonstrates the greater retention time of the standard compounds at low molarities. The increased retention time results in broadening of peaks and reduced peak height, and also increases the possibility of on-column autooxidation at pH 6.0; thus, the observed reduction in detector response at low molarities may be due in part to the change in k'.

On the basis of the data contained in Figs. 5 and 6 the buffer strength selected to achieve optimal chromatographic conditions was between 0.08 and 0.09 molar. At this molarity the capacity factor for each amine is within the optimal limits of between 1 and 6 (Fig. 5) and a high detector response is also



Figure 6. Effect of molarity of solvent buffer on detector response to norepinephrine (0), octopamine (Δ), dopamine (+) and tyramine (x) as measured by peak area following separation by Coefficients of variation were calculated for the 7-10 HPLC. from determinations that comprise each point and range (norepinephrine), (octopamine), 1.073-1.884 2.149-4.615 2.479-5.334 (dopamine) and 1.246-6.295 (tyramine).



Figure 7. Linearity of estimation of norepinephrine (0), octopamine (Δ), dopamine (+) and tyramine (x) by HPLC with electrochemical detection. Linear regression analyses are presented in Table 1.

obtained (Figs. 6). The detector response continues to increase at molarities above 0.1 molar, but associated with the increased response is an excessive increase in background current.

Fig. 7 demonstrates the linearity of detector response to the four test amines using concentrations ranging from 250 to 5000 picograms. Linear regression analyses of these data are given in Table 1 and confirm that the chromatographic procedure described in this report permits accurate and simultaneous

6-1
Ξ
ģ
4
₽.

electrochemical detection following separation by high-performance liquid chromatography. amine concentration of effect Linear regression analysis of chromatography.

COMPOUND	SLOPE ± S.E.	Y-INTERCEPT ± S.E.	CORRELATION COEFFICIENT (R SQUARE)	APPROXIMATE DETECTION LIMIT (PG)*
Norepinephrine	2.826 ± 0.025	-0.069 ± 0.065	666.	131
Octopamine	2.469 ± 0.052	-0.172 ± 0.136	.997	191
Dopamine	2.074 ± 0.023	-0.086 ± 0.059	666.	186
Tyramine	2.306 ± 0.043	-0.155 ± 0.112	.998	197
*limit establish	led with signal:n	oise ratio of 4:1		

determination of catecholamines and monohydroxyphenolamines at concentrations below 200 picograms. Indeed, as the present experiments were conducted with detector sensitivity at only 5 nA full scale, the potential for even greater sensitivity is considerable. The application of this procedure to extracted biological samples will be reported in a subsequent publication.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Supported by grants from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada to RGHD.

REFERENCES

- LeGatt, D.F., Baker, G.B. and Coutts, R.T., Simultaneous extraction and separation of trace amines of biological interest, J. Chromatogr., <u>225</u>, 301, 1981.
- Evans, P.D., Biogenic amines in the insect nervous system, Adv. Insect Physiol. <u>15</u>, 317, 1980.
- Kobayashi, K., Foti, A., Dequattro, V., Kolloch, R. and Miano, L., A radioenzymatic assay for free and conjugated normetanephrine and octopamine excretion in man, Clin. Chim. Acta, 107, 163, 1980.
- Dougan, D.F.H. and Wade, D.N., Aminergic neurones, phenolamine pathways and octopamine, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 113, 1981.
- 5. Doteuchi, M., Wans, C. and Costa, E., Compartmentation of dopamine in rat striatum, Mol. Pharmacol. 10, 225, 1974.
- 6. Mell, L.D., Separation of biogenic amines by use of reversed-phase liquid chromatography and fluorescent detection, Clin. Chem., 25, 1187, 1979.
- 7. Kenyhercz, T.M. and Kissinger, P.T., Identification and quantitation of tryptophan and tyrosine metabolites in the

banana by liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection, J. Food Sci., 43, 1355, 1978.

- 8. Kenyhercz, T.M. and Kissinger, P.T., Determination of selected acidic, neutral, and basic natural products in cacao beans and processed cocoa. Liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection, Lloydia 41, 130, 1978.
- 9. Felice, L.J., Bruntlett, C.S., Shoup, R.E. and Kissinger, P.T., Measurement of catecholamines and their metabolites in tissue and physiological fluids using reverse-phase liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection, in Trace Organic Analysis: A new frontier in Analytical Chemistry, Proceedings of the 9th Materials Research Symposium, April 10-13, 1978, edited by H.S. Hertz and S.N. Chesler, National Bureau of Standards, 391, 1979.
- Kissinger, P.T., Bruntlett, C.S., Bratin, K. and Rice, J.R., Liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. State of the art and future directions, in Trace Organic Analysis: A new frontier in Analytical Chemistry, Proceedings of the 9th Materials Research Symposium, April 10-13, 1978, edited by H.S. Hertz and S.N. Chesler, National Bureau of Standards, 705, 1979.
- 11. Shoup, R.E. and Kissinger, P.T. Determination of urinary normetanephrine, metanephrine, and 3-methoxytyramine by liquid chromatography, with amperometric detection, Clin. Chem. <u>23</u>, 1268, 1977.
- Moyer, T.P. and Jiang, N.-S., Optimized isocratic conditions for analysis of catecholamines by high-performance reversedphase paired-ion chromatography with amperometric detection, J. Chromatogr. 153, 365, 1978.
- 13. Kissinger, P.T., Bratin, K., Davis, G.C. and Pachla, L.A., The potential utility of pre- and post-column chemical reactions with electrochemical detection in liquid chromatography, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 17, 137, 1979.
- 14. Molnar, I. and Horváth, C., Reverse-phase chromatography of polar biological substances: separation of catechol compounds by high-performance liquid chromatography, Clin. Chem. 22, 1497, 1976.
- 15. Horváth, C., Melander, W. and Molnar, I., Solvophobic interactions in liquid chromatography with nonpolar stationary phases, J. Chromatogr. 125, 129, 1976.

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2453-2457 (1982)

LC NEWS

escan Grace print dama denna printa mang

LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPH/MASS SPECTROMETER INTERFACE continuously concentrates the effluent from a conventional liquid chromatograph and delivers the concentrated solution into the mass spectrometer. Combination with a mass spectrometer/data system provides capability for analysis of complex and intractable biological, environmental, and petrochemical samples. Extranuclear Laboratories, Inc., JLC/82/12, P. O. Box 11512, Pittsburgh, PA, 15238, USA.

PROTEIN SEQUENCING SOLVENTS eliminate solvent impurities that contribute to losses in PTH amino acid derivatives during protein sequencing even at the picomole level. Each solvent undergoes recovery testing using a representative mixture of 16 different PTH amino acid derivatives. This assures higher yields for Edman Degradation procedures. Burdick & Jackson Laboratories, JLC/82/12, 1953 S. Harvey St., Muskegon, MI, 49442, USA.

PROGRAMMABLE WAVELENGTH DETECTOR is microprocessor controlled. It permits selection of any number of wavelengths in one-nanometer increments from 190 to 370 nm for optimal detection of all components. Utilizes keyboard entry that may be changed at any point and as often as desired. Varian Instrument Group, JLC/82/12, 2700 Mitchell Drive, Walnut Creek, CA, 94598, USA.

HIGH PRESSURE FLUID CELLS for UV monitors are rated at 1000 psi back pressure and incorporate

enhanced chromatographic flow characteristics to optimize the plate count in microparticulate columns without sacrificing detector sensitivity. The cells also improve bubble clearing and allow additional detectors to be added downstream without excessive band spreading. LDC/Milton Roy Co., JLC/82/12, P. O. Box 10235, Riviera Beach, CA, 33404, USA.

APPLICATIONS DEVELOPMENT KIT permits application of solid phase technology in the development of new sample preparation methods. One can experiment with new methods or solve existing problems with the phases included in the kit. Included are octadecyl, phenyl, cyanopropyl, aminopropyl, benzenesulfonic acid, quaternary amine, dicl, and unbonded silica. Analytichem Internat'l. Inc., JLC/82/12, 24201 Frampton Avenue, Harbor City, CA. 90710, USA.

HPLC GRADIENT PROGRAMMER/SYSTEM CONTROLLER uses a microcomputer based on the Zenith/Heath Z-89 and controls up to 3 pumps to produce virtually any type of gradient or flow profile. Control functions include sample injection, solvent selection, integration, fraction collection, and recorder speed. The Anspec Co., JLC/82/12, P. O. Box 7044, Ann Arbor, MI, 48107, USA.

POST COLUMN REACTOR can be used to determine metals. It features a pneumatic pump, mixing tee, and a packed bed reactor in a self-contained unit. Dionex, JLC/82/12, 1228 Titan Way, Sunnyvale, CA, 94086, USA.

HPLC GRADE ETHANOL is now available. This solvent has been previously difficult to obtain. A new flow check has been developed for use with capillaries, as well as a digital flow meter for GC and HPLC. Alltech Associates, JLC/82/12, 2051 Waukegan Rd., Deerfield, IL, 60015, USA.

DUAL ELECTRODES FOR LC/EC capable of handling applications in single, dual-series, and dual-parallel modes. The dual parallel mode permits ration for identification of

chromatographic peaks and also enhances selectivity and saves time. Dual-series assays are possible for reversible redox couples and, in many cases, can enhance both selextivity and detection limits. Bioanalytical Systems, Inc., JLC/82/12, 111 Lorene Place, West Lafayette, IN, 47906, USA.

DIGITAL DISPLAY PRESSURE MONITOR is ideal for modular HPLC systems and is universally adaptable. Available for two ranges: 0-1000 and 0-10,000pounds with accuracy within +/- 1% of actual pressure. High and low pressure limits are infinitely adjustable with audable warning when preset limits have been reached. Low 9-volt operation with remote transducer location reduce hazards associated with flammable solvents. Microbore Technology, Inc., JLC/82/12, P. O. Box 10875, Reno, NV, 89510, USA.

HIGH SPEED ION CHROMATOGRAPHY COLUMNS separate 8 ions in 5 minutes. Based on Single column ion chromatography (SCIC) technology, they can be adapted to virtually any existing HPLC system. They evan analyze chloride, nitrate, bicarbonate, and sulfate in acid rain within 3 minutes; phosphate, chloride, nitrite, bromide, nitrate, bicarbonate, sulfate, and iodide in food samples within 5 minutes. Wescan Instruments, Inc., JLC/82/12, 3018 Scott Blvd, Santa Clara, CA, 95050, USA.

GEL FILTRATION COLUMNS are in widespread use for the separation of enzymes, proteins, polysaccharides, nucleic acids, water-soluble polymers and oligomers. A wide range of pore sizes accomodates a broad range of molecular weights. Kratos Analytical Instruments, JLC/82/12, 170 Williams Drive, Ramsey, NJ, 07446, USA.

HPLC OF CNBr CLEAVAGE FRAGMENTS of a bacterial toxin "parent" protein have been successfully separated with a Wide-Pore Octadecyl C-18 column. The 5 major fragments and several intermediates resulting from cyanogen bromide treatment were well resolved in less than 20 minutes. J. T. Baker Research Products, JLC/82/12, 222 Red School Lane, Phillipsburg, NJ, 08865, USA.

CHROMATOGRAPHY DATA SYSTEM FOR APPLE II fits into an empty slot of the Apple and receives analog signals from the chromatograph's recorder output and converts it to digital with 12-bit precision up to 20 times/sec. Signals are smoothed, then peaks identified and integrated. Chromatogram is displayed on the CRT in real time using the high resolution graphics mode. Analytical Computers, JLC/82/12, P. D. Box 285, Elmhurst, IL, 60126, USA.

TANDEM ENRICHMENT INJECTOR VALVES perform sample enrichment and injection, sample clean-up, and other column switching tasks at pressures up to 7000 psi, and have narrow flow passage to minimize band spreading. Rheodyne, JLC/82/12, P. O. Box 996, Cotati, CA, 94928, USA.

PHOSPHOR-FREE HPTLC PLATES combine the ability to separate and detect substances in nanogram and picogram quantities with excellent resolution. The surface is a thin 200 micron layer of special silica gel with average particle size of 4.5 microns and of exceptional purity. Whatman, Inc., JLC/82/12, 9 Bridewell Place, Clifton, NJ, 07014, USA.

CRT-INTERACTIVE GRADIENT PUMP CONTROLLER simplifies setup and control of up to 3 solvent delivery systems for applications from microbore to analytical to preparative LC. Conditions may be set up or change conditions while an analysis is running. Waters Associates, Inc., JLC/82/12, P. D. Box 795, Avon, CT, 06001, USA.

LABORATORY AUTOMATION is the subject of a newsletter that provides information of new products and techniques for preparing and handling laboratory samples. Included is a calendar of scientific meetings and technical presentations on automated sample preparation using laboratory robotics. Zymark Corp., JLC/82/12, 102 South Street, Hopkinton, MA, 01748, USA.

LC TEACHING SOFTWARE presents a clear, succinct text supported by graphical presentations designed to instruct the student in a particular area of LC. Perkin-Elmer Corp., JLC/82/12, Main Avenue, Norwalk, CT, 06856, USA.

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2459-2460 (1982)

LC CALENDAR

none and there are a set of the s

1982

DECEMBER 6 - 8: 2nd International Symposium on HPLC of Proteins, Peptides, and Polynucleotides, Hyatt Regency Hotel, Baltimore, MD. Contact: S. E. Schlessinger, Mgr., 2nd Intl. Symposium on HPLC, 400 E. Randolph, Chicago, IL, 60601, USA.

DECEMBER 6 - 8: 3rd Biennial TLC Symposium-Advances in TLC, Hilton Hotel, Parsippany, NJ. Contact: J.C. Touchstone, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, 19104, USA.

1983

MARCH 7 - 12: Pittsburgh Conference on Anal. Chem. & Applied Spectroscopy, Convention Hall, Atlantic City, NJ, USA. Contact: Mrs. Linda Briggs, Program Secretary, 437 Donald Rd., Pittsburgh, PA, 15235, USA.

MARCH 20 - 25: National Amer. Chem. Soc. Meeting, Seattle, WA, USA. Contact: A. T. Winstead, Amer. Chem. Soc., 1155 Sixteenth St., NW, Washington, DC, 20036, USA.

MAY 2 - 6: VIIth International Symposium On Column Liquid Chromatography, Baden-Baden, West Germany. Contact: K. Begitt, Ges. Deutscher Chemiker, Postfach 90 04 40, Varrentrappstrasse 40-42, D-6000 Frankfurt (Main), West Germany.

MAY 30 - JUNE 3: International Conference on Chromatographic Detectors, Melbourne University. Contact: The Secretary, International Conference on Chromatographic Detectors, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria, Australia 3052.

JUNE 1 - 3: The Budapest Chromatography Conference, Budapest, Hungary. Contact: Dr. T. Devenyi, Institute of Enzymology, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Budapest, Hungary or Dr. H. Issaq, Frederick Cancer Research Facility, P.O.Box B, Frederick, MD, 21701, USA.

JULY: 3rd Int'l. Flavor Conf., Amer. Chem. Soc., The Corfu Hilton, Corfu, Greece. Contact: Dr. S. S. Kazeniac, Campbell Inst. for Food Research, Campbell Place, Camden, NJ, 08101, USA.

JULY 17 - 23: SAC 1983 International Conference and Exhibition on Analytical Chemistry, The University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom. Contact: The Secretary, Analytical Division, Royal Society of Chemistry, Burlington House, London W1V ØBV, United Kingdon.

1984

DCTOBER 1 - 5: 15th International Symposium on Chromatography, Nurenberg, West Germany. Contact: K. Begitt, Ges. Deutscher Chemiker, Postfach 90 04 40, Varrentrappstrasse 40-42, D-6000 Frankfurt (Main), West Germany.

The Journal of Liquid Chromatography publish announcements will of LC meetings and symposia in each issue of Journal. To be listed in the LC The Calendar, we will need to know: Name of symposium, sponsoring meeting or organization, when and where it will be held, and whom to contact for additional details. You are invited to send announcements for inclusion in the LC Calendar to Dr. Jack Cazes, Editor, Journal of Liquid Chromatography, P. O. Box 1440-SMS, Fairfield, CT, 06430, USA.

AUTHOR INDEX TO VOLUME 5

А

Abdeddaim, K., 1725 Acquaro, J. A., 927 Adams, E. C., 275 Agris, P. F., 2041 Alam, M., 967 Aleo, M. D., 939 Alfredson, T. V., 489 Allenmark, S., S1 Alpenfels, W. F., 1711 Al-Shoura, H. I., 2205 Andreev, L. V., 1573 Antoniotti, H., 757 Apffel, J. A., 2413 Armstrong, D. W., 1043 Argawal, D. D., 1171, 1177 Au, J., 945

В

Bailey, B. A., 2435 Baker, J. K., 829 Balduff, D. C., 1825 Baud, M., 1103 Baust, J. G., 767 Beaver, R. W., 2395 Beesley, T. E., 1555 Belenki, B. G., 1509 Bend, J. R., 345 Benedik, A., 425, 1277 Bennett, D., 1295 Bens, G. A., 1449 Beran, M., 1967

Bhushan, R., 1097 Bidlingmeyer, B. A., 275, 389 Bieganowska, M. L., 39 Biswas, S. B., 1 Bitman, J., 1155 Biwei, F., 63 Bo, S.-Q., 1405 Bochkov, A. S., 1567 Braddock, P. D., 2155 Braselton, W. E., 563 Brinkman, U. A. Th., 2413 Brockman, W., 1395 Brown, R. E., 2027 Bui, K. H., 1043 Burnworth, L., 2369 Bushee, D., 463, 693 Bushway, R. J., 49, 731, 1313

С

Cahill, W. J., Jr., 443, 781 Carunchio, V., 819 Casley-Smith, J. R., 177 Cates, L. A., 829 Cayley, P. J., 2027 Chaplin, R. P., 2179, 2193 Chouhan, L. S., 1081 Cheng, R.-S., 1209, 1405 Chiantore, O., 643 Chiosi, S., 1653 Colin, H., 1391 Corbett, M. D., 829 Corrandini, D., 819 Cox, R. H., 345

<u>Note</u>: Numbers with an "S" prefix indicate entries appearing in Supplements 1 and 2 of Volume 5.

Crane, L. J., 2271 Craviso, G. L., 2311 Crombeen, J. P., S273 Crombez, E., 1449 Curry, Z. F., S257 Curtis, M. A., S319 Cutchin, W., 625

D

D'Amboise, M., 229 Danielson, N. D., 1679 Dark, W. A., 1645 Davis, K. L., 1691 Deming, S. N., 389 De Moerloose, P., 1449 Dence, C. S., 2005 Desiderio, D. M., 2135 De Wachter, R., 2079 Dewaele, C., 1431 DeWald, D., 1367 Ding, Y.-K., 1241 Dischino, D. D., 2005 Downer, R. G. H., 2435 Drake, S., 2095 Drury, P. L., 97 Duval, M., 1847

Ε

Echols, L. C., 81 von Elb, J. H., S43 Elsdon, W. L., 2253 Enagonio, D. P., 1697 Erlich, M., 2041 Esteve, J. P., 757 Evidente, A., 1653

F

Feng, J. S., 1329
Ferrell, W. J., 93
Fogel, G., 1357
Fourmy, D., 757, 2123
Freeman, M., 165
Frei, R. W., 2413
Fridland, G. H., 2135

G

Gankina, E. S., 1509 Gao, Y.-S., 1241 Garica, V., 1295 Gates, S. C., 2343 Gehrke, C. W., 2041 Gemski, M. J., 1921 George, E. D., 927 Ghernati, H. M., 1725 Ghoos, Y., 175 Giquère, Y., 1847 Giles, H. G., 945 van Ginneken, C. A. M., 549 Girard, I., 2423 Goldwasser, J. M., 2253 Gonnet, C., 2423 Gooding, D. L., 2259 Gooding, K. M., 2259 Gopal, N. G. S., 869 Goyette, G. W., 93 Graeser, E., 2061 Greenstock, C. L., 2085 Greizerstein, H. B., 337 Gribnau, F. W. J., 549 Grudevik, I., 141 Grushka, E., 1391 Guaita, M., 643 Guermouche, M. H., 1725 Guinchard, C., 1103, 1123 Guiochon, G., 1391

Η

Haddad, P. R., 853 Hamielec, A. E., 425, 1277 Hanai, T., 229 Hardee, G. E., 1991 Hayes, D. K., 1375 Hazeyama, Y., 1749 He, Q.-J., 1223 He, Z.-D., 1209 Heftmann, E., S121 Heilweil, E., 1555 Heindel, N. D., 1749 Henkel, J. G., 305 Herbert, B. H., 2095 Hernandez, 0., 345, 367 Heyraud, A., 403 Hikal, A. H., 2205

Hill, D., 2369 Hite, G. J., 305 Hixson, C. V., 715 Holdiness, M. R., 479, 707 Holston, N., 1375 Hon, J, Y. C., 1973 Hoogmartins, J., 25 Hook, J. B., 563 Hoppner, K., 953 Horvath, J., 2271 van der Howen, O. A. G. J., 2321 Hsieh, J. Y.-K., 1691 Hu, M., 1423 Huang, M. T., 1323 Huber, J. W., 829 Hurst, W. J., 585, 939 Hyde, W., 1181, 1191

Ι

Indemans, A. W. M., 2321
Isied, S. S., 537
Iskander, G. M., 1481
Iqbal, M., 967
Iriyama, K., 2211
Issaq, H. F., 625, 1069, 1771
Iype, P. T., 751

J

Jabarin, S. A., 1825 Jacobs, W. A., 669, 881 Jaffe, H., 1375 Jain, R., 1171, 1177 James, H., 767 Janáky, T., 1499 Janča, J., 193, 1605, 1621 Jansson, S. O., 677 Jaroniec, J. A., 1033 Jaroniec, M., 1033 Jiang, E.-F., 1665 Jin, N.-N., 1665 Jizba, J., 1967 Johnson, B., 1341 Jones, L. A., 2395

Kaji, M., 1763 Keating, R. W., 853 Kerr, I. M., 2027 Kessler, M. J., 111, 125, 313 Ketelaars, H. C. J., 549 Kilbourn, M. R., 2005 Kim, C. J., 425, 1277 Kimenai, P. M., 549 Kimura, R., S223 King, J. W., 275 Kinker, J., 1191 Kintzios, J., 1921 Kiss, P., 1531 Kissinger, P. T., 669, 881, S75 Klepárník, K., 193 Kline, W. F., 1697 Klink, F., 489 Klase, J. R., 625, 1069 Kohli, K. K., 367 de Kok, A. C., 807 Kovács, K., 1499, 1531 Kraak, J. C., S273 Kringe, K.-P., 1395 Kroppenstedt, R. M., 2359 Kruempelman, M., 1679 Krull, I. S., 463, 693 Kuo, K. C. T., 2041

L

Lachâtre, G., 1947 Lähdesmäki, P., 989 Lai, J.-W., 1991 Lampi, B., 953 László, F. A., 1499 Lattin, D. L., 829 Lauback, R. G., 1349 Le, H.-J., 1241 Lee, M. L., S179 Lee, R. E., Jr., 767 Lecacheux, D., 217 Lenda, K., 605 Lengye1, Z., 1541 Lepper, L. F., 563 Lepore, J., 571 Lesec, J., 217 Lewis, R. U., 1367 Li, K.-P., 15

Li, X.-Z., 1223 Li, Y., 1899 Lim, C. K., S305 Lin, J.-T., S121 van der Linden, J. A. A., 2321 Lipavská, H., 1967 Loeb, M., 1375 van Loenhout, J. W. A., 549 Long, C. J., II, 2395 Loo, T. L., 1323 Low, G. K. C., 853 Lu, X.-M., 2241-2251 Lulai, E. C., 917 Lyon, J., 537

М

Madden, D. E., 1711 Magnet, C., 1947 Maier, V. P., 81 Mancang, L., 63 Martin, R. A., Jr., 585, 939 Martin, R. J., 2435 Martin-Villa, C., 1941 Marwaha, R. K., 1341 Masih, S. Z., 203 Masson, J. D., 1123 Mathews, R. A., 1711 Mattiuz, E. L., 2343 May, H. E., 2135 May, W. E., 1697 McCormack, K. M., 563 McCoy, R. W., 1869 McGlaughlin, I. G., 337 McKinney, J. D., 345, 367 McLaughlin, L. W., 2061 McMahon, J. B., 751 McNitt, K. L., 1771 Meade-Cobun, K. S., 715 Mellish, N., 1357 Meng, D.-Y., 1223 Merle, L., 1947 Mertens, J., 1467 Messina, A., 819 Mincsovics, E., 1541 Miyajima, T., 73, 265, 1787 Mohammed, H. Y., 245 Moore, D., 1323 Moore, J. N., 1991

Moretti, R. L., 1749 Morier, E., 151 Muhammed, N., 1349 Mukherji, A. K., 841 Murray, L. R., 1973 Musacchio, J. M., 2311 Mussche, P., 1431

Ñ

Nambura, T., 1763 Navas, A. A., 413 Neidhart, B., 1395 Nelson, J. A., 2095 Newsom, A. E., 1711 Newton, J. F., 563 Nicholson, D., 1191 Nicot, G., 1947 Nieass, C. S., 2179, 2193 Nodar, R., 2311 Norman, S. M., 81

0

Ogawa, T., 1809 Ohashi, S., 73, 265, 1787, 1855 Olenick, J. G., 1933 Olmedilla, B., 1941 Oomens, A. C., 807 Ościk-Mendyk, B., 1033

Р

Padmanabhan, G. R., 1357
Panouse, J. J., 1103
Pauls, R. E., 1869
Peaden, P. A., S179
Peña Heras, A., 327
Penke, B., 1499
Perrett, D., 97
Persson, B. A., 141
Pfeifer, R., 2369
Pfeiffer, R., 1181
Pietrzyk, D. J., 443, 781
Pignolet, P., 1947
Pocker, Y., 1
Podojil, M., 1967
Pongor, S., 1583

Porthault, M., 1103, 1123 Pradayrol, L., 757, 2123 Přikrylová, V., 1967 Putterman, G. J., 715

Q

Qian, H. L., 1329 Quintens, I., 25 Quivoran, C., 217

R

Rand, W. G., 841 Randazzo, G., 1653 Ravert, H. T., 1749 Rawat, J. P., 967 Reeder, D. J., 1697 Reena, 1081 Reitz, G. A., 1069 Ribet, A., 2123, 757 Rips, R., 151 Rocca, J. L., 1947 Rochas, C., 403 Roets, E., 25 Rogers, L. B., S319 Roston, D. A., S75 Rózylo, J. K., 1033 Rudin, A., 2253 Rudzinski, W. E., 1295 Rutgeerts, P., 175

S

Sachok, B., 389
Sakai, M., 1809
Salva, P. S., 305
Sánchez-Rasero, F., 327
Sang, M.-M., 1241, 1665
Satti, A. M., 1481
Savage, R. N., 463, 693
Savaraj, N., 1323
Scalorbi, D., 1653
Schabron, J. F., 613, 1269
Schmuck, M. N., 2259
Schön, V., 1967
Schwartz, S. G., S43
Sellers, E. M., 945
Sharma, G., 869

Sharma, V. K., 1141 Sheeley, R. M., 939 Sherma, J., 1013 Shi, L.-H., 1259 Shimada, K., 1763 Shono, T., S223 Singh, V. P., 1141 Sinibaldi, M., 819 Simpson, R. C., 245 Skea, W., 2369 Sleckman, B. P., 1051 Smith, J., 1357 Smith, S. B., Jr., 463, 693 Smith, V. J., 613 Spear, M. B., 715 Srivastava, S. P., 1081 Stahr, H. M., 1181, 1191 Stead, J. A., 165 Stodola, J. D., 443 Storch, R. H., 731 Strickler, M. P., 1921, 1933 Strombom, J., 1481 Swarin, S. J., 597 Szókán, G., 1493

Т

Tallman, L., 489
Tan, Y., 549
Tanzer, F. S., 2135
Taylor, P., 2155
Timonen, M., 989
Tokunaga, Y., 1855, 2169, S105
Tóth, G., 1499
Travis, R. W., 1933
Truong, T. T., 1123
Tsai, P. S., 1349
Tsang, J. C., 1329
Tyihák, E., 1541

U

Upadhyay, R. K., 1141

V

Valette, J. P., 1947 Valko, W. J., 1749 Van Antwerp, J., 571 Vandeberghe, A., 2079 Van Dijck, J., 1431 Vantrappen, G., 175 Vassilian, A., 537 Veening, H., 245 Verzele, M., 1431 Vidal-Valverde, C., 1941 Voigtman, E., 2113

W

Wainright, M. S., 2179, 2193 Wakelyn, C., 2135 Waki, H., 1855, 2169, S105 Waldo, R. A., 597 Walker, B., 1973 Wang, K.,-Q., 1899 Ward, G. T., 165 Ware, J. L., 613 Watson, R. D., 525 Webb, J. W., 2343 Wehr, C. T., 489 Welch, M. J., 2005 Wells, M. J. M., 2293 Whitehouse, R. P., 2085 Widra, M., 715 Winefordner, J. D., 2113 Wood, D. L., 1155 Woodman, T. F., 1341 Worosila, G., 537 Wouters, I., 25

Х

Xie, F., 1763 Xu, J., 1899 Xu, Y.-Z., 1423

Y

Yagen, B., 345 Yamauchi, K., 265 Yamaguchi, Y., 743, 1163 Yang, R.-K., 1691 Yang, Y.-S., 1423 Ye, M.-L., 1241, 1259 Ying, Q.-C., 1241 Yoshikowa, Y., 73 Yoshiura, M., 2211 Young, D., 693 Yoza, N., 73

Ζ

Zhang, J.-J., 1423 Zhang, S.-Y., 1899 Zhang, X.-C., 1209 Zhide, H., 63 Zief, M., 2271 Zumwalt, R. W., 2041
SUBJECT INDEX TO VOLUME 5

А

- Abscisic acid (ABA), analysis of in <u>Cercospora</u> rosicola liquid culture media by RP-HPLC, 81-91
- Acetaminophen, simultaneous measurement of with salicylate, by RP-HPLC, 93-96
- Acetophenone, effect of silanol masking on extraction of from hydrocarbonaceous preanalysis extraction column, 2293-2309
- N-Acetylaspartyl peptides, non-coded biosynthesis of in mouse brain homogenates, 989-1002
- Acetylisoiazid, determination of in human plasma, by HPLC, 707-714
- Acid-base interactions, use of to improve separations in normal-phase PLC, 2271-2292
- Adenine, simultaneous measurement of with 6-thioquanine in RNA or DNA, by dual-column HPLC, 2095-2110
- Adsorbent
 - for the separation of chlorophylls, selection of, 2211-2216
 - zinc silicate, for paper chromatographic separation of phenols, 967-988
- Adsorption, of methyl red on stationary phases, quantitative determination of, 25-37

- Alcoholic group, anthracene isocyanate as fluoresceing reagent for, 897-916
- Alcohols, polyhydric, differential binding of to ion exchange resins, by HPLC, 767-779
- Aliphatic compounds, retention data compared to hydrophobicity of, in RPLC, 229-244
- Alkisilane. <u>See</u> Silica beads, long chain alkylsilane modified porus
- Alkyd resins, determination of free fatty acids in, by HPLC, 275-304
- Alykl silica gel bonded phases. See Bonded phases, alkyl silica gel
- Alkyl sulphonates, quantitation of using UV sensitive ion pair reagents, in RPLC, 389-402
- Amberlite XAD-4
 - as stationary phase, for PLC in a radially compressed column, 781-795
 - use of for separation of amino acids and peptides, by PLC, 443-461

Amines

aliphatic, behavior of phenols on silica gel plates impregnated with, in TLC, 1081-1095

Note: Numbers with an "S" prefix indicate entries appearing in Supplements 1 and 2 of Volume 5.

[Amines] hydrophobic, on non-polar bonded phases, effect of counter ions, in ion-pair chromatography, 677-691 nitroaromatic reagents for determination of, by liquid chromatography/electrochemistry, 881-895 Amino acids comparison of separations of, on TLC systems, 1051-1068

- nitroaromatic reagents for determination of, by liquid chromatography/electrochemistry, 881-895
- pentaamine colbalt (III), separation of and peptides, by RP-HPLC, 537-547
- plasma, as orthophthaldialdehyde/ethanethiol derivatives, quantitation of, by RP-HPLC, 2369-2393
- pre-column derivatization in HPLC of, 1493-1498
- separation of from peptides, by PLC, using amberlite XAD-4, 443-461
- Animal diets, analysis of caffeine and theobromine in, by HPLC, 585-589
- Anion-exchange high performance liquid chromatography. <u>See</u> High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), anion exchange
- Anthracene isocyanate, as fluoresceing reagent for compounds with an alcoholic group, 897-916
- Anticonvulsants, determination of, by HPLC, S273-S304
- Antidiabetic 4-arylhydrazono-1quanylnitrate-3-methyl-2pyrazolin-5-ones, separation of, by TLC, 1177-1179
- Antiepilepsy drug, <u>See</u> Valproic acid
- Antioxidant, in polyethylene, determination of, by RP-HPLC, 1847-1854

Applications, of high-speed video densitometry, 1583-1595

- Aqueous micellar mobile phases. See Mobile phases, aqueous micellar
- Aromatic compounds polar, migration and partition of, by TLC, 1103-1121 retention data compared to hydrophobicity of, in
- RPLC, 229-244 Association effects, in TLC data for solutes chromatographed in methanol-acetone silica gel, 1033-1042
- Athracenedione derivative, antineoplastic, analysis of, by HPLC, 1323-1328
- Audio-visual course review, 379
- Azide, determination of as 3,5dinitrobenzoyl derivative, by HPLC, 597-604
- Azinphos methyl and azinphose methyl oxon, determination of by direct injection and trace enrichment, using HPLC, 49-62

В

- Baseline noise suppression, use of lag filters for, in HPLC, 853-867
- Benoit's universal parameter, polydispersity in application of, in GPC, 217-228
- Benzine, effect of silanol masking on extraction of, from hydrocarbonaceous preanalysis extraction column, 2293-2309
- Benzothiazoles, closely related, separation of, by TLC, 1171-1175
- Benzoylacetic acid, N-phenylamides of, relationship between biological activity and capacity ratios of, in reversed-phase HPLC and HPTLC, 39-48

2468

- Betalines, analysis of, by HPLC, \$43-\$73
- Bile acid methyl ester acetates, use of Sep-Pak C₁₈ cartridges for preparation of, 175-186
- Bile pigments, analysis of, by HPLC, S305-S318
- Binding, of sugars and polyhydric alcohols to ion exchange resins, by HPLC, 767-779
- Binding ability, of linear phosphate anions to magnesium ions, evaluation of, by zonal gel chromatography, 1787-1799
- Bioassay, rat heart, and RP-HPLC, on line detection system for plasma borne vasoconstrictor using, 1749-1762
- Biogenic amines, and metabolites, simultaneous assay of in unpurified mouse brain, 151-164
- Biological activity, of N-phenylamides of benzoylacetic acid, relationships between and capacity ratios in reversed-phase HPLC and HPTLC, 39-48
- Biological fluids
- analysis of cimetidine in, by HPLC, 2413-2422
- <u>See also</u> Blood; Plasma
- Biological samples determination of neutral sugars in, by HPLC, 1711-1723
 - quantitation of naproxen and des-methyl naproxen in, by HPLC, 549-561
- Biological studies, high performance thin-film chromatography in, 1573-1582
- Biological tissues, analysis of for selenium, by TLC, 1191-1200
- Biosynthesis, non-coded of N-acetylaspartyl peptides in mouse brain homogenates, 989-1002
- Bipyrrole precursors, of prodigio-

sin from <u>Serratia marces</u>-<u>cens</u>, separation and detection of by, HPLC and syntrophic pigment synthesis, 1329-1340

- Bisantrene, CL 216,942 or NSC-337766. See Anthracenedione derivative, antineoplastic Blood
- high-volume samples of, determination of indomethacin in, by HPLC, 337-343
 - See also Plasma; Serum
- Bonded phases
 - alkyl silica gel, separations in TLC and HPLC using, 1069-1080
 - effect of on RP-HPLC of proteins, 1367-1374
 - non-polar, effect of counter ions in ion-pair chromatography of hydrophobic amines on, 677-691

С

- Cacao products, identification of 7-methylxanthine in, by HPLC, 939-943
- Caffeine, in animal diets, analysis of, by HPLC, 585-589
- Calculator, programmable pocket, calculation of molecular weights and distribution with, in GPC, 413-423
- Calibration
 - in high temperature gel permeation chromatography of linear polyethylenes, 807-817
 - simultaneous, of molecular weight separation and column dispersion of GPC by coupling with LALLS, 1209-1222
 - variations in, in SEC, curve fitting program to adjust for, 841-851
- Camphorsulfonic acid, used as ion pairing agent in separation of epimeric alkaloids, in reversed-phase ion-pair, HPLC, 305-312

- Capacity ratios, of N-phenylamides of benzoylacetic acid, relationship between and biological activity, in reversed phase HPLC and HPTLC, 39-48
- Capillaries, dispersion of polymer solutions flowing in, 1621-1623
- Captopril, determination of in physiological fluids, using HPLC with electrochemical detection, 97-110
- Carbamic herbicides. <u>See</u> Chloropham
- Carbohydrates, separation of, by HPLC, 1941-1946
- Carbon dioxide analysis of, by RP-HPLC, 2179-2191
 - quantitation of, by HPLC, 2193-2203
- Carbonyl 2,4-dinitrophenyl hydrazones, determination of, by liquid chromatography/electrochemistry, 669-676
- Carotenoids, analysis of, by HPLC, \$43-\$73
- K-Carrageenan, sulfated oligosaccharides from, separation of and oligogalacturonic acid, by HPLC, 403-412
- Catecholamines, analysis of, by HPLC, S1-S41
- Cationic polymers. <u>See</u> Polymers, cationic
- Cellulose, comparison of amino acid separations on and other TLC systems, 1051-1068
- Cercospora rosicola, analysis of abscisic acid in liquid culture media of, by RP-HPLC, 81-91
- α-Chaconine, determination of in potato tubers and products, by HPLC, 1313-1322
- Chlorinated pesticides, and polychlorinated biphenyls, separation and quantitation of, by HPLC, 1653-1663 Chloroform

- elution behavior of organic compounds, in GPC using, 1809-1823
- See also o-Chlorophenolchloroform
- Chloropham, determination of, by RP-HPLC, 327-335
- o-Chlorophenol-chloroform, solvent system of, analysis of polyethylene terephalate, by GPC, using, 1825-1845
- Chlorophylls analysis of, by HPLC, S43-S73 selection of adsorbents for separation of, 2211-2216
- Cholecystokinin, radio-iodinated, purification of, by RP-HPLC, 757-766
- Chromatographic determination, of narrow molecular weight distributions, reliability of, 193-216
- Chromatographic system, development of by preloading in thin layer for transposition on a column, 1123-1140
- Cimetidine, in biological fluids, analysis of, by HPLC, 2413-2422
- Clinical practice, monitoring of D-penicillamine in, by ion-exchange TLC, 1531-1540
- Column, extraction, hydrocarbonaceous pre-analysis, effect of silanol masking on recovery of picloram and other solutes from, 2293-2309
- Column dispersion, simultaneous calibration of and molecular weight separation of GPC, by coupling with LALLS, 1209-1222
- Columns, radially-compressed and stainless steel, comparison of for ion-pair RP-HPLC separation of phencyclidine synthetic mixtures, 2395-2411

Column types, commercial, evaluation of, 1869-1897

- Commercially available liquid chromatographic column types. <u>See</u> Column types, commercial
- Complex formation studies, application of DEC to, 2169-2178
- Composition, of binary solvents, effect of on separations in RP-TLC and RP-HPLC, 625-641
- Computation, of HPLC parameters, and comparison of noise levels of dual piston reciprocating and triple piston pump, 869-879
- Computer program, for identification of elution order of peaks in HPLC, 1771-1785
- Confirmation procedures, use of two-phase, two-dimensional TLC for, 1555-1566
- Continuous flow thin-layer chromatography. <u>See</u> Thin-layer chromatography (TLC), continuous flow
- Copolymerization, cationic, of tetrahydrofuran with propylene oxide, characterization of macrocycles formed from, by GPC and GC/MS, 1423-1430
- Copolymers
 - characterization of, by GPC, 2253-2257
 - See also Ethylene-propylene copolymers
- Copper reagent, for quantitative densitometric TLC of lipids, 1155-1162
- Counter ions, effect of in ionpair chromatography of hydrophobic amines on nonpolar bonded phases, 677-691
- Crosslinking agent, in polyethylene, determination of, by RP-HPLC, 1847-1854
- Crown ethers, use of in liquid chromatography, S223-S255
- Crude oil. <u>See</u> Hydrocarbon, crude oil

- Crustacean erythropore concentrating hormone. See Erythropore concentrating hormore, crustacean
- Crustracean tissues, isolation of ecdysteroids from, using Sep-Pak C₁₈ cartridges, 525-535
- Culture media, isolation of ecdysteroids from, using Sep-Pak C₁₈ cartridges, 525-535
- Curve fitting program, to adjust for variations in calibration in SEC, 841-851
- Cytochrome P-450, fractionation of, by HPLC, 367-377

D

- Dane salts. <u>See</u> Potassium (-)-N-(1-melhoxycarbonylpropene-2yL)-p-hydroxyphenylglycine
- Data reduction. <u>See</u> Calculator Daunomycinone derivatives, semi-
- synthetic, separation of, by RP-HPLC, 1967-1972
- DDT. See Chlorinated pesticides
- Dead volume, between concurrent detectors in GPC, measurement of, 2227-2239
- DEC. <u>See</u> Donnan exclusion chromatography (DEC)
- Decomposition products, in polyethylene, determination of, by RP-HPLC, 1847-1854
- Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) quantitative analysis in, by
 - RP-HPLC, 2041-2060 simultaneous measurement of
 - 6-thioquanine and adenine in, by dual-column HPLC, 2095-2110
- Deoxyribonucleotides, separation of, by ion-suppression RP-HPLC, 2085-2093
- Detection system
- DRI/LALLSP
 - characterization of dextran by SEC, using, 425-411

- [Detection system, DRI/LALLSP] characterization of nonionic polyacrylamides by aqueous SEC, using, 1277-1294
 - fluorometric, and separation of polyamines, by reversedphase ion-pair liquid chromatography, 245-264
 - new, for continuous flow TLC, 1567-1572
 - on line, for plasma borne vasoconstrictor, using rat heart bioassay and RP-HPLC, 1749-1762
 - See also Electrochemical detection; Enzymatic detection; Fluorescence detector; Inductively coupled plasma (ICP) detection method; Refractive index detection; Spectrofluorimetric detection; Ultraviolet (UV) detection
- Detector, fluorescence, photoacoustic, and two-photon photoionization, lazer-excited windowless flow cell for, of aromatic compounds in HPLC, 2113-2122
- Detectors, concurrent, measurement of dead volume between in GPC, 2227-2239
- Dextrans, characterization of, by SEC, using DRI/LALLSP detection system, 425-441
- Dextromethorphan, tritiated, preparation and purification of, by RP-HPLC, 2311-2320
- Diethyldithiocarbamate, analysis of in plasma, by RP-HPLC, 945-951
- 3,5-Dinitrobenzoyl derivative, determination of azide as, by HPLC, 597-604
- 2,4-Dinitrophenyl hydrazine derivatives, of carbonyls, determination of, by liquid chromatography/electrochemistry, 669-676
- Direct injection, determination of azinphos methyl and azinphose methyl oxon by, using

HPLC, 49-62

- Dispersion, of polymer solutions flowing in capillaries, 1621-1643
- Disulfiram metabolite. <u>See</u> Diethyldithiocarbamate
- DNA. <u>See</u> Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)
- Donnan exclusion chromatography (DEC)
 - application of to complex formation studies, 2169-2178
- elution behavior of phosphorus oxopolyanions of large size in, 1855-1867
- Donnan exclusion ion-exclusion chromatography, review of, S105-S119
- Dopamine, determination of by RP-HPLC, using electrochemical detection, 2435-2452
- Dosage forms, fluspirilene in, assay of, by HPLC, 2205-2210
- DRI/LALLSP detection system. See Detection system, DRI/ LALLSP
- Dual-column high performance liquid chromatography. <u>See</u> High performance (pressure) liquid chromatography (HPLC), dualcolumn
- Dye adsorption. See Methyl red

Е

- Ecdysteroids, isolation of from crustacean tissues and culture media, using Sep-Pak C₁₈ cartridges, 525-535
- Elastomer. <u>See</u> Silicone elastomer
- Electrical diffuse layer, used as stationary phase for macromolecular separations in open capillary chromatography, 15-23

- Electrochemical detection determination of captopril in physiological fluids, using HPLC with, 97-110
 - determination of plasma norepinephrine and epinephrine, by ion-pair RP-HPLC with, 1947-1965
 - separation of tryptophan and its indolic metabolites, by RP-HPLC, using, 2423-2434
 - simultaneous determination of dopamine, norepinephrine, tyramine, and octopamine, by RP-HPLC using, 2435-2452
- See also Detection system
 - elution behavior of organic compounds in GPC using chloroform as, 1809-1823
 - succinate used as, in ion-exchange chromatographic separation of heavy metal ions, 63-72
- Eluting agents, influence of on gel chromatographic behavior of inorganic linear and cyclic phosphates, 73-80
- Elution behavior
 - of organic compounds in GPC using chloroform as eluent, 1809-1823
 - of phosphorus oxopolyanions of large size, in DEC, 1855-1867
- Elution curve, relation between asymmetry of and efficiency of separation system, in SEC, 1605-1619
- Elution order, of peaks in HPLC, computer program for identification of, 1771-1785
- Enzymatic detection
 - of urinary steroid-17 β-glucuronides, after gel filtration, 743-749
 - of urinary steroids in TLC, 1163-1170
- See also Detection system
- Enzymatic determination, of triglycerides in conjunction with HPLC, 1679-1689
- Enzymatic hydrolysis, of insulin,

size-exclusion HPLC used to monitor progress of, 1-14

- Enzymatic synthesis, isolation of RNA fragment prepared by, by HPLC, 2061-2077
- Epimeric alkaloids, separation of using camphorsulfonic acid as ion pairing agent in reversed-phase ionpair HPLC, 305-312
- Epinephrine, plasma, determination of, by ion-pair RP-HPLC with electrochemical detection, 1947-1965
- Erythropore concentrating hormone, crustacean, from invertebrate nerve tissue, isolation of nanogram amounts of, by RP-HPLC, 1375-1390
- Essential oils, separation and identification of constituents of on silica gel plates, by TLC, 1097-1102
- Estrogen glucuronides, separation of, by RP-HPLC, 1763-1770
- Ethylene-propylene copolymers, analysis of, by GPC, 1899-1920
- Experimental curves, of GPC of silicone elastomer, 2241-2251

\mathbf{F}

- Fatty acids, free, determination of in natural oils and alykd resins, by HPLC, 275-304
- Fingerprinting, use of two phase, two-dimensional 'TLC for, 1555-1566
- Flavonoids, analysis of, by HPLC, S43-S73
- Flow cell, laser-excited windowless, for fluorescence, photoacoustic, and twophoton photoionization detection of aromatic compounds in HPLC, 2113-2122

- Flow rate effect of on separation and broadening effects in GPC, 1241-1267
 - of samples, influence of on SEC with microparticulate porus silica spheres, 643-667
- Flunixin, simultaneous determination of with phenylbutazone, oxyphenbutazone, and γ-hydroxyphenylbutazone in equine plasma, by HPLC, 1991-2003
- Fluorescing reagent, for compounds with an alcoholic group, anthracene isocyanate as, 897-916
- Fluorescence detector. <u>See</u> Detector, fluorescence, photoacoustic, and two-photon photoionization
- Fluspirilene, in dosage forms, assay of, by HPLC, 2205-2210
- Folic acid, determination of in fortified foods, by RP-HPLC, 953-966
- Foods, fortified, determination of folic acid in, by RP-HPLC, 953-966
- Fuel oil, classification of, by GPC, 605-611

G

- Gel chromatography (GC)
 - fractionation and characterization of inorganic long-chain polyphosphate by, 265-273
 - influence of eluting agents on behavior of inorganic linear and cyclic phosphates in, 73-80
 - zonal, evaluation of binding ability of linear phosphate anions to magnesium ions by, 1787-1799
 - See also Gel permeation chromatography (GPC)
- Gel filtration, enzymatic detection of urinary steroid-17

 β -glucuronides after, 743-749

- Gel permeation chromatography (GPC)
 - analysis of ethylene-propylene copolymers by, 1899-1920
 - analysis of oligomers by, S319-S329
 - analysis of polyethylene terephalate by, using solvent system of o-chlorophenolchloroform, 1825-1845
 - characterization of copolymers and polymer mixtures by, 2253-2257
 - characterization of macrocycles formed from cationic copolymerization of tetrahydrofuran with propylene oxide by, 1423-1430
 - determination of molecular weight distribution of polyethylene terephthalate by, 1665-1678
 - effect of flow rate on separation and broadening effects in, 1241-1267
 - elution behavior of organic compounds in, using chloroform as eluent, 1809-1823
 - fuel oil classification by, 605-611
 - high temperature, calibration of linear polyethylenes, 807-817
 - and light scattering, determination of monodisperse Mark-Houwink equation of high-vinyl polybutadiene by, 1405-1422
 - long chain alkylsilane modified porus silica beads as packing for, 1223-1239
 - measurement of dead volume between concurrent detectors in, 2227-2239
 - polydispersity in application of Benoit's universal parameter in, 217-228
 - of silicone elastomer, experimental curves of, 2241-2251

- [Gel permeation chromatography (GPC)]
 - simultaneous calibration of molecular weight separation and column dispersion of, by coupling with LALLS, 1209-1222
 - use of programmable pocket calculator for calculation of molecular weights and distributions in, 413-423
- 17-β-Glucuronides, urinary steroid, enzymatic detection of after gel filtration, 743-749
- Glutamic acid decarboxylase activity, in subregions of rat brain, determination of, by HPLC, 479-487
- Glycerol, analysis of in soap by HPLC, using refractive index detection, 927-938
- Glycoalkaloids, potato, separation of, by semi-preparative HPLC, 731-742
- Glycols, analysis of in soap by HPLC, using refractive index detection, 927-938
- Glycoproteins, variant, from <u>Tryp-</u> ansoma rhodesiense, peptide mapping of, by RP-HPLC, 1933-1940
- Gonadal steroids, separation of, by RP-HPLC, 125-139
- Gonadal tissues, quantification of steroids resulting from incubation of with radioactive precursors, using HPLC, 313-325
- Gradient high performance liquid chromatography. <u>See</u> High performance (pressure) liquid chromatography, gradient and isocratic
- Group separation quantitation, crude oil hydrocarbon, by HPLC, 1645-1652

- Heavy metal ions, separation of by ion-exchange chromatography, using succinate as eluent, 63-72
- Hepatic proliferation inhibitor, purification of, by anionexchange HPLC, 751-756
- Hexazinone, effect of silanol masking on extraction of from hydrocarbonaceous pre-analysis extraction column, 2293-2309
- High performance (pressure) liquid chromatography (HPLC)
 - of amino acids and peptides, pre-column derivatization in, 1493-1498
 - analysis of bile pigments by, S305-S318
 - analysis of caffeine and theobromine in animal diets by, 585-589
 - analysis of catecholamines by, S1-S41
 - analysis of cimetidine in biological fluids by, 2413-2422
 - analysis of glycerol and other glycols in soap by, using refractive index detection, 927-938
 - analysis of oligomers by, S319-S329
 - analysis of plant pigments by, S43-S73
 - analysis of steroids by, S121--S173
 - analysis and separation of 2'-5' oligoadenylates and related oligonucleotides by, 2027-2039
 - anion-exchange
 - high resolution separation of urinary organic acids by, 2343-2357
 - purification of hepatic proliferation inhibitor from rat liver by, 751-756

- [High performance (pressure) liqquid chromatography (HPLC)]
 - of antineoplastic anthracenedione derivative, 1323-1328 assay of fluspirilene in dosage
 - forms by, 2205-2210
 - baseline noise suppression in, use of lag filters for, 853-867
 - computation of parameters in, 869-879
 - computer program for identification of elution order of peaks in, 1771-1785
 - crude oil hydrocarbon group separation quantitation by, 1645-1652
 - determination of anticonvulsants by, S273-S304
 - determination of azide as 3,5dinitrobenzoyl derivative by, 597-604
 - determination of azinphos methyl and azinphosmethyl oxon by direct injection and trace enrichment using, 49-62
 - determination of α-chaconine and α-solanine in potato tubers and products by, 1313-1322
 - determination of free fatty acids in natural oils and alkyd resins by, 275-304
 - determination of glutamic acid decarboxylase activity by, in subregions of rat brain, 479-487
 - determination of indomethacin in high-volume blood samples by, 337-343
 - determination of ioniazid and acetylisoiazid in human plasma by, 707-714
 - determination of neutral sugars in biological samples by, 1711-1723
 - determination of physostigmine in plasma by, 1691-1695
 - determination of polyolefin additives by, following Soxhlet extraction, 1269-1276

- determination of 5'-terminal of small RNA molecules by, 2079-2084
- determination of tiaprofenic acid in human plasma by, 165-174
- determination of valproic acid in by, 1697-1709
- differential binding of sugars and polyhydric alcohols to ion-exchange resins by, 767-779
- dual-column, simultaneous measurement of 6-thioquanine and adenine in RNA or DNA, 2095-2110
- effect of substituents on retention of strychnine derivatives in, 1481-1492
- with electrochemical detection, determination of captopril in physiological fluids using, 97-110
- enzymatic determination of triglycerides in conjunction with, 1679-1689
- fractionation of microsomal cytochrome P-450 using, 367-377
- gradient and isocratic, determination of ultraviolet absorbing polyolefin additives by, 613-624
- identification of 7-methylxanthine in cacao products by, 939-943
- intra- and inter-laboratory reproducibility of retention indices of, 829-839
- iodination of peptide hormones and purification of iodi-nated peptides by, 1499--1507
- ion pair. See Ion-pair high
 performance liquid chro matography; Ion-pair liq uid chromatography
- isocratic determination of tetracycline and related compounds by, 1973-1990

- [High performance (pressure) liquid chromatography (HPLC), isocratic]
 - separation of bacterial menaquinones by, using reversed phase and silver loaded ion exchanger, 2359-2367
 - isolation of RNA fragment prepared by enzymatic synthesis by, 2061-2077
 - laser-excited windowless flowcell for fluorescence, photoacoustic, and two-photon photoionization detection of aromatic compounds in, 2113-2122
 - optimization in (book review), 187
 - of parabens in pharmaceutical preparations containing hydroxyquinolines, 1357-1366
 - peak splitting in, using 2-propanol as a modifier, 1467-1480
 - preparation of bonded spiral phase for, for outer-sphere ligand exchange, 819-828
 - preparative, separation and purification of isomers of propylene phenoxetol by, 2155-2167
 - and proteolytic enzyme characterization of peptides in tooth pulp extracts, 2135-2154
 - quantitation of carbon dioxide by, 2193-2203
 - quantitation of naproxen and des-methyl-naproxen in biological samples by, 549-561
 - quantitation of steroids resulting from incubation of gonadal tissues with radioactive precursors, using, 313-325
 - quantitation of vitamin A palmitate in liquid multivitamin formulations, 571-584
 - reversed-phase. <u>See</u> Reversedphase high performance liquid chromatography (RP-HPLC)

- semi-preparative, separation
 of potato glycoalkaloids
 by, 731-742
- separation of polyols and carbohydrates by, 1941--1946
- separation and quantitation of mono-, di-, and trisaccharides by, 1725-1748
- separation and quantitation of polychlorinated biphenyls and chlorinated pesticides by, 1653-1663
- separations in using alkyl silica gel bonded phases, 1069-1080
- separation of sulfated oligosaccharides from Kcarrageenan and oligogalacturonic acids by, 403-412
- on silica gel, use of isohydric solvent system in, for analysis of macrolide antibiotics, 1449-1465
- simultaneous determination of flunixin, phenylbutazone, oxyphenbutazone, and γ-hydroxyphenylbutazone in equine plasma by, 1991-2003
- size-exclusion, for analysis of insulin and monitoring of its enzymatic hydrolysis, 1-14
- See also Size exclusion chromatography (SEC)
- spherical versus irregularshaped silica gel particles in, 1431-1448
- and syntrophic pigment synthesis, separation and detection of monopyrrole and bipyrrole precursors of prodigiosin from <u>Ser-</u> <u>ratia marcescens</u> by, 1329-1340

- [High performance (pressure) liquid chromatography (HPLC), isocratic]
 - two-dimensional, high resolution separation of urinary organic acids by, 2343-2357
- High performance thio-film chromatography, in biological studies, 1573-1582

High resolution separation, of urinary organic acids by reversed-phase, anion-exchange and two dimensional HPLC, 2343-2357

- High-volume samples, of blood, determination of indomethacin in, using HPLC, 337-343
- Hippuric acid, analysis of, by TLC, 1181-1190
- Hold-up time, on reversed-phase packing, use of lithium nitrate as test substance for, 2321-2341
- HPIEC. <u>See</u> Ion-exchange chromatography (HPIEC)
- Human chorionic gonadotropin, and its subunits, isolation of, by HPLC, 715-729
- Hydrocarbon, crude oil, group separation quantitation of, by HPLC, 1645-1652
- Hydrophobicity, compared to retention data of aliphatic and aromatic compounds, in RPLC, 229-244
- γ-Hydroxyphenylbutazone, simultaneous determination of with flunixin, phenylbutazone, and oxyphenebutazone in equine plasma, by HPLC, 1991-2003
- Hydroxyquinolines, determination of parabens in pharmceutical preparations containing, by HPLC, 1357-1366
 - Ι
- ICP. See Inductively coupled plasma (ICP) detection method

- Indolic metabolites, of trytophan, separation of by RP-HPLC using UV, electrochemical and spectrofluorimetric detection, 2423-2434
- Indomethacin, determination of in high-volume blood samples, by HPLC, 337-343
- Inductively coupled plasma (ICP) detection method metal cation/anion speciation, by ion-pair RP-
- HPLC with, 463-478 metal cation speciation, by RP-HPLC and, 693-706
- See also Detection system Inorganic analysis, chromatographic methods in (book review), 381
- Inorganic phosphates, cyclic and linear, influence of eluting agents on gel chromatographic behavior of, 73-80
- Insulin, analysis of an monitoring enzymatic hydrolysis of by size-exclusion HPLC, 1-14
- Iodination, of peptides by HPLC, 1499-1507
- Ion-exchange chromatography
 (HPIEC), separation of
 heavy metal ions by, us ing succinate as eluent,
 63-72
- Ion-exchange resins, differential binding of sugars and polyhydric alcohols to, by HPLC, 767-779
- Ion-exchánge thin layers, comparison of amino acid separations on, and other TLC systems, 1051-1068
- Ion exchanger, silver loaded, isocratic separation of bacterial menaquinones by HPLC using, 2359-2367

- Ion-pair high performance liquid chromatography
 - assay of potassium (-)-N-(1methoxycarbonyl propene-2yL)-p-hydroxyphenylglycine by, 1349-1355
 - determination of methacholine chloride by, 1341-1348
- Ion-pairing agent, camphorsulfonic acid used as in separation of epimeric alkaloids, by reversed-phase ion-pair HPLC, 305-312
- Ion-pair liquid chromatography assay of N-propylajmaline in plasma by, 141-150
 - of hydrophobic amines on nonpolar bonded phases, effects of counter ions in, 677-691
 - reversed-phase separation and fluorimetric detection of polyamines by, 245-264
 - separation of epimeric alkaloids using camphorsulfonic acid as ion pairing agent in, 305-312
 - See also Reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography (RP-HPLC) ion-pair
- Ion pair reagents, UV sensitive, quantitation of alkyl sul- phonates using, in RPLC, 389-402
- Ion-suppression reversed-phase high performance liquid chromatography. <u>See</u> Reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography, ion suppression
- Isocratic high performance liquid chromatography. <u>See</u> High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), isocratic
- Isocratic separation, of bacterial menaquinones, by HPLC using reversed-phase and silver loaded ion exchanger, 2356-2367
- Isohydric solvent system, use of in HPLC on silica gel for

analysis of macrolide antibiotics, 1449-1465

- Isoiazid, determination of in human plasma, by HPLC, 707-714
- Isomeric thioether metabolites, of styrene oxide, analysis of, using RP-HPLC, 345-365
- Isomers of propylene phenoxetol. See Propylene phenoxetol, isomers of
- Isomers, inorganic, separation of by TLC, 1141-1153

L

- Lag filters, use of for suppression of balance noise in HPLC, 853-867
- LALLS. See Low angle laser scattering photometer (LALLS)
- LC/MS. <u>See</u> Liquid chromatography/ Mass spectrometry interconnection
- Ligand exchange, outer sphere, preparation of bonded spiral phase for HPLC for, 819-828
- Light scattering, and GPC, determination of monodisperse Mark-Houwink equation of high-vinyl polybutadiene by, 1405-1422
- Lipids, copper reagent for quantitative densitometric TLC of, 1155-1162
- Lithium nitrate, use of as test substance for determination of hold-up time on reversedphase packing, 2321-2341

Liquid chromatography

- determination of phenolic acids of vegetable origin by various methods of, S75-S103 use of crown ethers in, S223-S255
- Liquid chromatography calendar, 191-192, 387-388, 593-595, 801-805, 1007-1011, 1205-1208, 1401-1404, 1601-1604, 1805-1808, 2023-2026, 2223-2225, 2459-2460, S175-S178, S337-S338

- Liquid chromatography/electrochemistry
 - determination of carbenyl 2,4dinitrophenylhydrazones by, 669-676
 - nitroaromatic reagents for determination of amines and amino acids by, 881-885
 - $\frac{\text{See}}{\text{tion}} \stackrel{\text{also}}{=} \text{Electrochemical detec-}$
- Liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (LC/MS) interconnection, recent developments in, S257-S272
- Liquid chromatography news, 189-190, 383-385, 591-592, 797-799, 1003-1005, 1201-1203, 1397-1400, 1597-1600, 1801-1804, 2019-2022, 2217-2221, 2453-2457, S331-S334
- Liquid culture media, <u>Cercospora</u> rosicola, RP-HPLC analysis of Abscisic acid in, 81-91
- Liquified gas solutions, solubility measurements in, 2193-2203
- Low angle light scattering photometer (LALLS)
 - simultaneous calibration of molecular weight separation and column dispersion of GPC, by coupling with, 1209-1222
 - See also DRI/LALLSP detector system

М

- Macrocycles, formed from cationic copolymerization of tetrahydrofuran with propylene oxide, characterization of, by GPC and GC/MS, 1423-1430
- Macrolide antibiotics. <u>See</u> Spiramycins; Turimycins
- Macromolecular separations, electrical diffuse layer used as stationary phase for, in open capillary chromatography, 15-23

Magnesium ions, binding ability of to linear phosphate ions, evaluation of by zonal gel chromatography, 1787-1799

Mark-Houwink equation

- monodisperse, of high-vinyl polybutadiene, determination of by GPC and light scattering, 1405-1422
- See also Ethylene-propylene copolymers
- Measurement of t_o (letters), 1391-1393, 1395-1396
- Menaquinones, bacterial, isocratic separation of by HPLC, using reversed-phase and silver loaded ion exchanger, 2356-2367
- Metal-cation/anion speciation, by ion-pair HPLC, with RI or ICP detection methods, 463-478
- Metal cation speciation, by extraction RP-HPLC, with RI and/or ICP detection methods, 693-706
- Methacholine chloride, determination of by ion-pair HPLC, 1341-1348
- Methanol-acetone silica gel. <u>See</u> Silica gel, methanol-acetone
- des-Methyl naproxen. <u>See</u> Naproxen and des-methyl naproxen
- Methyl red, quantitative determination of adsorption of, on stationary phases, 25-37
- 7-Methylxanthine, in cacao products, identification of, by HPLC, 939-943
- Microparticulate packings, for aqueous steric exclusion chromatography, 489-524
- Mobile phases, aqueuos micellar, use of in RP-TLC, 1043-1050
- Molecular weight distribution in GPC, use of programmable pocket calculator for calculation of, 413-423
 - of polyethylene terephthalate, determination of, by GPC, 1665-1678

- Molecular weight distributions, narrow, of polymers, reliability of chromatographic results in determination of, 193-216
- Molecular weight separation, simultaneous calibration of and column dispersion of GPC, by coupling with LALLS, 1209-1222
- Monoqucuronids, of estrone, estradiol, estriol and 16-epiestriol. <u>See</u> Estrogen glucuronides
- Monopyrrole precursors, of prodigiosin from <u>Serratia marces-</u> <u>cens</u>, separation and detection of, by HPLC and syntrophic pigment synthesis, 1329-1340
- Mouse brain non-coded biosynthesis of Nacetylaspartyl peptides in homogenates of, 989-1002
 - unpurified, simultaneous assay of biogenic amines and metabolites in, 151-164
- Multivitamin formulations, liquid, quantitation of vitamin A palmitate in, by HPLC, 571-584

Ν

- Naproxen, and des-methyl naproxen, quantitation of in biological samples, by HPLC, 549-561
- Natural oils, determination of in free fatty acids in by HPLC, 275-304
- Nerve tissue, invertebrate, isolation of nanogram amounts of crustacean erythropore concentrating hormone from, by RP-HPLC, 1375-1390
- Neutral sugars, determination of in biological samples, by HPLC, 1711-1723
- Nitroaromatic reagents, for determination of amines and ami-

no acids, by liquid chromatography/electrochemistry, 881-895

- Noise levels, comparison of, of dual piston reciprocating and triple piston pump, 869-879
- Norepinephrine determination of, by RP-HPLC,
 - using electrochemical detection, 2435-2452
 - plasma, determination of, by ion-pair RP-HPLC, with electrochemical detection, 1947-1965
- Nucleosides, in RNA and DNA, quantitative analysis of, by RP-HPLC, 2041-2060
- 2'-and 3'-Nucleotide monophosphates, separation of, by RP-HPLC, 111-123

0

- Octopamine, determination of, by RP-HPLC, using electrochemical detection, 2435-2452
- 2'-5' Oligoadenylates, and related oligonucleolides, analysis and separation of by HPLC, 2027-2039
- Oligoqalacturonic acid, separation of and sulfated oligosaccharides from k-carrageenan, by HPLC, 403-412
- Oligomers
- analysis of, by HPLC and GPC, S319-S329
- analysis of polydispersity of, by adsorption TLC, 1509-1529
- Open capillary chromatography, using electrical diffuse layer as stationary phase for charged macromolecular separations, 15-23
- Organic acids, urinary, high resolution separation of, by reversed-phase, anion-exchange and two-dimensional HPLC, 2343-2357

- Organic compounds, elution behavior of, in GPC, using chloroform as eluent, 1809-1823
- Organophosphate insecticide. <u>See</u> Azinphos methyl and azinphos methyl oxon
- Orthophthal dialdehyde/ethanethiol derivatives, quantitation of plasma amino acids as, by RP-HPLC, 2369-2393
- Outer-sphere ligand exchange. See Ligand exchange, outer sphere
- Oxidation products, fatty, removal of Triton X-100 and reduction of Tween 20 concentration in extracts of, use of Sep-Paks for, 917-926
- Oxidative metabolites, of testosterone, separation of, by RP-HPLC, 563-570
- Oxyphenebutazone, simultaneous determination of with flunixin, phenylbutazone, and γ-hydroxyphenylbutazone in equine plasma, by HPLC, 1991-2003

Ρ

- PAP. <u>See</u> Prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP)
- Paper chromatographic separation, of phenols, zinc silicate as adsorbent for, 967-988
- Parabens, in pharmaceutical preparations containing hydroxyquinolines, determination of, by HPLC, 1357-1366
- PCBs. <u>See</u> Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)
- Peaks, computer program for identification of elution order of, in HPLC, 1771-1785
- Peak splitting, in HPLC, using 2propanol as a modifier, 1467-1480
- D-Penicillamine, monitoring of in clinical practice, by ion exchange TLC, 1531-1540
- Peptide mapping, of variant glyco-

proteins from <u>Trypansoma</u> <u>rhodesiense</u>, by RP-HPLC, 1933-1940

- Peptides
 - iodinated, purification of, by HPLC, 1499-1507
 - pre-column derivatization in HPLC of, 1493-1498
 - secretin-glucagon family, separation of, by RP-HPLC, in triethylammonium buffers, 2123-2134
 - separation of from amino acids, by PLC, using amberlite XAD-4, 443-461
 - separation of and pentaamine colbalt (III) amino acids, by RP-HPLC, 537-547
 - in tooth pulp extracts, HPLC and proteolytic enzyme characterization of, 2135-2154
- Pesticides, TLC of, 1013-1032
- Pharmaceutical preparations, containing hydroxyquinolines, determination of parabens in, by HPLC, 1357-1366
- Phencyclidine synthetic mixtures, comparison of radially compressed and stainless steel columns for separation of, by ion-pair RP-HPLC, 2395-2411
- Phenolic acid, of vegetable origin, determination of, by various methods of liquid chromatography, S75-S103
- Phenols behavior of on silica gel plates impregnated with aliphatic amines, in TLC, 1081-1095
 - zinc silicate used as adsorbent for paper chromatographic separation of, 967-988
- N-Phenylamides, of benzoylacetic acid, relationship between biological activity and capacity ratios of, in reversed-phase HPLC and HPTLC, 39-48
- Phenylbutazone, simultaneous determination of with flunixin, oxyphenebutazone, and

- Phosphate anions, linear, binding ability of to magnesium ions, evaluation of, by zonal gel chromatography, 1787-1799
- Phosphorus oxopolyanions, large size, elution behavior of, in DEC, 1855-1867
- Photoacoustic detector. <u>See</u> Detector, fluorescence, photoacoustic, and two-photon photoionization
- Physiological fluids, determination of captopril in, using HPLC, with electrochemical detection, 97-110
- Physostigmine, in plasma, determination of, by HPLC, 1691-1695
- Picloram, effect of silanol masking on recovery of from hydrocarbonaceous pre-analysis extraction column, 2293-2309
- Picrolam-methylester, effect of silanol masking on extraction of from hydrocarbonaceous pre-analysis extraction column, 2293-2309
- Plant materials determination of phenolic acids from, by various methods of liquid chromatography, S75-S103
 - See also Betalines; Carotenoids; Chlorophylls; Flavonoids
- Plant pigments. <u>See</u> Betalines; Carotenoids; Chlorophylls; Flavonoids

Plasma

analysis of diethyldithiocarbamate in, by RP-HPLC, 945-951

- assay of N-propylajmaline in by ion-pair liquid chromatography, 141-150
- determination of physostigmine in by HPLC, 1691-1695
- determination of tiaprofenic acid in, by HPLC, 165-174

- equine, simultaneous determination of flunixin, phenylbutazone, oxyphenebutazone and γ-hydroxyphenyl butazone in, by HPLC, 1991-2003
- human, determination of isoiazid and acetylisoiazid in, by HPLC, 707-714
- PLC. <u>See</u> Preparative liquid chromatography (PLC)
- Polarity, of binary solvents, efefect of on separations, in RP-TLC and RP-HPLC, 625-641
- Polyacrylamides, nonionic, characterization of, by aqueous SEC, using DRI/LALLSP detector system, 1277-1294
- Polyamines, separation and fluorometric detection of by, reversed-phase ion-pair liquid chromatography, 245-264
- Polyamine support, steric exclusion chromatography of cationic polymers on, 2259-2270
- Polybutadiene, high-vinyl, determination of monodisperse Mark-Houwink equation for, by GPC and light scattering, 1405-1422
- Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and chlorinated pesticides, separation and quantitation of, by HPLC, 1653-1663
- Polydispersity
- in application of Benoit's universal parameter, in GPC, 217-228
 - of oligomers and polymers, analysis of, by adsorption TLC, 1509-1529
 - of samples, influence of on SEC, with microparticulate porus silica spheres, 643-667
- Polyethylenes
 - determination of antioxidants, crosslinking agents, and decomposition products in, by RP-HPLC, 1847-1854
 - linear, calibration in high temperature GPC of, 807-817

- Polyethylene terephalate
 - analysis of, by GPC, using ochlorophenol--chloroform sol-vent system, 1825-1845
 - determination of molecular weight distribution of, by GPC, 1665-1678
- Polyhydric alcohols. <u>See</u> Alcohols, polyhydric
- Polymer mixtures, characterization of, by GPC, 2253-2257
- Polymers
- analysis of polydispersity of, by adsorption TLC, 1509-1529
- cationic, steric exclusion chromatrography of, on a polyamine support, 2259-2270
- Polymer solutions, flowing in capillaries, dispersion of, 1621-1623
- Polyolefin additives determination of by HPLC, following Soxhlet extraction, 1269-1276
 - ultraviolet absorbing, determination of by gradient and isocratic HPLC, 613-624
- Polyols, separation of by HPLC, 1941-1946
- Polyphosphate, inorganic longchain, fractionation and characterization of, by gel chromatography, 265-273
- Potassium (-)-N-(1-methoxycarbonylpropene-2yL)-p-hydroxyphenylglycine, assay of, by ionpair HPLC, 1349-1355
- Potato, tubers and products of, determination of α -chaconine and α -solanine in, by HPLC, 1313-1322
- Potato glycoalkaloid metabolites. <u>See</u> α -chaconine; α -solanine
- Prajmaline. See N-Propylajmaline
- Pre-column derivatization, in HPLC of amino acids and peptides, 1493-1498
- Preparative liquid chromatography (PLC)
 - amberlite XAD-4 as stationary phase for, in a radially compressed column, 781-795

- normal phase, use of weak acidbase interactions to improve separations in, 2271-2292
- use of amberlite XAD-4 for separation of amino acids and peptides by, 443-461
- 2-Propanol, use of as modified in peak splitting in HPLC, 1467-1480
- N-Propylajmaline, in plasma, assay of, by ion-pair liquid chromatography, 141-150
- Propylene oxide, cationic copolymerization of tetrahydrofuran with, characterization of macrocycles formed from, by GPC and GC/MS, 1423-1430
- Propylene phenoxetol, isomers of, separation and purification of by preparative HPLC, 2155-2167
- 2-Propylpentanoic acid. <u>See</u> Valproic acid
- Prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), from seminal plasma, purification of, by RP-HPLC, 1921-1931
- Proteins, effect of bonded phases on determination of, in RP-HPLC, 1.367-1374
- Proteolytic enzyme, and HPLC characterization, of peptides in tooth pulp extracts, 2135-2154
- Pteroylmonoglutamic acid. <u>See</u> Folic acid
- Pumps, dual piston reciprocating and triple piston, comparison of noise levels in, 869-879

Q

Quantitation, of adsorption of methyl red on stationary phases, 25-37

- Quantitative densitometric thin layer chromatography. <u>See</u> Thin layer chromatography (TLC), quantitative densitometric
 - R
- Radially compressed column, amberlite XAD-4 as stationary phase for PLC in, 781-795
- Radioactive precursors, quantification of steroids resulting from incubation of gonadal tissues with, using HPLC, 313-325
- Radio-iodinated cholecystokinin. See Cholecystokinin, radioiodinated
- Radiopharmaceutical synthesis, use of Sep-Pak preparative chromatography in, 2005-2016
- Rat brain, subregions of, determination of glutamic acid decarboxylase activity of, by HPLC, 479-487
- Refractive index (RI) detection analysis of glycerol and other glycols in soap, by HPLC, using, 927-928
 - metal cation/anion speciation by
 ion-pair RP-HPLC with, 463 478
 - metal cation speciation by RP-HPLC and, 693-706
- Reproducibility, intra- and interlaboratory, of HPLC retention indices, 829-839
- Retention data, compared to hydrophobicity of aliphatic and aromatic compounds, in RPLC, 229-244
- Retention indices, HPLC, intraand inter-laboratory reproducibility of, 829-839
- Reversed-phase high performance (pressure) liquid chromatography (RP-HPLC)
 - analysis of abscisic acid in Cercospora rosicola, liquid culture media by, 81-91

- analysis of carbon dioxide by, 2179-2191
- analysis of diethyldithiocarbamate in plasma by, 945-951
- analysis of isomeric thioether metabolites of styrene oxide by, 345-365
- determination of chloropham by, 327-335
- determination of folic acid in fortified foods by, 953-966
- effect of binary solvent composition and polarity on separations in, 625-641
- extraction, with RI and/or ICP detection methods, metal cation speciation by, 693-706
- high resolution separation of organic urinary acids by, 2343-2357
- ion-pair
 - comparison of radially compressed and stainless steel columns for separation of phencylidine synthetic mixtures by, 2395-2411
 - determination of plasma norepinephrine and epinephrine by with electrochemical detection, 1947-1965
 - metal cation/anion speciation
 by, with RI or ICP detec tion methods, 463-478
- ion-suppression, separation of deoxyribonucleotides by, 2085-2093
- isolation of human chorionic gonadotropin and its subunits by, 715-729
- isolation of nanogram amounts of crustacean erythrophore concentrating hormone from invertebrate nerve tissue by, 1.375-1.390
- peptide mapping of variant glycoproteins from <u>Trypansoma</u> rhodesiense by, <u>1933-1940</u>
- preparation and purification of tritiated dextromethorphan by, 2311-2320

- [Reversed-phase high performance (pressure) liquid chromatog- raphy (RP-HPLC)]
 - of proteins, effects of bonded phases on, 1367-1374
 - purification of prostatic acid phosphatase from seminal plasma by, 1921-1931
 - purification of radio-iodinated cholecystokinin by, 757-766
 - quantitation of plasma amino acids as orthophthaldialde- hyde/ethanethiol derivatives by, 2369-2393
 - quantitative analysis of nucleosides in RNA and DNA, 2041-2060
 - and rat heart bioassay, on line detection of plasma borne vasoconstrictor using, 1749-1762
 - relationship between biological activity and capacity ratios of N-phenylamides of benzoylacetic acid in, 39-48
 - retention of ionized solutes in, 1295-1312
 - separation of estrogen glucuronides by, 1763-1770
 - separation of gonadal steroids by, 125-139
 - separation of 2'- and 3'-nucleotide monophosphates by, 111-123
 - separation of pentaamine colbalt (III) amino acids and peptides by, 537-547
 - separation of semisynthetic daunomycinone derivatives by, 1967-1972
 - separation of testosterone from its oxidative metabolites by, 563-570
 - separation of tryptophan and its indolic metabolites by, using UV, electrochemical, and spectrofluorimetric detection, 2423-2434
 - simultaneous determination of antioxidant, crosslinking agent, and decomposition

products in polyethylene by, 1847-1854

- simultaneous determination of dopamine, norepinephrine, tyramine, and octopamine by, using electrochemical detection, 2435-2452
- simultaneous measurement of acetaminophen and salicylate by, 93-96
- theory, practice, and biomedical applications of (book review), 2017
- in triethylammonium buffers, separation of secretin-glu- cagon family peptides by, 2123-2134
- Reversed-phase liquid chromatography (RPLC)
 - quantitation of alykl sulfonates, using UV-sensitive ion-pair reagents in, 389-402
 - retention data compared to hydrophobicity in aliphatic and aromatic compounds in, 229-244
- Reversed-phase packing, use of lithium nitrate as testsubstance for determination of hold-up time on, 2321-2341
- Reversed-phase thin layer chromatography (RP-TLC)
 - effect of binary solvent composition and polarity on separations in, 625-641
 - use of aqueous micellar mobile phases in, 1043-1050
- RI. <u>See</u> Refractive index (RI) detection
- Ribonucleic acid (RNA) simultaneous measurement of 6
 - thioquanine and adenine in, by dual-column HPLC, 2095-2110
 - quantitative analysis of nucleosides in, by RP-HPLC, 2041-2060

- Ribonucleic acid fragment, prepared by enzymatic synthesis, isolation of by HPLC, 2061-2077
- Ribonucleic acid molecules, small, 5'-terminal of, determination of by HPLC, 2079-2084
- RNA. <u>See</u> Ribonucleic acid (RNA) RP-TLC. <u>See</u> Reversed phase thin layer chromatography (RP-TLC)

S

- Saccharides, mono-, di-, and tri-, separation and quantitation of, by HPLC, 1725-1748
- Salicylate, simultaneous measurement of with acetaminophen, by RP-HPLC, 93-96
- SEC. <u>See</u> Size exclusion chromatography (SEC)
- Secretin-glucagon family peptides. See Peptides, secretinglucagon family
- Selenium, analysis of biological tissues for, by TLC, 1191-1200
- Seminal plasma, purification of prostatic acid phosphatase in, by RP-HPLC, 1921-1931
- Separation, effect of flow rate on, in GPC, 1241-1267
- Separation system, relationship between efficiency of and asymmetry of elution curve, in SEC, 1605-1619
- Sep-Pak C₁₈ cartridges
 isolation of ecdysteroids from
 crustacean tissues and cul
 - ture media, using, 525-535 use of for preparation of bile acid methyl ester acetates, 175-186
- Sep-Pac preparative chromatography, use of in radiopharmaceutical synthesis, 2005-2016
- Sep-Paks, use of for removal of Triton X-100 and reduction

of Tween 20 concentration

in extracts of fatty oxidation products, 917-926

- Serratia marcescens, separation and detection of prodigiosin precursors from, by HPLC and syntrophic pigment synthesis, 1329-1340
- Serum, human, determination of valproic acid in, by HPLC, 1697-1709
- SEC. <u>See</u> Supercritical fluid chromatography (SEC)
- Silanol masking, effect of on recovery of picloram and other solutes from hydrocarbonaceous pre-analysis extraction column, 2293-2309
- Silica beads, long chain alkylsilane modified porus, used as packing, for GPC, 1223-1239
- Silica gel
 - comparison of amino acid separations on and other TLC systems, 1051-1068
 - methanol-acetone, association
 effects in TLC data for
 solutes chromatographed in,
 1033-1042
- Silica gel particles, spherical versus irregular shaped, in HPLC, 1431-1448

Silica gel plates impregnated with aliphatic amines, behavior of phenol on, in TLC, 1081-1095

- separation and identification of essential oil constitu-
- ents on, by TLC, 1097-1102 Silica spheres, microparticulate porus, influence of flow rate, solute mass transfer and polydispersity of samples on, in SEC, 643-667
- Silicone elastomer, experimental curves of GPC of, 2241-2251
- Silver loaded ion exchanger. See Ion exchanger, silver loaded

- Símultaneous assay
 - of acetaminophen and salicylate, by RP-HPLC, 93-96
 - of biogenic amines and metabolites in unpurified mouse brain, 151-164
- Size exclusion chromatography (SEC)
 - aqueous, characterization of nonionic polyacrylamides by, using DRI/LALLSP detector system, 1277-1294
 - characterization of dextrans by, using DRI/LALLSP detector system, 425-441
 - with microparticulate porus silica spheres, influence of flow rate, solute mass transfer and polydispersity of samples on, 643-667
 - relation between asymmetry of elution curve and efficiency of separation system in, 1605-1619
 - variations in calibration in, curve fitting program to adjust for, 841-851
- Size-exclusion high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). See High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) size-exclusion
- Soap, analysis of glycerol and other glycols in, by HPLC, using refractive index detection, 927-938
- α-Solanine, determination of in potato tubers and products, by HPLC, 1313-1322
- Solubility measurements, in liquified gas solutions, 2193-2203
- Solute mass transfer, influence of on SEC with microparticulate porus silica spheres, 643-667
- Solutes chromatographed in methanolacetone silica gel, association effects in TLC data for, 1033-1042

- ionized, retention of in RP--HPLC, 1295-1312
- See also Acetophenone; Benzene; Hexazinone; Picrolam; Picrolam-methylester
- Solvents, binary, composition and polarity of, effect of on separations in RP-TLC and RP-HPLC, 625-641
- Solvent system, o-chlorophenolchloroform, analysis of polyethylene terephalate, by GPC, using, 1825-1845
- Soxhlet extraction, determination of polyolefin additives, by HPLC, following, 1269-1276
- Spectrofluorimetric detection, separation of tryptophan and its indolic metabolites, by RP-HPLC, using, 2423-2434
- Spiral phase, bonded, preparation of for HPLC, for outersphere ligand exchange, 819-828
- Spiramycins, use of isohydric solvent system in HPLC on silica gel, for analysis of, 1449-1465
- Stationary phase amberlite XAD-4 used as for PLC, in a radially compressed column, 781-795
 - for macromolecular separations, electrical diffuse layer used as in open capillary chromatography, 15-23 quantitative determination of
- adsorption of methyl red on, 25-37 Steric exclusion chromatography
- aqueous, microparticulate packings for, 489-524
- of cationic polymers on a polyamine support, 2259-2270 Steroids
- analysis of, by HPLC, S121-S173 resulting from incubation of gonadal tissues with radioactive precursors, quantification of, by HPLC, 313-325

[Steroids] urinary, enzymatic detection of, in TLC, 1163-1170 Strychnine derivatives, effect of substituents on retention of, in HPLC, 1481-1492 Styrene oxide, analysis of isomeric thioether metabolites of, using RP-HPLC, 345-365 Substituents, effect of on retention of strychnine derivatives, in HPLC, 1481-1492 Succinate, use of as eluent in ion-exchange chromatographic separation of heavy metal ions, 63-72 Sugars differential binding of to ion exchange resins, by HPLC, 767-779 See also Neutral sugars Sulfated oligosaccharides, from

K-carrageenan, separation of and oligoalacturonic acid, by HPLC, 403-412

- Supercritical fluid chromatography (SFC), review of methods and principles of, S179-S221
- Syntrophic pigment synthesis, and HPLC, separation and detection of precursors of prodigiosin from <u>Serratia marcescens</u>, by, 1329-1340

Т

- 5'-Terminal, of small RNA molecules, determination of by HPLC, 2079-2084
- Testosterone, separation of from its oxidative metabolites, by RP-HPLC, 563-570
- Test substance, for determination of hold-up time on reversedphase packing, use of lithium nitrate as, 2321-2341
- Tetracycline, and related compounds, determination of, by isocratic HPLC, 1973-1990
- Tetrahydrofuran, cationic copolymerization of with propylene

oxide, characterization of macrocycles formed from,

- by GPC and GC/MS, 1423-1430
- Theobromine, in animal diets, analysis of, by HPLC, 585-589
- Thin-layer chromatography (TLC) adsorption, analysis of polydispersity of oligomers and polymers by, 1509-1529
 - analysis of biological tissues
 - for selenium by, 1191-1200
 - analysis of hippuric acid by, 1181-1190
 - behavior of phenols on silica gel plates impregnated with aliphatic amines in, 1081-1095
 - comparison of amino acid separations on systems of, 1051-1068
 - continuous flow, new detector system for, 1567-1572
 - enzymatic detection of urinary steroids in, 1163-1170
 - ion exchange, monitoring of Dpenicillamine in clinical practice by, 1531-1540
 - migration and partition of polar aromatic compounds in, 1103-1121
 - overpressured, applications of, 1541-1553
 - of pesticides, 1013-1032
 - quantitative densitometric, of lipids, copper reagent for, ll55-ll62
 - separation of antidiabetic 4
 arylhydrazono-l-quanylni trate-3-methyl-2-pyrazolin5-ones by, 1177-1179
 - separation of closely related benzothiazoles by, 1171-1175
 - separation and identification of essential oil constituents on silica gel plates by, 1097-1102
 - separation of inorganic isomers by, 1141-1153
 - separations in using alkyl silica gel bonded phases, 1069-1080

- [Thin-layer chromatography (TLC)]
 two phase, two-dimensional, use
 of for fingerprinting and
 confirmation procedures,
 1555-1566
- Thin-layer chromatography (TLC) data, association effects in for solutes chromatographed in methanol-acetone on silica gel, 1033-1042
- 6-Thioquanine, simultaneous measurement of with adenine in RNA or DNA, by dual-column HPLC, 2095-2110
- Tiaprofenic acid, in human plasma, determination of, by HPLC, 165-174
- Tooth pulp extracts, HPLC and proteolytic enzyme characterization of peptides in, 2135-2154
- Trace enrichment, determination of azinphos methyl and azinphos methyl oxon by, using HPLC, 49-62
- Transposition, on a column, development of chromatographic system in thin layer for, 1123-1140
- Triethylammonium buffers, separation of secretin-glucagon family peptides by RP-HPLC in, 2123-2134
- Triglycerides, enzymatic determination of, in conjunction with HPLC, 1679-1689
- Triton X-100, use of Sep-Paks for removal of from extracts of fatty oxidation products, 917-926
- Trypansoma rhodesiense, peptide mapping of variant glycoproteins from by RP-HPLC, 1933-1940
- Tryptophan, separation of by RP-HPLC using UV, electrochemical, and spectrofluorimetric detection, 2423-2434
- Turimycins, use of isohydric sol-vent system in HPLC on silica gel for analysis of, 1449-1465

- Tween 20, use of Sep-Paks for reduction of in extracts of fatty oxidation products, 917-926
- Two-phase, two-dimensional thin layer chromatography. <u>See</u> Thin-layer chromatography, two-phase, two-dimensional
- Two-photon photoionization detector. <u>See</u> Detector, fluorescence, photoacoustic, and two-photon photoionization
- Tyramine, determination of by RP-HPLC, using electrochemical detection, 2435-2452

U

- Ultraviolet (UV) absorbance detection. <u>See</u> Ion pair reagents, UV sensitive
- Ultraviolet (UV) absorbing polyolefin additives. <u>See</u> Polyolefin additives, ultraviolet absorbing
- Ultraviolet (UV) detection, separation of tryptophan and its indolic metabolites
- by RP-HPLC using, 2423-2434 Urinary organic acids. <u>See</u> Organic acids, urinary
- Urinary steroids. <u>See</u> 17β-Glucuronides; Steroids, urinary

V

- Valproic acid, in human serum, determination of, by HPLC, 1697-1709
- Vasoconstrictor, plasma borne, on line detection system for use in rat heart bioassay and RP-HPLC, 1749-1762
- Video densitometry, high-speed, principle and applications of, 1583-1595

Vitamin A palmitate, quantitation of in liquid multivitamin formulations, by HPLC, 571-584 separation of phenols, 967-988

formulations, by HPLC, 571- Zone broadening, effect of flow 584 rate on, in GPC, 1241-1267

Ζ

Zinc silicate, used as adsorbent for paper chromatographic

JOURNAL OF LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY, 5(12), 2493-2510 (1982)

COLLECTIVE CONTENTS TO VOLUME 5

Volume 5, Number 1, 1982

A Simple Liquid Chromatographic Method for Analysis of Insulin and Its Derivatives
Theory of Open Capillary Chromatography Using Electrical Diffuse Layer as the Virtual Stationary Phase for Charged Macromolecular Separations
Quantitative Determination of Methyl Red Adsorption on Stationary Phases Used in Liquid Chromatography
Relationships between Biological Activity of N-Phenylamides of Benzoyl- acetic Acid and Their Capacity Ratios in Reversed-Phase Systems
High-Performance Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Trace Quantities of Azinphos Methyl and Azinphos Methyl Oxon in Various Water Sources by Direct Injection and Trace Enrichment
The HPIEC Separation of Some Heavy Metal Ions in the Succinate Media63 L. Mancang, F. Biwei, and H. Zhide
Gel Chromatographic Behavior of Inorganic Linear and Cyclic Phosphates: Influences of Eluting Agents
Reversed-Phase Cleanup and High Performance Liquid Chromatographic Analysis of Abscisic Acid in Cercospora rosicola Liquid Culture Media
Analysis of Acetaminophen and Salicylate by Reverse Phase HPLC
The Determination of Captopril in Physiological Fluids Using High Performance Liquid Chromatography with Electrochemical Detection

Reverse Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography of the 2'- and 3'-Nucleotide Monophosphates
A Rapid High Performance Liquid Chromatography System for the Separation of Gonadal Steroids
Assay of N-Propylajmaline in Blood Plasma by Ion-Pair Liquid-Liquid Chromatography
A New Technique for Simultaneous Assay of Biogenic Amines and Their Metabolites in Unpurified Mouse Brain
A Rapid and Specific Method for the Determination of Tiaprofenic Acid in Human Plasma by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography 165 G. T. Ward, J. A. Stead, and M. Freeman
The Use of Sep-Pak TM C ₁₈ Cartridges in the Preparation of Bile Acid Methyl Ester Acetates
Book Review
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar
Volume 5, Number 2, 1982
Reliability of Chromatographic Results in Determination of Narrow Molecular Weight Distributions of Polymers
Gel Permeation Chromatography: Problems Caused by Polydispersity in the Application of the Benoit's Universal Parameter
Hydrophobicity and Retention in Reversed Phase Liquid Chromatography 229 M. D'Amboise and T. Hanai
Reversed-Phase Ion-Pairing Liquid Chromatographic Separation and Fluorimetric Detection of Polyamines
Fractionation and Characterization of Inorganic Long-Chain Poly- phosphate by Gel Chromatography

2494

Determination of Free Fatty Acids in Natural Oils and Alkyd Resins by High Performance Liquid Chromatography
The Preparative Scale Reverse Phase HPLC Separation of Epimeric Alkaloids Using Camphorsulfonic Acid as an Ion Pairing Reagent
A Rapid Method of Quantitating Steroids Resulting from the Incubation of Gonadal Tissues with Radioactive Precursors
Determination of Carbamic Herbicides by High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC). II. Chlorpropham
The Rapid Determination of Indomethacin in 50 µl Blood Samples
HPLC Analysis of the Isomeric Thioether Metabolites of Styrene Oxide 345 O. Hernandez, B. Yagen, R. H. Cox, J. R. Bend, and J. D. McKinney
Fractionation by High Performance Liquid Chromatography of Micro- somal Cytochrome P-450 Induced by Hexachlorobiphenyl Isomers
Audio-Visual Course Review
Book Review
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar
Volume 5, Number 3, 1982
Quantitation of Alkyl Sulfonates Using UV Detector Sensitive "Ion-Pair" Reagents in Reversed-Phase Liquid Chromatography
Sulfated Oligosaccharides from K-Carrageenan and OligogalacturonicAcids Separation by HPLCA. Heyraud and C. Rochas
Use of a Programmable Pocket Calculator for Data Reduction in GPC:

Calculation of Molecular Weights and Molecular Weight Distribution. 413 A. A. Navas

Characterization of Dextrans by Size Exclusion Chromatography UsingDRI/LALLSP Detector System425C. J. Kim, A. E. Hamielec, and A. Benedek
Preparative Liquid Chromatographic Separation of Amino Acids and Peptides on Amberlite XAD-4
Metal Cation/Anion Speciation via Paired-Ion, Reversed Phased HPLC with Refractive Index and/or Inductively Coupled Plasma Emission Spectroscopic Detection Methods
Determination of Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase Activity in Subregions of Rat Brain by High Pressure Liquid Chromatography
Evaluation of New Microparticulate Packings for Aqueous StericExclusion ChromatographyT. V. Alfredson, C. T. Wehr, L. Tallman, and F. Klink
Rapid Isolation of Ecdysteroids from Crustacean Tissues and Culture Media Using Sep-Pak C18 Cartridges
Peptide Formation in the Presence of Metal Ion Protecting Groups. III. The Separation of [(NH ₃) ₅ Co(III)-] Amino Acids and Peptides by Reverse Phase High Pressure Liquid Chromatography
A High Performance Liquid Chromatographic Method for the Quantita- tive Determination of Naproxen and Des-methyl-naproxen in Biological Samples
Rapid Separation of Testosterone and Its Microsomal Metabolites by Reverse-Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography
Rapid Separation of Testosterone and Its Microsomal Metabolites byReverse-Phase High Performance Liquid ChromatographyJ. F. Newton, W. E. Braselton, Jr., L. F. Lepper, K. M. McCormack, andJ. B. HookHigh Performance Liquid Chromatographic Methods for the Quantitationof Vitamin A Palmitate in Liquid Multivitamin Formulations.J. Van Antwerp and J. Lepore
 Rapid Separation of Testosterone and Its Microsomal Metabolites by Reverse-Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography

COLLECTIVE CONTENTS TO VOLUME 5 24	97
Liquid Chromatography Calendar	93
Volume 5, Number 4, 1982	
Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Azide as the 3,5-Dinitrobenzoyl Derivative S. J. Swarin and R. A. Waldo	97
Fuel Oil Classification by Gel Permeation Chromatography6K. Lenda	05
Determination of UV Absorbing Polyolefin Additives by Gradient and Isocratic Normal-Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography 6 J. F. Schabron, V. J. Smith, and J. L. Ware	13
The Effect of Binary Solvent Composition and Polarity on Separationsin Reversed Phase Thin Layer and High Performance LiquidChromatographyChromatographyH. J. Issaq, J. R. Klose, and W. Cutchin	25
High Performance Size Exclusion Chromatography with MicroparticulatePorous Silica Spheres. Influence of Flow Rate, Solute Mass Transfer andPolydispersity of SamplesO. Chiantore and M. Guaita	43
Determination of Carbonyl 2,4-Dinitrophenylhydrazones by Liquid Chromatography/Electrochemistry	69
Effects of Counter Ions in Ion-Pair Liquid Chromatography of Hydrophobic Amines on Non-Polar Bonded Phases	77
Metal Cation Speciation via Extraction Reversed Phase HPLC with Refractive Index and/or Inductively Coupled Plasma Emission Detection Methods (HPLC-RI-ICP)	93
High Pressure Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Isoniazid andAcetylisoniazid in Human PlasmaM. R. Holdiness	07
A Rapid Isolation of Human Chorionic Gonadotropin and Its Subunits by Reversed-Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography	15

Semi-Preparative High-Performance Liquid Chromatographic Separation of Potato Glycoalkaloids
Enzymatic Detection of Urinary Steroid-17β-Glucuronides after Gel Filtration
An Improved Method for the Purification of Hepatic Proliferation Inhibitor by Anion-Exchange HPLC J. B. McMahon and P. T. Iype
Purification of Radio-Iodinated Cholecystokinin Peptides by Reverse Phase HPLC
Differential Binding of Sugars and Polyhydric Alcohols to Ion Exchange Resins: Inappropriateness for Quantitative HPLC
Amberlite XAD-4 as a Stationary Phase for Preparative LiquidChromatography in a Radially Compressed ColumnD. J. Pietrzyk and W. J. Cahill, Jr.
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar
Volume 5, Number 5, 1982
Calibration in High Temperature Gel Permeation Chromatography ofLinear PolyethylenesA. C. de Kok and A. C. Oomens
Outer-Sphere Ligand Exchange Chromatography on Bonded Chiral Silica Gel
Laboratory to Laboratory Reproducibility of High Performance Liquid Chromatographic Retention Indices

A Curve Fitting Program to Adjust for Variations in Calibration in	
Size Exclusion Chromatography	841
W. G. Rand and A. K. Mukherji	

Adverse Effects of Lag Filters Used for Detector Baseline Noise Sup-pression in High Performance Liquid ChromatographyP. R. Haddad, R. W. Keating, and G. K. C. Low
Computation of HPLC Parameters and Comparison of Noise Levels of a Dual Piston Reciprocating and a Triple Piston Pump
Nitroaromatic Reagents for Determination of Amines and Amino Acids by Liquid Chromatography/Electrochemistry
Anthracene Isocyanate as a New Fluorescent Label for Compounds with an Alcoholic Group 897 R. Wintersteiger
Removal of Triton X-100 and Reduction of Tween 20 Concentration in Extracts of Fatty Oxidation Products
An HPLC Method for the Analysis of Glycerol and Other Glycols inSoapSoapE. D. George and J. A. Acquaro
The Identification of 7-Methylxanthine in Cacao Products
Analysis of Plasma Diethyldithiocarbamate – A Metabolite of Disulfiram 945 H. G. Giles, J. Au, and E. M. Sellers
The Determination of Folic Acid (Pteroylmonoglutamic Acid) inFortified Products by Reversed Phase High Pressure Liquid Chro-matographymatography
Zinc Silicate as a New Adsorbent for Paper Chromatographic Separation of Phenols
Non-Coded Biosynthesis of N-acetylaspartyl Peptides in Mouse Brain Homogenates
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar 1007

Volume 5, Number 6, 1982

Special Issue on Thin-Layer Chromatography

Thin Layer Chromatography of Pesticides – A Review of Recent Techniques and Applications 1013 J. Sherma
Determination of Association Effects in TLC Data for Different Solutes Chromatographed in Methanol-Acetone on Silica Gel
Use of Aqueous Micellar Mobile Phases in Reverse Phase TLC
A Comparison of Amino Acid Separations on Silica Gel, Cellulose, and Ion Exchange Thin Layers
Separations in Thin Layer and High Performance Liquid Chromatography Using Alkyl Silica Gel Bonded Phases
Chromatographic Behaviour of Phenols on Aliphatic Amines Impregnated Thin Layers
TLC Separation and Identification of Essential Oil Constituents on Silica Gel Plates 1097 R. Bhushan
Chromatographic Separation on Silica of Polar Aromatic Compounds. I. Study of Some Factors Influenced by Different Conditions of Preloading Silica 1103 C. Guinchard, M. Baud, J. J. Panouse, M. Porthault
Chromatographic Separation on Silica of Polar Aromatic Compounds. II. Research of the Best Chromatographic System by Different Preloading in Thin Layer for a Transposition on Column
Chromatographic Separation of Some Inorganic Isomers
An Improved Copper Reagent for Quantitative Densitometric Thin-Layer Chromatography of Lipids

2500

Enzymatic Detection of Urinary Steroids on Thin-Layer Chromatograms 1163 Y. Yamaguchi
Rapid TLC Separation of Some Closely Related Benzothiazoles 1171 R. Jain and D. D. Agarwal 1
Identification of Some Closely Related Potential Antidiabetic 4-Arylhydrazono- 1-guanylnitrate-3-methyl-2-pyrazoline-5-ones
Liquid Chromatography Analysis of Hippuric Acid
Analysis of Biological Tissues for Selenium by Thin Layer Chromatography 1191 H. M. Stahr, J. Kinker, D. Nicholson, and W. Hyde
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar

Volume 5, Number 7, 1982

Simultaneous Calibration of Molecular Weight Separation and Column Dispersion of GPC by Coupling with Lallis
Long-Chain Alkylsilane-Modified Porous Silica Beads as GPC Packings
Flow Rate Dependence of Separation and Broadening Effects in GPC
A Study of Mechanical Degradation of Polymer in High Performance GPC
Determination of Polyolefin Additives by Normal-Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography following Soxhlet Extraction
Characterization of Nonionic Polyacrylamides by Aqueous Size Exclusion Chromatography Using a DRI/LALLSP Detector System
Retention of Ionized Solutes in Reversed-Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography

High-Performance Liquid Chromatographic Determination of the Metabolites of the Potato Glycoalkaloids, α-Chaconine and α-Solanine, in Potato Tubers and Potato Products
High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) of the New Antineo- plastic 9,10-Anthracenedicarboxaldehyde Bis[(4,5-Dihydro-1 H-Imidazole-2-yl)hydrazone]dihydrochloride (CL 216,942; Bisantrene) 1323 K. Lu, N. Savaraj, M. T. Huang, D. Moore, and T. L. Loo
Separation and Detection of Monopyrrole and Bipyrrole Precursors of Prodigiosin from <i>Serratia marcescens</i> by a Combined Method of High Performance Liquid Chromatography and Syntrophic Pigment Synthesis 1329 J. S. Feng, H. L. Qian, and J. C. Tsang
Determination of Methacholine Chloride by Ion-Pair High-PressureLiquid Chromatography1341T. F. Woodman, B. Johnson, and R. K. Marwaha
High-Pressure Liquid Chromatography Assay for Dane Salt Potassium (-)-N-(1-Methoxycarbonylpropene-2yl)-p-hydroxyphenylglycine
High Pressure Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Parabens in Pharmaceutical Preparations Containing Hydroxyquinolines
Reverse-Phase HPLC of Proteins: Effects of Various Bonded Phases 1367 R. V. Lewis and D. DeWald
Rapid Isolation of Nanogram Amounts of Crustacean Erythrophore Concentrating Hormone from Invertebrate Nerve Tissue by RP-HPLC 1375 H. Jaffe, M. Loeb, D. K. Hayes, and N. Holston
Letter – On the Problem of Measuring t _o
Letter – The Principle of Measuring t _o Remains Unchanged
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar

2502
Volume 5, Number 8, 1982

Determination of the Monodisperse Mark-Houwink Equation of High- Vinyl Polybutadiene by Gel Chromatography and Light Scattering 1405 SQ. Bo and RS. Cheng
Characterization of Macrocycles Formed from Cationic Copolymeriza- tion of Tetrahydrofuran with Propylene Oxide by GPC and GC/MS 1423 <i>M. Hu, JJ. Zhang, YZ. Xu, and YS. Yang</i>
Spherical Versus Irregular-Shaped Silica Gel Particles in HPLC
Applications of a Modified "Isohydric Solvent System" in HPLC onSilica Gel for the Analysis of the Macrolide Antibiotics Turimycinsand Spiramycins1449G. A. Bens, E. Crombez, and P. De Moerloose
A Kinetic and Quantitative Approach to Peak Splitting Phenomena When Using 2-Propanol as Modifier in Adsorption HPLC
Effect of Substituents on the Retention in HPLC Chromatography of Strychnine Derivatives 1481 G. M. Iskander, J. Strombom, and A. M. Satti
First Symposium on Advances of TLC and HPLC
Pre-Column Derivatization in HPLC of Amino Acids and Peptides 1493 G. Szókán
Iodination of Peptide Hormones and Purification of Iodinated Peptidesby HPLC1499T. Janáky, G. Tóth, B. Penke, K. Kovács, and F. A. László
Analysis of Polydispersity of Oligomers and Polymers by Adsorption Thin-Layer Chromatography
Monitoring of D-Penicillamine in Clinical Practice by Ionexchange TLC
Overpressured Thin-Layer Chromatography and Its Applications 1541 Z. Lengyel, E. Tyihák, and E. Mincsovics
Two Phase, Two-Dimensional TLC for Fingerprinting and Confirmation Procedures 1555 T. E. Beesley and E. Heilweil

A New Detector System for Continuous-Flow TLC
High Performance Thin-Film Chromatography in Biological Studies 1573 L. V. Andreev
High-Speed Video Densitometry: Principle and Applications
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar
Volume 5, Number 9, 1982
Relation between the Asymmetry of the Elution Curve and the Efficiency of the Separation System in Size Exclusion Chromatography
Concentration Dependence of Dispersion of Polymer Solutions Flowing in Capillaries
Crude Oil Hydrocarbon Group Separation Quantitation
Analysis of a Mixture of Polychlorinated Biphenyls, DDT and Its Analogues by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography 1653 S. Chiosi, A. Evidente, G. Randazzo, and D. Scalorbi
Determination of the Molecular Weight Distribution of Polyethylene Terephthalate by Gel Permeation Chromatography
Enzymatic Determination of Triglycerides in Conjunction with High Performance Liquid Chromatography
Rapid High-Performance Liquid Chromatographic Determination ofPhysostigmine in PlasmaJ. YK. Hsieh, RK. Yang, and K. L. Davis
Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Valproic Acid in Human Serum
The Rapid Determination of Neutral Sugars in Biological Samples byHigh-Performance Liquid Chromatography.1711W. F. Alpenfels, R. A. Mathews, D. E. Madden, and A. E. Newsom

Rapid HPLC Methods for the Separation and Quantitation of a Mono-, Di-, and Tri-Saccharides Mixture and Applications	•
On Line Detection of Plasma Borne Vasoconstrictor by the Use of High Pressure Liquid Chromatography	I
Studies on Steroids. CLXXVIII. Separation of Estrogen Glucuronides by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography 1763 K. Shimada, M. Kaji, F. Xie, and T. Nambara	,
A Computer Program for the Identification of the Elution Order of Peaks in High Performance Liquid Chromatography	
Gel Chromatographic Evaluation of the Binding Ability of Linear Phosphate Anions to Magnesium Ions	
Liquid Chromatography News	
Liquid Chromatography Calendar	i
Volume 5, Number 10, 1982	
Elution Behavior of Low Molecular Weight Compounds in Gel Permeation Chromatography	
T. Ogawa and M. Sakai	
 T. Ogawa and M. Sakai Gel Permeation Chromatography of Polyethylene Terephalate	
T. Ogawa and M. Sakai Gel Permeation Chromatography of Polyethylene Terephalate	
 T. Ogawa and M. Sakai Gel Permeation Chromatography of Polyethylene Terephalate	
 T. Ogawa and M. Sakai Gel Permeation Chromatography of Polyethylene Terephalate	

Volume 5, Number 11, 1982

Symposium-in-Print Recombinant DNA/Oligonucleotide Separations by HPLC

High-Performance Liquid Chromatography of 2'-5'Oligoadenylates and Related Oligonucleotides 2027 P. J. Cayley, R. E. Brown, and I. M. Kerr
High Performance Liquid Chromatography of Nucleosides in RNA andDNA
Enzymatic Synthesis of an RNA Fragment Corresponding to the Anti- codon Loop and Stem of tRNA ^{Phe} from Yeast 2061 L. W. McLaughlin and E. Graeser
High Pressure Liquid Chromatography Determination of the 5'-Terminal Residue of Small RNA Molecules 2079 A. Vandenberghe and R. De Wachter
Separation of Deoxyribonucleotides Using Ion Suppression High Per- formance Liquid Chromatography with a Reversed-Phase Column 2085 R. P. Whitehouse and C. L. Greenstock
A Dual-Column HPLC Method for the Simultaneous Measurement of 6-Thioguanine and Adenine in RNA or DNA
REGULAR CONTRIBUTED PAPERS
A Simultaneous, Laser-Excited Fluorescence, Photoacoustic, and Two- Photon Photoionization Detector for Liquid Chromatography 2113 E. Voigtman and J. D. Winefordner
Separation of the Secretin-Glucagon Family Peptides by RP-HPLC in Triethylammonium Phosphate Buffers
High Performance Liquid Chromatography and Proteolytic Enzyme Characterization of Peptides in Tooth Pulp Extracts
Separation and Purification of the Isomers of Propylene Phenoxetol by Preparative High Performance Liquid Chromatography

Domain Exclusion Chromatography Application to Complex Formation Studies 2167 Y. Tokunaga and H. Waki
Reversed-Phase High Performance Liquid Chromatography of Carbon Dioxide
Quantitation of Carbon Dioxide by High Performance Liquid Chroma- tography: The Key to Solubility Measurements in Liquefied Gas Solutions
A New High Performance Liquid Chromatographic Assay for Fluspiri- lene in Dosage Forms
Selection of Adsorbents for the Separation of Chlorophylls
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar
Volume 5, Number 12, 1982
Permeation Chromatography
Molecular Weight Distributions and Monodisperse Intrinsic Viscosity- Molecular Weight Equation of Silicone Elastomer
Characterization of Copolymers and Polymer Mixtures by Gel Permeation Chromatography
HPSEC of Cationic Polymers on a Polyamine Support
Utilization of Wools A aid Dags Interactions to Immuny Conceptions in
Normal Phase Liquid Preparative Chromatography

Preparation and Purification of Tritiated Dextromethorphan
Evaluation of the Use of Lithium Nitrate as a Test Substance for the Determination of the Hold-Up Time of a Reversed-Phase Packing
High Resolution Separation of Urinary Organic Acids by High Performance Liquid ChromatographyOrganic Acids by High Performance Liquid ChromatographyE. L. Mattiuz, J. W. Webb, and S. C. Gates
Separation of Bacterial Menaquinones by HPLC Using Reverse Phase (RP18) and a Silver Loaded Ion Exchanger as Stationary Phases
Quantitative HPLC Analysis of Plasma Amino Acids as Ortho- phthaldialdehyde/Ethanethiol Derivatives2369D. Hill, L. Burnworth, W. Skea, and R. Pfeifer
A Comparison of Radially-Compressed and Stainless Steel Columns for the Reversed-Phase Ion-Pair Separation of Phencyclidine Synthetic Mixtures
Analysis of Cimetidine in Biological Fluids by High Performance LiquidChromatography2413J. A. Apffel, U. A. Th. Brinkman, and R. W. Frei
Liquid Chromatographic Analysis of Tryptophan and Serotonin Metabolites. Comparison of UV, Electrochemical and Spectrofluori- metric Detection
Simultaneous Determination of Dopamine, Norepinephrine, Tyramine and Octopamine by Reverse-Phase High Performance Liquid Chroma- tography with Electrochemical Detection
Liquid Chromatography News
Liquid Chromatography Calendar
Author Index to Volume 5
Subject Index to Volume 5

Volume 5, Supplement 1, 1982

Analysis of Catecholamines by HPLC 1 S. Allenmark
High Performance Liquid Chromatography of Plant Pigments – A Review 43 S. J. Schwartz and J. H. von Elbe
Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Phenolic Acids of Vegetable Origin 75 D. A. Roston and P. T. Kissinger
Donnan Exclusion — Ion Exclusion Chromatography
Steroid Analysis by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography
Liquid Chromatography Calendar
Volume 5, Supplement 2, 1982
Supercritical Fluid Chromatography: Methods and Principles
Use of Crown Ethers in Liquid Chromatography
Recent Developments in LC/MS Interconnection
Determination of Anticonvulsants by High Performance LiquidChromatography273J. C. Kraak and J. P. Crombeen
High-Performance Liquid Chromatography of Bile Pigments
Oligomer Analysis by HPLC and GPC
Liquid Chromatography News

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PREPARATION OF MANUSCRIPTS FOR DIRECT REPRODUCTION

Journal of Liquid Chromatography is a bimonthly publication in the English language for the rapid communication of liquid chromatographic research.

Directions for Submission

One typewritten manuscript suitable for direct reproduction, carefully inserted in a folder, and two (2) copies of the manuscript must be submitted. Since all contributions are reproduced by direct photography of the manuscripts, the typing and format instructions must be strictly adhered to. Noncompliance will result in return of the manuscript to the authors and delay its publication. To avoid creasing, manuscripts should be placed between heavy cardboards and securely bound before mailing.

Manuscripts should be mailed to the Editor:

Dr. Jack Cazes Journal of Liquid Chromatography P. O. Box 1440-SMS Fairfield, Connecticut 06430

Reprints

Owing to the short production time for articles in this journal, it is essential to indicate the number of reprints required upon notification of acceptance of the manuscript. Reprints are available in quantities of 100 and multiples thereof. For orders of 100 or more reprints, twenty (20) free copies are provided. A reprint order form and price list will be sent to the author with the notification of acceptance of the manuscript.

Format of Manuscript

1. The general format of the manuscript should be as follows: title of article; names and addresses of authors; abstract; and text discussion.

2. Title and Authors: The entire title should be in capital letters and centered on the width of the typing area at least 2 inches (5.1 cm) from the top of the page. This should be followed by three lines of space and then by the names and addresses of the authors in the following way (also centered):

A SEMI-AUTOMATIC TECHNIQUE FOR THE SEPARATION AND DETERMINATION OF BARIUM AND STRONTIUM IN SURFACE WATERS BY ION EXCHANGE CHROMATOGRAPHY AND ATOMIC EMISSION SPECTROMETRY

F. D. Pierce and H. R. Brown Utah Biomedical Test Laboratory 520 Wakra Way Salt Lake City, Utah 84108

3. Abstract: Three lines below the addresses, the title ABSTRACT should be typed (capitalized and centered on the page). This should be followed by a single-spaced, concise, abstract comprising less than 10% of the length of the text of the article. Allow three lines of space below the abstract before beginning the article itself.

4. Text Discussion: Whenever possible, the text discussion should be divided into such major sections as INTRODUCTION, MATERIALS, METHODS, RESULTS, DISCUSSION, ACKNOWLEDGMENTS, and REFERENCES. These major headings should be separated from the text by two lines of space above and one line of space below. Each heading should be in capital letters, centered, and underlined. Secondary headings, if any, should be flush with the left margin, underscored, and have the first letter of all main words capitalized. Leave two lines of space above and one line of space below secondary headings.

5. Paragraphs should be indented five (5) typewriter spaces.

6. Acknowledgment of collaboration, sources of research funds, and address changes for an author should be listed in a separate section at the end of the paper.

7. References (including footnotes) in the text will be numbered consecutively by numbers in parentheses. All references (and footnotes) should then be aggregated in sequence at the end of the communication. No footnotes should be shown at the bottom of pages. The reference list follows immediately after the text. The word REFERENCES should be capitalized and centered above the reference list. It should be noted that all reference lists should contain inicials and names of all authors; *et al.* will not be used in reference lists. Abbreviations of journal titles and styles of reference lists will follow the American Chemical Society's Chemical Abstracts List of Periodicals. References should be typed single-spaced with one line space between each reference.

8. Each page of manuscript should be numbered lightly at the bottom of the sheet with a light blue pencil.

9. Only standard symbols and nomenclature approved by the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry should be used.

10. Any material that cannot be typed, such as Greek letters, script letters, and structural formulae, should be drawn carefully in black India ink (do not use blue ink).

Typing Instructions

1. The manuscript must be typewritten on good quality white bond paper measuring approximately 8%x 11 inches (21.6 cm x 27.9 cm). Do not use Corrasible bond or its equivalent. The typing area of the article opening page, including the title, should be 5%inches wide by 7 inches deep (14 cm x 18 cm). The typing area of all other pages should be no more than 5% inches wide by 8% inches deep (14 cm x 21.6 cm).

2. In general, the chapter title and the abstract, as well as the tables and references, are typed single-spaced. All other text discussion should be typed 1½-line spaced, if available, or double-spaced. Prestige elite characters (12 per inch) are recommended, if available.

 It is essential to use black typewriter ribbon (carbon film is preferred) in good condition so that a clean, clear impression of the letters is obtained. Erasure marks, smudges, creases, etc., may result in return of the manuscript to the authors for retyping.

4. Tables should be typed as part of the text but in such a way as to separate them from the text by a three-line space at both top and bottom of each table. Tables should be inserted in the text as close to the point of reference as possible, but authors must make sure that one table does not run over to the next page, that is, no table may exceed one page. The word TA-BLE (capitalized and followed by an Arabic number) should precede the table and be centered on the page. The table title should have the first letters of all main words in capitals. Tritles should be typed single-spaced. Use the full width of the type page for the table title.

5. Drawings, graphs, and other numbered figures should be professionally drawn in black India ink (do not use blue ink) on separate sheets of white paper and placed at the end of text. Figures should not be placed within the body of the text. They should be sized to fit within the width and/or height of the type page, including any legend, label, or number associated with them. Photographs should be glossy prints. A type-writer or lettering set should be used for all labels on the figures or photographs; they may not be hand drawn. Captions for the pictures should be typed single-spaced on a separate sheet, along the full width of the

type page, and preceded by the word FIGURE and a number in arabic numerals. All figures and lettering must be of a size to remain legible after a 20% reduction from original size. Figure numbers, name of senior author, and arrow indicating "top" should be written in light blue pencil on the back or typed on a gummed label, which should be attached to the back of the illustration. Indicate approximate placement of the illustrations in the text by a marginal note in light blue pencil.

6. The reference list should be typed single-spaced although separated from one another by an extra line of space. Use Chemical Abstract abbreviations for journal titles. References to journal articles should include (1) the last name of all author(s) to any one paper, followed by their initials, (2) article title, (3) journal, (4) volume number (underlined), (5) first page, and (6) year, in that order. Books should be cited similarly and include (1) author, surname, first and middle initials, (2) title of book, (3) editor of book (if applicable), (4) edition of book (if any), (5) publisher, (6) city of publication, (7) year of publication, and (8) page reference (if applicable). E.g., Journals: Craig, L. C. and Konigsber, W., Use of Catechol Oxygenase and Determination of Catechol, Chromatogr., 10, 421, 1963. Books: Albertsson, P. A., Partition of Cell Particles and Macromolecules, Wiley, New York, 1960. Article in a Book: Walter, H., Proceedings of the Protides of Biological Fluids, XVth Colloquim, Pteeters., H., eds., Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1968, p. 367.

Custom pooring (ab.0) commons parameters averal 30% (motal eq (2mm) and almost allo control and parameters perified Welt support to column others word.

With each column, you will receive the original test chromatogram plus a vial of the test mixture. Our advanced technology and computer testing is your assurance of a quality product.

When custom packing and testing is your special concern, we make the difference.



For further information contact: ALLTECH ASSOCIATES, INC.

2051 Waukegan Road Deerfield, Illinois 60015 312/948-8600 Specifications

The way you want it!



Circle Reader Service Card No. 102

How To Uncover The Hidden Costs Of Chromatography.

Do you realize how much lower-purity HPLC solvents might be costing you? Consider the frequent consequences.

- The cost to repeat separation procedures because of solvent artifacts this wastes analytical labor and valuable instrument time.
- The cost to regenerate a water deactivated column — this causes instrument "downtime" which requires additional chromatographs to perform the same amount of work.
- The cost to wash off a residue-laden column — the residue decreases column efficiency.
- The cost of replacing columns, filters and check valves clogged with particles — this can increase costs from \$200-800.
- The cost of isolating residue from preparative peaks — this may cause additional intermediary separations to remove unwanted contaminants.
- The cost of maintaining an additional inventory of several "grades" of purity (HPLC, GC, Spectro, etc.) the quality of high purity solvents deteriorates while on a shelf.
- The cost to frequently evaluate the less uniform solvents — this diverts attention away from productive analytical time.

Avoid these "hidden costs" and timeconsuming effects from using lower purity solvents. Switch to B&J Brand High Purity Solvents. Because, when it comes to *cost and performance*, there's no comparison. B&J Brand is your best value. Sure, less pure solvents might be cheaper. But why jeopardize your chromatography results when you use them? In the long run, lower purity solvents can cost you more because of their inconsistent quality.

Compare for yourself. If you're currently using lower purity HPLC solvents, try the highest purity solvents — B&J Brand. You'll notice the difference right away.

Then do this. Figure out your costbenefit equation for HPLC chromatography. The answer will be pure and simple. For lower costs and better results, it's B&J Brand High Purity HPLC Solvents.

Write or call today for a free technical bulletin about B&J Brand High Purity HPLC Solvents. We'll also send you our distributor listing so you can conveniently order B&J Brand Solvents from a distributor near you.

Avoid the hidden costs. Switch to B&J Brand High Purity Solvents.



A Schefurg of Police in the internet of the set of the

Circle Reader Service Card No. 101